
 
UPDATED: 11:40 a.m. 6/3/21 

 

FACILITIES SUBCOMMITTEE MEETING 

Gilroy Unified School District – via Zoom teleconference 

      9 a.m. Friday, June 4, 2021 

 

1.  

ITEM 
PAGE 

A. Approval of minutes: May 7, 2021 1 

 

2. FACILITIES & NEW CONSTRUCTION (PAUL NADEAU) 

 

ITEM SITE VENDOR COST 
FUNDING 
SOURCE 

PAGE 

A. TMP proposal for 

easement 

Gilroy HS N/A N/A N/A 6 

B. Outdoor deck furniture  Gilroy HS Belson $12,892.66 Measure E 8 

C. Bid award for new plaza Gilroy HS Kent 
Construction 

$787,571 Measure E 10 

D. GMP/LLB South Valley MS Flint Builders $76,452,62
6 

Measure E 29 

E. Additional moving needs South Valley MS S&M Movers 
Inc. 

$10,780 Measure E 147 

F. Purchase of moving 

supplies 

South Valley MS S&M Movers 
Inc. 

$1,216.44 Measure E 149 

G. Head Start buildings on 

Murray 

South Valley MS N/A N/A N/A 150 

H. AQM oversight during 

demolition 

South Valley MS EnviroScience 
Inc. 

$38,982 Measure E 151 

I. Soils testing during 

demolition 

South Valley MS Earth Systems 
Inc.  

$5,500 Measure E 152 

J. Purchase of roofing 

materials  

Glen View ES WTI $33,459 Deferred 
Maintenance 

160 

K. Installation of roofing Glen View ES BuBois Roofing 
Inc. 

$99,520 Deferred 
Maintenance 

161 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
UPDATED: 11:40 a.m. 6/3/21 

 

3. MAINTENANCE (DAN MCAULIFFE) 

 

ITEM SITE VENDOR COST 
FUNDING 
SOURCE 

PAGE 

A. Going green 

DISCUSSION/ 

INFORMATION ITEM 

District-wide N/A N/A N/A N/A 

B. Key machine Maintenance/ 
locksmith Shop 

IDN-Wilco $4,492.44 RRM 162 

C. Lunch canopy 

replacement  

Rucker ES Park Planet $11,972.36 RRM 194 

D. Intrusion alarm DO Annex Superior Alarm $3,745 
+$50 per 
month 
monitoring 
fee 

RRM 200 

E. Window repairs Eliot ES Morgan Hill 
Glass 

$95,344.57 RRM 201 

F. Exterior stucco cracks 

INFORMATION 

Eliot ES TBD TBD TBD 206 

G.   Server room cooling 

issues 

      INFORMATION 

DO Server Room N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

4. ALVARO MEZA’S ITEMS 

 

ITEM SITE 

A. Follow up on Rucker's Fence  Rucker ES 

 

4. MARIBEL GUIZAR’S  ITEMS 

 

ITEM SITE 

A. Verkada Camera’s vulnerabilities (risk factor) All 

 

 

OTHER PROJECTS/FACILITY ISSUES AT SITES  

 

SITES 

ANTONIO DEL BUONO ES BROWNELL MS CHRISTOPHER HS 

ELIOT ES SOLORSANO MS GECA 



 
UPDATED: 11:40 a.m. 6/3/21 

 

EL ROBLE ES SOUTH VALLEY MS GILROY HS 

GLEN VIEW ES  MT. MADONNA HS 

LAS ANIMAS ES   

LUIGI APREA ES DISTRICT OFFICE  

ROD KELLEY ES   

RUCKER ES   

 

 

NEXT MEETING: TBD 



FACILITIES SUBCOMMITTEE 
May 7, 2021 

 

PRESENT 

Debbie Flores 

Mark Good 

Paul Nadeau 

Dan McAuliffe 

Alvaro Meza 

Anna O’Connor 

James Pace 

Linda Piceno 

Kimberly Smith 

 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER: 9:06 A.M. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM APRIL 2, 2021:  

• James made the motion to approve. Mark seconded. 

• All approved. 

 

TIME CERTAIN: CITY OF GILROY 

 

• Presenting today from the City of Gilroy: Gary Heap, Julie Oates, Faranak Mahdavi 

• Proposal is for improvements at West 10th Street and Orchard: crosswalk, striping, signage, 

traffic adjustments. 

• Other side: Green pavement surface markers to alert drivers of presence of bike lane. Parking is 

maintained along the street but buffer is added.  

• Bids were advertised in March and three bids were received. Lowest bid was about $137K. The 

three bids were much higher than the engineer’s estimate of $73.8K, which had been based on 

similar recent projects.  

• Total project cost: $162,895.25. It is made up of base bid ($137.177.50), 10% contingency 

($13,717.75) and design ($12,000).    

• Tentative schedule includes first day of construction of July 5 and target completion date is Aug. 

13 (five days before first day of school).  

• District contribution was originally 50%. The updated project costs would mean that 50% would 

be or $81,447.63. The city proposes a funding agreement with the district to contribute share of 

costs after the completion of the project. 

• Dr. Flores: This is a needed project because this is a dangerous crossing.  

• The city identified paving issues that needed to be addressed in the area, too. Those are being 

fixed.  

• Linda: How will the city proceed if the district can’t contribute 50%? The city will move forward 

with the project, even if the district can’t contribute 50%, and would like to proceed as soon as 

possible.  

• Gary will email today’s presentation to Alvaro in case the district has additional questions.  

• Linda: 30% of the new project cost is $48,900.  

Page 1

namartinez
Typewritten Text
1a

namartinez
Typewritten Text



• Alvaro: It makes sense for district to fund 50% of this project as part of a greater partnership for 

future projects, like South Valley MS.  

• Next steps: Board members say to move forward with proposal with 50% sharing cost. This will 

go to the board for approval.  

 

FACILITIES (PAUL NADEAU) 

 
GILROY HS: MOU WITH THE THIRD MILLENNIUM PARTNERS 

• Information only. 

• TMS are a group of developers who have bought a small piece of land next to southeast corner 

of Gilroy HS, by tennis courts.  

• The developer wants to develop multi-unit dwelling on that property would like to come up with 

options for that area that is adjacent to the GUSD property line. GUSD property line extends 23 

feet east of fence line. 

• Paul has asked for three proposals for this area for GUSD to review.  

• James: I’d be interested in an option that would give us an outlet to the street from that area of 

campus. Or a path to the levee. Group would like to run this by the Gilroy HS administration. 

• Next steps: Paul will present the proposals once they’re ready.  

 

BROWNELL MS: ADDITIONAL CASEWORK ORDER FOR MEDIA CENTER 

• $4,212 from Measure E 

• KI Furniture, Inc. 

• The proposal is to buy eight additional bookshelves for the library. 

• The goal is to have them installed before tours that happen later this month but it depends on 

transportation company, etc.  

• If the bookshelves don’t arrive, Dr. Flores would like the extra books moved to the textbook 

room.   

• Next steps: This is board approved.  

 

SOUTH VALLEY MS: ADULT ED MOVE TO MT. MADONNA HS 

• $4,515 from Measure E. 

• The Adult Ed program is moving to near Mt. Madonna HS campus. This move is a good fit for 

Adult Ed because of a better parking, access, etc.  

• Next steps: This is board approved. 

 

SOUTH VALLEY MS: MOVE PORTABLES TO TRANSPORTATION YARD  

• $94,900 from Measure E. 

• Anaya Construction, Inc.  

• The move is a group of portables the size of four standard portable classrooms.  

• These portables will move to Transportation and Maintenance yard as potential places for 

offices for those departments or other needs in district, like preschool programs, if needed.  

• Next steps: This is board approved. 

 

GILROY HS: ADDITIONAL ITEMS FOR THE POOL 

• $4,873.22 from Measure E. 

Page 2



• Construction is done. These are last elements for this project: furniture for the deck, equipment 

for swim meetings (caddy for relay touchpads, back-up touchpads for scoring, etc.). 

• Next steps: This will go to the board for approval.  

 

RUCKER ES: PERIMETER FENCE  

• Information item. 

• Estimated to cost at least $500K. 

• Dan initiated this discussion but Facilities will take it on because it would be a Division of the 

State Architect (DSA) project.   

• The potential to close an additional elementary school may factor into what to do about this 

request.  

• Dr. Flores said she will follow up with the principal about this during her next site visit.  

• Dan said his team can explore other options to address the site’s concerns that would not be a 

full replacement.  

• Next steps:  Dr. Flores will talk with Mrs. Wells-Southland to get more details about concerns 

and will bring that information back to a future FSC meeting.  

 

DISTRICT-WIDE: CONNEX BOX (STORAGE CONTAINERS) REQUESTS AND POLICY 

• Paul is seeking to set a district standard on storage containers at sites.  

• The draft policy he’s submitted in the agenda packet is his first proposal.  

• Mark would like to discourage use of that kind of storage throughout the district.  

• A mix of rented and purchased containers are on sites now.  

• As a first step, Dr. Flores and Mark request the cost of existing storage containers (rental vs. 

purchased) and what’s being stored in each container.  

• The policy is needed but it should evolve based on what is found in this inventory.   

• Next steps: An inventory of storage costs and content will be compiled. In the inventory process, 

non-district locks will be replaced with district-issued locks.  

 

BROWNELLL MS: ARCHITECTURAL AWARD 

• Information item. 

• From Gilroy Historical Society, will be given July 11. 

• Alvaro will accept the award on district’s behalf.  

• The society will present the award at a future board meeting. 

 

SAFETY & SECURITY / FACILITIES USE (ALVARO MEZA FOR AURELIO RODRIGUEZ) 
 

GILROY HS: REVISION/UPDATE OF JOINT-USE AGREEMENT WITH CITY OF GILROY 

• Information item. 

• Aurelio is working to update this agreement with the city, which has been expired since 2008. It 

is for the use of city-owned land at Gilroy HS, affecting the parking lot and athletic fields off of 

10th Street.  

• Alvaro and Aurelio will work on making this for a term longer than five years.  

• Next steps: This will go to the board for approval.  

 

MAINTENANCE (DAN McAULIFFE) 
 

Page 3



CHRISTOPHER HS AND GILROY: BLEACHER SERVICE REPORT 

• About $13,120 

• FaciliServ 

• This will be a comprehensive report of stadium and gym bleachers. This cost is for the 

preventative maintenance recommendations in the report.   

• Pricing is not available yet for their recommendation for replacing wood bleachers at Gilroy HS 

baseball and softball fields because they no longer meet code. 

• We normally do this in July or August.  

• Linda: Do we inspect middle school bleachers? The other vendor we’ve worked with, American 

Eagle, does. Dan could ask for FaciliServ to look at middle schools.  

• Next steps: This will go the board for approval.  

 

GLEN VIEW: ROOF REPLACEMENT IN KINDER AREA 

• Estimated project cost of $125,000 from Differed Maintenance. 

• Roof replacement of kindergarten building would take about two weeks and could be done with 

CMAS contract. 

• Damage is substantial in 13-16 wings. This would be much larger project because it involves 

damage in gutters and more. Dan said we could get another winter out of that area to develop a 

scope for this area of the campus.  

• Next steps: Kinder replacement project will go to board for approval.  

 

GILROY PREP SCHOOL: HVAC AIR PURIFIERS  

• Information item. 

• Navigator Schools proposed these for that site and will pay for them. These will be at no cost to 

the district.  

• Similar to what has been brought to FSC before. This is ionization unit that goes on existing 

equipment. It’s low maintenance but a lower grade than has been used on what we’ve used on 

district units. The has been approved by the district’s HVAC consultants.  

 

MMHS FORMER CHILD-CARE BUILDING: TERMITE TREATMENT/FUMIGATION   

• $2,340 from RRM. 

• Advanced IPM. 

• Tenting will not affect contents of building except for live plants and food.  

• Adult Ed program will be going in this building.  

• Dan will work with the vendor to get it scheduled as soon as possible in anticipation of the 

program move.  

• Next steps: The committee authorizes the work because of the estimated cost. It can go to the 

board as a ratification.  

 

RUCKER ES: LUNCH CANOPY REPLACEMENT   

• These canvas canopies are worn out and need to be replaced. 

• Dan is waiting for quotes from vendors.  

• Mark is concerned about why this design is proposed for South Valley MS, if they have to be 

replaced like this. Paul will research the replacement costs for the South Valley MS design. He 

will report back to the FSC at a future meeting.   

• Next steps: Dan will provide quotes from vendors at a future FSC meeting.  

Page 4



 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (MARIBEL GUIZAR) 

 
VARIOUS SITES: QUOTES/OPTIONS FOR INTERACTIVE DISPLAYS (MOUNTED VS. MOBILE CARTS) 

• Up to $3.1M from Expanded Learning Opportunities Grant.  

• District introduced using two interactive displays in classrooms starting with Gilroy HS math 

building and Brownell MS. This proposal is to continue this as a standard at other secondary 

sites in the district. 

• The standard would be two 86" interactive displays with camera, tablet and stand, laptop. 

• These estimates include display options for one or two displays.  

• Maribel will get estimates for two displays on carts.  

• Laptop replacement costs are included in these estimates.  

• Teachers will be surveyed for their input. 

• Linda requests more information about the number of classrooms will be outfitted. Maribel said 

the working number is 212. She will meet with principals soon to finalize numbers.  

• Voice amplification devices will be available as requested from teachers. They will not be 

ordered for every classroom. 

• Both displays on carts would be the fastest installation. Mounting both on the wall may not be 

ready for first day of school.  

• The committee recommends will be two carts for flexibility and speed on installation.  

• Next steps: This will go to the board for approval.  

 

MEETING ADJOURNED: 11:15 a.m.  

 

Page 5



Page 6

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2a



Page 7



��������� ��	
���������
��������������

����
���������	
����� �
��������!��
��"
�#$�����%&'������()�*'�����+���������� ���

,-./012,345678 9���:
��������"
���*�����!��
��;��<=�:��:�><���"	�"
����"��	:���;��	"��"������?
: �	*�	:�@<=�� :������A��B:� "�:��<��	���C	�"
���:����:
�">�B��*���������
�A�
�� �������A��B:� "�:��:
D0E-FD0G�������

���������H ��
"	�&�:I�J"���I:		�?%K�����L
"	�
M��	
����� ;�		N����C�����N"#� ������L�L��������L���+�����+���L���+�����L ,OPQR12,345678

SFTTQ.U VWFXQ.U

Y���"I�����:I����:
��������*�����!��
�B�� ��	
���������
Z��	
����� [�%B*��"���"I:�>�����	���"�:�>��:
� ":	$\:��:�:�*�������
����>�������
���������	
����� �=������]�!��
��"
�#$�����%&'������()�*'�����+����������
.̂G0T1 _0̀aDFX/F.b cd̀ ,-eb/F/f ObF/gDFa0 ObF/Q./eTL���]&hC h�=��:�
��i]����;"�	�?�i#��i=�"�C	"�@
?�	"�@C������A�"���N�" �?C��B��"���Z����j�:�
[�	��;���=�"�
&:
�����H��	:�� ��� � k+L���� k�?������L��9�]&hC h�=��:�
L�=�"���i]����;"�	�?�i#��i=�"�C	"�@
?�	"�@C������A�"���N�" �?C��B��"���Z����j�:�
[�	��;���=�"�
&:
�����H��	:�� ��� � k������ k������]�]�L���� L�l"		��]�		��]":�������K:��:��H��i����:�>C�	*���*	���m�	��&:
�����H��	:�� �L L k������ k������CKL� L�l"		��C	"
�:�K:���&:
�����H��	:�� � L k����� k������AH�Kh A"�	�H��"�� ���N��;�"
�]�����"�	�K:�
&:
�����H��	:�� � L kL���� k+����C]�L� L�l"		��;�"
�]�����"�	���	*?C��B��"���C�	*���*	���m�	��&:
�����"��	:�� �� L k������ k�?L�����+��C�C�� ��<C"�@������:���"�@?�i#��iC	"�@
?C���"�	�?C��B��"���C�	*���*	���m�	���	"�@N�" �&:
�����"��	:�� ��� � k+����� k�?������ =�����"	�?��� =�����"	k��?������+�����n;"# k+�����A�
�� �������A��B:� "�:��:
��!�:����������

������ =�:��:�> k�?�����+Y���������:		�����
�:�����:�����*���i�����A��B:� "�:��i l�"��;��"	k��?�+����N:�
�J" �op"�:

" N:�
�J" �p"�:

"K"
�J" �o\"�C"���� K"
�J" �\"�C"����A� �"�*l:	��*j�:B:��=����	&:
��:���N"�:	:�:�
 A� �"�*l:	��*9:>�=����	H����

o����H���*�A:��	� H����

o�����
�����=�����H����

� H����

�

Page 8

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2b

namartinez
Typewritten Text



��������� ��	
���������
��������������

����
���������	
����� �
��������!��
��"
�#$�����%&'������()�*'�����+���������� ���

,-
" ."
���/"�� 0 ��-�"�1#���

 &-
��2�� /���3�-������� ��0������1 "-	�����/��4-� "�-��  "�-

"�2"��"����56-	��*��-4-�����67"#�����/��4-� "�-����"�-
�����
��"*"���- ����"		$/���"��8" �9%4&-44�������"�:;�	�<�:= >����

/-�*?@-	��* /-�*?@-	��*;�"��?/0 ;�"��?/0A-�/���?+���� A-�/���?+����/�����*B; /�����*B;>����?���������� >��������������7"# 7"#1 "-	 "�-

"�2"��"����56-	��*��-4-�����6 1 "-	 "�-

"�2"��"����56-	��*��-4-�����6CDDEFEGHIJKLJEMLNOPLNMEQLR>����/"		��S���
>�-����&�	-2��*T&�	-2��*��U�
-����-"	��8���/�  ���-"	<���3U����0����

�
>����V-4�6"��;��2-��T�&�-2���-			����
�-� ���4�� �������3�����6�����9��	*=WNDLNXGYLNZE[F\IFLPLNMEQL]̂_̀Ga�-		����"�	�����	�"����
�-� ���4�� �������3�TKGLRbGFIccJOFGdXPReEcfLHFRPcLQEIJgHRFNaQFEGHR�����1#�-��
���������04����"��
h
����"�6�
-��#��

�4�i"���� -�6��
� ��������
�1#�-���!����
�-		�����"��������-�������2-
-���gHFLHDLDXIOfLHFjLFeGD
WNDLNkGH[ENfIFEGHjLFeGD_kaRFGfLNkGH[ENfIFEGHERlLmaENLDFGkGfcJLFLWNDLN/�
�� ��;��2-��U����
���"�-2�/"		9.�7����" ���n�� /;<= 

Page 9



DOCUMENT 00 52 13 

AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE AND ENTERED INTO THIS 11th DAY OF JUNE, 2021, by and 
between the Gilroy Unified School District (“District”) and Kent Construction Inc. 
Contractor”) (“Agreement”). 

WITNESSETH: That the parties hereto have mutually covenanted and agreed, and by these 
presents do covenant and agree with each other, as follows: 

1. The Work:  Contractor agrees to furnish all tools, equipment, apparatus, facilities, 
labor, and material necessary to perform and complete in a good and workmanlike 
manner, the work of the following project: 

GILROY HIGH SCHOOL NEW PLAZA 

(“Project” or “Contract” or “Work”) 

It is understood and agreed that the Work shall be performed and completed as 
required in the Contract Documents including, without limitation, the Drawings and 
Specifications and submission of all documents required to secure funding or by the 
Division of the State Architect for close-out of the Project, under the direction and 
supervision of, and subject to the approval of, the District or its authorized 
representative. 

2. The Contract Documents:  The complete Contract consists of all Contract 
Documents as defined in the General Conditions and incorporated herein by this 
reference.  Any and all obligations of the District and Contractor are fully set forth 
and described in the Contract Documents.  All Contract Documents are intended to 
cooperate so that any Work called for in one and not mentioned in the other or vice 
versa is to be executed the same as if mentioned in all Contract Documents. 

3. Interpretation of Contract Documents:  Should any question arise concerning 
the intent or meaning of Contract Documents, including the Drawings or 
Specifications, the question shall be submitted to the District for interpretation.  If a 
conflict exists in the Contract Documents, valid, written modifications, beginning with 
the most recent, shall control over this Agreement (if any), which shall control over 
the Special Conditions, which shall control over any Supplemental Conditions, which 
shall control over the General Conditions, which shall control over the remaining 
Division 0 documents, which shall control over Division 1 Documents which shall 
control over Division 2 through Division 49 documents, which shall control over 
figured dimensions, which shall control over large-scale drawings, which shall control 
over small-scale drawings.  In the case of a discrepancy or ambiguity solely between 
and among the Drawings and Specifications, the discrepancy or ambiguity shall be 
resolved in favor of the interpretation that will provide District with the functionally 
complete and operable Project described in the Drawings and Specifications.  In no 
case shall a document calling for lower quality and/or quantity material or 
workmanship control.  The decision of the District in the matter shall be final. 

4. Time for Completion:  It is hereby understood and agreed that the Work under this 
Contract shall be completed by July 31st, 2021.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: 60D9E6CA-9A22-4CF9-8352-E82F1B75E156

Page 10

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2c



5. Completion - Extension of Time:  Should the Contractor fail to complete this 
Contract, and the Work provided herein, within the time fixed for completion, due 
allowance being made for the contingencies provided for herein, the Contractor shall 
become liable to the District for all loss and damage that the District may suffer on 
account thereof.  The Contractor shall coordinate its Work with the Work of all other 
contractors.  The District shall not be liable for delays resulting from Contractor's 
failure to coordinate its Work with other contractors in a manner that will allow 
timely completion of Contractor's Work.  Contractor shall be liable for delays to other 
contractors caused by Contractor's failure to coordinate its Work with the Work of 
other contractors. 

6. Liquidated Damages:  Time is of the essence for all work under this Agreement.  It 
is hereby understood and agreed that it is and will be difficult and/or impossible to 
ascertain and determine the actual damage that the District will sustain in the event 
of and by reason of Contractor's delay; therefore, Contractor agrees that it shall pay 
to the District the sum of five hundred dollars ($500) per day as liquidated damages 
for each and every day's delay beyond the time herein prescribed in finishing the 
Work.   

It is hereby understood and agreed that this amount is not a penalty. 

In the event that any portion of the liquidated damages is not paid to the District, 
the District may deduct that amount from any money due or that may become due 
the Contractor under this Agreement, and such deduction does not constitute a 
withholding or penalty.  The District's right to assess liquidated damages is as 
indicated herein and in the General Conditions. 

The time during which the Contract is delayed for cause, as hereinafter specified, 
may extend the time of completion for a reasonable time as the District may grant, 
provided that Contractor has complied with the claims procedure of the Contract 
Documents.  This provision does not exclude the recovery of damages by either 
party under other provisions in the Contract Documents. 

7. Loss Or Damage:  The District and its agents and authorized representatives shall 
not in any way or manner be answerable or suffer loss, damage, expense, or liability 
for any loss or damage that may happen to the Work, or any part thereof, or in or 
about the same during its construction and before acceptance, and the Contractor 
shall assume all liabilities of every kind or nature arising from the Work, either by 
accident, negligence, theft, vandalism, or any cause whatsoever; and shall hold the 
District and its agents and authorized representatives harmless from all liability of 
every kind and nature arising from accident, negligence, or any cause whatsoever. 

8. Limitation Of District Liability:  District’s financial obligations under this Contract 
shall be limited to the payment of the compensation provided in this Contract.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, in no event shall District be 
liable, regardless of whether any claim is based on contract or tort, for any special, 
consequential, indirect or incidental damages, including, but not limited to, lost 
profits or revenue, lost bonding capacity, arising out of or in connection with this 
Contract for the services performed in connection with this Contract. 

9. Insurance and Bonds:  Prior to issuance of the Notice to Proceed by the District, 
Contractor shall provide all required certificates of insurance, insurance 
endorsements, and payment and performance bonds as evidence thereof. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 60D9E6CA-9A22-4CF9-8352-E82F1B75E156

Page 11



10. Prosecution of Work:  If the Contractor should neglect to prosecute the Work 
properly or fail to perform any provisions of this Contract, the District, may, pursuant 
to the General Conditions and without prejudice to any other remedy it may have, 
make good such deficiencies and may deduct the cost thereof from the payment 
then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

11. Authority of Architect, Project Inspector, and DSA: Contractor hereby 
acknowledges that the Architect(s), the Project Inspector(s), and the Division of the 
State Architect (“DSA”) have authority to approve and/or suspend Work if the 
Contractor’s Work does not comply with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations, and all applicable laws and 
regulations.  The Contractor shall be liable for any delay caused by its non-compliant 
Work. 

12. Assignment of Contract:  Neither the Contract, nor any part thereof, nor any 
moneys due or to become due thereunder, may be assigned by the Contractor 
without the prior written approval of the District, nor without the written consent of 
the Surety on the Contractor's Performance Bond (the “Surety”), unless the Surety 
has waived in writing its right to notice of assignment. 

13. Classification of Contractor’s License:  Contractor hereby acknowledges that it 
currently holds valid Type A and/or B Contractor's license(s) issued by the State of 
California, Contractors’ State License Board, in accordance with division 3, chapter 9, 
of the Business and Professions Code and in the classification called for in the 
Contract Documents. 

14. Registration as Public Works Contractor:  The Contractor and all Subcontractors 
currently are registered as public works contractors with the Department of 
Industrial Relations, State of California, in accordance with Labor Code section 
1771.1. 

15. Payment of Prevailing Wages:  The Contractor and all Subcontractors shall pay all 
workers on all Work performed pursuant to this Contract not less than the general 
prevailing rate of per diem wages and the general prevailing rate for holiday and 
overtime work as determined by the Director of the Department of Industrial 
Relations, State of California, for the type of work performed and the locality in 
which the work is to be performed within the boundaries of the District, pursuant to 
sections 1770 et seq. of the California Labor Code.   

16. Labor Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement:  This Project is subject to labor 
compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial Relations 
pursuant to Labor Code section 1771.4 and Title 8 of the California Code of 
Regulations.  Contractor specifically acknowledges and understands that it shall 
perform the Work of this Agreement while complying with all the applicable 
provisions of Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1, of the Labor Code, including, without 
limitation, the requirement that the Contractor and all of its Subcontractors shall 
timely submit complete and accurate electronic certified payroll records as required 
by the Contract Documents, or the District may not issue payment. 

17. Contract Price:  In consideration of the foregoing covenants, promises, and 
agreements on the part of the Contractor, and the strict and literal fulfillment of each 
and every covenant, promise, and agreement, and as compensation agreed upon for 
the Work and construction, erection, and completion as aforesaid, the District 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 60D9E6CA-9A22-4CF9-8352-E82F1B75E156

Page 12



covenants, promises, and agrees that it will well and truly pay and cause to be paid 
to the Contractor in full, and as the full Contract Price and compensation for 
construction, erection, and completion of the Work hereinabove agreed to be 
performed by the Contractor, the following price: 

  Seven Hundred eighty seven thousand, five-hundred seventy one 
Dollars 

($ 787,571), 

in lawful money of the United States, which sum is to be paid according to the 
schedule provided by the Contractor and accepted by the District and subject to 
additions and deductions as provided in the Contract.  This amount supersedes any 
previously stated and/or agreed to amount(s). 

18. No Representations:  No representations have been made other than as set forth 
in writing in the Contract Documents, including this Agreement.  Each of the Parties 
to this Agreement warrants that it has carefully read and understood the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement and all Contract Documents, and that it has not relied 
upon the representations or advice of any other Party or any attorney not its own.   

19. Entire Agreement:  The Contract Documents, including this Agreement, set forth 
the entire agreement between the parties hereto and fully supersede any and all 
prior agreements, understandings, written or oral, between the parties hereto 
pertaining to the subject matter thereof.   

20. Severability:  If any term, covenant, condition, or provision in any of the Contract 
Documents is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions in the Contract Documents shall 
remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired, or 
invalidated thereby. 

21. Authority of Signatories:  Each party has the full power and authority to enter into 
and perform this Contract, and the person signing this Contract on behalf of each 
party has been properly authorized and empowered to enter into this Contract. This 
Contract may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original.  For this Agreement, and for all Contract Documents requiring a 
signature, a facsimile or electronic signature shall be deemed to be the equivalent of 
the actual original signature.  All counterparts so executed shall constitute one 
Contract binding all the Parties hereto. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 60D9E6CA-9A22-4CF9-8352-E82F1B75E156

Page 13



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, accepted and agreed on the date indicated above: 

[CONTRACTOR NAME]  GILROY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

    

By: Larry S. Kent  By: Alvaro Meza  

Title: President, Kent Construction  Title: Assistant Superintendent, Bus. Services  

NOTE: If the party executing this Contract is a corporation, a certified copy of the by-laws, 
or of the resolution of the Board of Directors, authorizing the officers of said 
corporation to execute the Contract and the bonds required thereby must be 
attached hereto. 

END OF DOCUMENT 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 60D9E6CA-9A22-4CF9-8352-E82F1B75E156

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 This Construction Services Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”) 
is entered into this 11th day of June, 2021, by and between the Gilroy Unified School District, a 
California school district organized and existing under the laws of the State of California 
(hereinafter referred to as the “District”) and Flint Builders, Inc. which is a contractor licensed by 
the State of California, with its principal place of business at 401 Derek Place, Roseville, 
California 95678 (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”). 

 
WHEREAS, the District operates South Valley Middle School, located at 385 I.O.O.F 

Avenue, Gilroy, California 95020 (hereinafter referred to as the “School Facility”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to construct new facilities and improvements (as more fully 
described below) at those portions of the School Facility identified in the Site Lease, as defined 
in Section 1G below (the “Site”); and  

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it will provide the best value to the District and 
it is in its best interests to pursue the improvements to the School Facility through the lease-
leaseback method of project delivery pursuant to California Education Code §17406 which 
permits the governing board of the District, without advertising for bids, to lease to Contractor 
property owned by the District if the instrument by which property is leased requires the lessee 
to construct, or provide for the construction, on the leased property, of a facility for the use of the 
District during the term of the lease, and provides that title to that facility shall vest in the District 
at the expiration of the lease; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to finance a portion of the improvements utilizing the 
lease/leaseback methodology; and  

 WHEREAS, the District has conducted an RFQ/P process by which it selected Contractor; 
and 

 WHEREAS, the District intends to undertake work to improve the School Facility, the 
scope of which is generally described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated by reference 
herein; and 

 WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of this Agreement, the District will enter into 
a site lease with Contractor, under which it will lease to Contractor the Site in order for Contractor 
to construct the Project as described in the Scope of Work set forth generally in Exhibit A 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Scope of Work”); and 

 WHEREAS, assuming that the District and Contractor can agree on the terms, including 
the price, for the additional scope of work, the District and Contractor anticipate that the scope of 
the Project may be amended to include additional work; and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 29

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2d

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



 WHEREAS, Contractor will lease the Site back to the District pursuant to a sublease 
agreement, under which the District will be required to make payments to Contractor for the use 
and occupancy of the Site, including the Project (hereinafter the “Financing”); and 

WHEREAS, Contractor represents that it is sufficiently experienced in the construction of 
the type of facility and type of work sought by the District and is willing to perform said work for 
lease and the Financing to the District, all as more fully set forth herein; and 

 WHEREAS, at the expiration of the Site Lease, title to the Site and the improvements 
thereon will vest with the District;   

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants hereinafter contained, the District 
and Contractor agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.   DEFINITIONS 

A. Construction.  The term “Construction” as used in this Agreement includes all labor 
and services necessary for the construction of the Project, and all materials, 
equipment, tools, supplies and incidentals incorporated or to be incorporated in such 
construction as fully described in the Scope of Work set forth in Exhibit A attached 
hereto.  Unless otherwise expressly stipulated, Contractor shall perform all work and 
provide and pay for all materials, labor tools and equipment, including, but not limited 
to, light, water, and power, necessary for the proper execution and completion of the 
Project shown on the drawings and described in the specifications developed pursuant 
to this Agreement. 

 
B. Construction Documents.  The term “Construction Documents” means the final 

drawings, profiles, cross sections, design development drawings, construction 
drawings, and supplemental drawings based on the plans and specifications 
developed for the Project pursuant to the Scope of Work set forth in Exhibit A attached 
hereto, including any reference specifications or reproductions prepared by the 
architect of record hired by the District for the Project (the “Architect”) and specifications 
approved by the District, the Division of the State Architect (“DSA”), and the local 
agencies having jurisdiction or other regulatory agencies whose approval may be 
required, which show or describe the location, character, dimensions or details for the 
Project and specifications for construction thereof. 
 
C. Contract Documents.  The term “Contract Documents” as used in this Agreement 
refers to those documents which form the entire agreement by and between the District 
and Contractor.  The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, including the 
exhibits and attachments hereto, the Site Lease, including the exhibits and 
attachments thereto, the Sublease, including the exhibits and attachments thereto, the 
Project Manual including the General Conditions thereto, as amended, which is 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 30



incorporated herein (the “General Conditions”), and the Construction Documents. The 
term “Contract Documents” shall include all modifications and addenda thereto.  
 

D. Guaranteed Maximum Price.  The term “Guaranteed Maximum Price” or “GMP” as 
used in this Agreement means the Guaranteed Maximum Price established pursuant 
to Section 5 of this Agreement to be used to calculate the Tenant Improvement 
Payments and the Sublease Payments to be paid by the District to Contractor pursuant 
to the Sublease, subject only to any adjustments for Extra Work/Modifications as 
provided in Section 10 of this Agreement. 

 
E. Project.  The term “Project” shall mean the improvements and facilities to be 

constructed and installed by Contractor at the School Facility which will result in 
complete and fully operational facilities as more fully set forth on Exhibit A attached 
hereto.   

 
F. Project Manual.  The term “Project Manual” shall mean the compilation of the 

Specification sections including Division 0, Procurement and Contracting 
Requirements, Division 1 General Requirements, and technical specifications Division 
2 through 33 prepared by the Architect and approved by the District, the DSA, or other 
regulatory agencies which show or describe the location, character, dimensions or 
details for the Project, which shall be delivered to Contractor upon execution of this 
Agreement. 

 
G. Site.  The term “Site” as used in this Agreement shall mean those certain parcels of 

real property and improvements thereon (if any) more particularly described in Exhibit 
A to the Site Lease. 

 
H. Site Lease.  The term “Site Lease” as used in this Agreement shall mean the certain 

Site Lease dated of even date herein between the District and Contractor, together with 
any duly authorized and executed amendment(s) thereto, pursuant to which the District 
leases the Site to Contractor. 

 
I. Specifications.  The term “Specifications” shall mean those numbered specifications 

set forth in the Project Manual which shall accompany this Agreement and which are 
incorporated by reference herein.  Individual Specifications may be referred to by their 
specification number as set forth in the Project Manual.  
 

J. Subcontractor.  As used in this Agreement, the term “Subcontractor” means any 
person or entity, including trade contractors, who have a contract with Contractor to 
perform any of the Construction. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 31



K. Sublease.  The term “Sublease” as used in this Agreement shall mean the certain 
Sublease dated of even date herein between the District and Contractor, together with 
any duly authorized and executed amendment(s) thereto, pursuant to which the District 
subleases the Site from Contractor. 

 
L. Sublease Payments.  The term “Sublease Payments” as used in this Agreement shall 

mean the payments made by the District to Contractor pursuant to Section 6 of the 
Sublease. 

 
M. Tenant Improvement Payments.  The term “Tenant Improvement Payments” as used 

in this Agreement shall mean the payments made by the District to Contractor pursuant 
to Section 6 of the Sublease. 

SECTION 2.  CONTRACTOR’S DUTIES AND STATUS 

 Contractor covenants with the District to furnish reasonable skill and judgment in 
constructing the Project.  Contractor agrees to furnish efficient business administration and 
superintendence and to furnish at all times an adequate supply of professionals, workers, and 
materials and to perform the work appropriately, expeditiously, economically, and consistent with 
the Contract Documents. 

SECTION 3.   ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 If the District requests Contractor to perform additional services not described in this 
Agreement, Contractor shall provide a cost estimate and a written description of the additional 
work necessary to complete such additional services.  The cost for such additional services shall 
be negotiated and agreed upon in writing in advance of Contractor performing or contracting for 
such additional services, and such cost shall be used to adjust the GMP established pursuant to 
Section 5 hereof.  In the absence of a written agreement, the District will not compensate 
Contractor for additional services, will not adjust the GMP for such additional services, and 
Contractor will not be required to perform them.  It is understood and agreed that if Contractor 
performs any services that it claims are additional services without receiving prior written approval 
from the District Board of Education, Contractor shall not be paid for such claimed additional 
services and the GMP will not be adjusted.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as 
limiting the valuation of such additional services and amount that the GMP will be adjusted for 
such additional services, should a written agreement for such services be executed by the parties.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor shall not be entitled to compensation, nor will the GMP 
be adjusted, for additional services required as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions. 

SECTION 4.  OWNERSHIP OF PLANS AND DOCUMENTS 

 All original field notes, written reports, drawings, specifications, Construction Documents, 
and other documents, produced or developed for the Project are the property of the District, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 32



regardless of whether the Project is constructed, and shall be furnished to the District.  Such 
documents are not to be used by Contractor or by the Subcontractors on other work nor shall 
Contractor nor the Subcontractors claim any right to such documents.  This shall not deprive 
Contractor from retaining electronic data or other reproducible copies of the Construction 
Documents or the right to reuse information contained in them in the normal course of 
Contractor’s professional activities. 

SECTION 5.  ESTABLISHMENT OF GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE  

The “GMP” for the Project shall be $76,452,626.00. The GMP consists of (1) Sublease 
Tenant Improvement Payments and, (2) Sublease Payments (with a Contractor Contingency) 
not to exceed a total lease value of $76,452,626.00 pursuant to terms and payment schedule 
as set forth in the Sublease.  Payment provisions and breakdown is set forth in Exhibit B 
attached hereto.   

The GMP is based upon the plans and specifications existing at the time this Agreement 
is entered into between Contractor and the District, and more fully described and referenced in 
the Scope of Work set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. Contractor acknowledges that (i) 
Contractor has conducted a site inspection and is familiar with the site conditions based on 
records, studies and visible conditions relating to construction and labor and (ii) Contractor has 
reviewed the Contract Documents and is familiar with the contents thereof.  District directed 
changes to the scope of the Project not contemplated in the Scope of Work shall be deemed 
Extra Work/Modifications pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 10 of this Agreement.   
The GMP shall include, but not be limited to, increases in labor and materials.  The GMP has 
been used to calculate the Tenant Improvement Payments and the Sublease Payments to be 
paid by the District to Contractor pursuant to the Sublease.  The GMP includes the cost of all 
labor, materials, equipment, general conditions, overhead, profit and a Contractor Contingency 
as indicated above.   

The Contractor Contingency is for the purpose of covering the cost of very specific 
issues that may arise during construction and it may be used only upon the written agreement 
of the Contractor, the architect of record, and the District.  The Contractor Contingency is to be 
used only to pay Contractor for the following enumerated reasons:  (1) additional costs resulting 
from discrepancies in the bid buy-out process; (2) conflicts, discrepancies or errors in the 
Construction Documents; (3) work required by the Inspector of Record or any governmental 
agency involved in the permitting or approval/certification process that is not otherwise shown in 
the Construction Documents; and (4) any other items of cost agreed to in writing by the 
Contractor and District to be included in the Contractor Contingency.  The Contractor 
Contingency shall not be used for costs incurred as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or 
omissions. 

Contractor shall be responsible for tracking expenditures of the Contractor Contingency 
and shall provide periodic written updates to the District as directed. Unused Contractor 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 33



Contingency and unused Allowances at Project completion shall reduce the GMP and will result 
in an adjustment of the Tenant Improvement Payments and possibly the Sublease Payments. 

The District shall at all times have the right to reduce the scope of the Project.  If the District 
reduces the scope of the Project, the GMP shall be reduced commensurate with the reduced 
Scope of Work pursuant to the provisions of Section 10, below, and will result in an adjustment 
of the Tenant Improvement Payments and, if applicable, the Sublease Payments. 

SECTION 6.  NOTICE TO PROCEED WITH CONSTRUCTION    

Upon receipt of an approved GMP, the District shall issue a notice to Contractor to proceed 
with the Construction of the Project.  In the event that a Notice to Proceed with Construction is 
not issued for the Project, the Site Lease and the Sublease shall terminate upon written notice 
from the District to Contractor that a Notice to Proceed will not be issued. 

SECTION 7.  SAVINGS    

If Contractor realizes a savings on one aspect of the Project, such savings shall be tracked 
and Contractor shall provide periodic written updates of such savings.  Such savings shall be 
added to the Contractor Contingency and the use of such savings shall be as set forth in Section 
5. However, if such savings are not so utilized, the amount of such savings shall reduce the GMP 
and will result in an adjustment of the Tenant Improvement Payments and, if applicable, the 
Sublease Payments. 

SECTION 8.  SELECTION OF SUBCONTRACTORS 

 In the interest of minimizing the expenditure of funds for the construction of the Project, 
Contractor agrees to select Subcontractors who are appropriately licensed by the State of 
California for each trade component of the Project in a manner that fosters competition.  In 
connection with the selection of Subcontractors, Contractor agrees that it will comply with the 
requirements of California Education Code § 17406(a)(4).  With respect to awarding Subcontracts 
with a value not exceeding one-half of 1 percent of the GMP, Contractor agrees that it will either 
solicit bids from potential subcontractors pursuant to the competitive bid procedures set forth in 
the California Public Contract Code, including specifically Public Contract Code section 20110, 
et seq., or that it will utilize an informal bidding process established by Contractor which also 
incorporates competitive bid procedures.  Regardless of the method Contractor employs, 
Contractor will verify all subcontractors meet the current DIR registration requirements, District 
prequalification requirements and make a good faith effort to contact and utilize Local and DVBE 
contractors and suppliers in securing bids for performance of the Project in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Section 1.77 of the General Conditions.  In the event that Contractor 
chooses to select Subcontractors pursuant to an informal bidding process, Contractor shall 
ensure that it receives at least three competitive quotes from potential subcontractors for each 
trade component of the Project, unless the parties agree otherwise on a trade-by-trade basis.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 34



The District reserves the right to oversee the bidding process.  Contractor shall inform all bidders 
that the District will not be a party to any contracts for construction services executed by 
Contractor and selected bidders.  Contractor shall submit a listing of proposed subcontractors to 
the District for the District’s review.  In no case, will Contractor award any sub-contracts until the 
District has concurred in the scope and price of the sub-contracted services.  In addition, 
Contractor shall provide the District with full documentation regarding the bids or competitive 
quotes received by Contractor.  In no event, shall such documentation be redacted or obliterated.  
In the event Contractor does not comply with this provision, the District may terminate this 
Agreement in accordance with the provisions of the General Conditions.  Subcontractors awarded 
contracts by Contractor shall be afforded all the rights and protections of listed subcontractors 
under the provisions of the Subletting and Subcontracting Fair Practices Act (Public Contract 
Code Section 4100, et seq.). 

SECTION 9.  CONSTRUCTION SCOPE OF WORK 

A. Prior to commencing Construction, Contractor shall comply with the initial schedule 
requirements set forth in the General Conditions. 

 
B. Contractor shall complete the Construction pursuant to the Construction Documents 

as amended subject to any additional DSA or other regulatory approvals as may be 
required, performing all work set forth in the Scope of Work, and shall make reasonable 
efforts in scheduling to prevent disruption to classes and surrounding neighborhoods. 

 
C. Contractor shall be responsible for complying with all applicable building codes, 

including without limitation mechanical codes, electrical codes, plumbing codes and 
fire codes, each of the latest edition, required by the regulatory agencies and for 
arranging and overseeing all necessary inspections and tests including inspections by 
the DSA or regulatory agencies, permits and occupancy permits, and ensuring 
compliance with any Federal and State laws, including, but not limited to, safety 
procedures and requirements, and construction employee training programs which 
cover among other items, hazardous chemicals and materials. 

 
D. Contractor shall establish procedures for the protection of all surrounding structures, 

equipment, utilities, and other existing improvements, both on-site and off-site.  
Contractor assumes all risk of loss, of vandalism, theft of property or other property 
damage (“Vandalism”) which occurs at a site at which Contractor is undertaking 
construction of the Project.  Contractor assumes all risk of loss which occurs where 
Contractor is undertaking construction of the Project from causes due to negligence or 
misconduct by Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, licensees and 
invitees.  Contractor shall replace District property damaged by such Vandalism or theft 
or compensate the District for such loss, including payment of out of pocket expenses 
such as insurance deductibles the District might incur under such circumstances. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 35



 
E. Contractor shall develop a mutually agreed upon program with the District to abate and 

minimize noise, dust, and disruption to normal activities at the existing School Facility 
and surrounding neighborhoods, including procedures to control on-site noise, dust, 
and pollution during construction. 

 
F. The District shall cause the appropriate professionals to stamp and sign, as required, 

the original Construction Documents or parts thereof and coordinate the Project’s 
design with all utilities. 

 
G. Contractor shall, for the benefit of the Subcontractors, attend pre-construction 

orientation conferences in conjunction with the Architect, IOR and District 
representatives, to set forth the various reporting procedures and site rules prior to the 
commencement of actual construction.  Contractor shall also attend construction and 
progress meetings with District representatives and other interested parties, as 
requested by the District, to discuss such matters as procedures, progress problems 
and scheduling.  Contractor shall prepare and promptly distribute official minutes of 
such meetings to all parties in attendance, including without limitation the District, the 
Architect and the District Inspector of Record. 

 
H. Contractor shall incorporate approved changes as they occur, and develop cash flow 

reports and forecasts for submittal to the District as requested.  Contractor shall provide 
regular monitoring of the approved estimates for Construction costs, showing actual 
costs for activities in progress, and estimates for uncompleted tasks.  Contractor shall 
maintain cost accounting records on authorized additional services or work performed 
under unit costs, additional work performed on the basis of actual costs of labor and 
materials, and for other work requiring accounting records. 

 
I. Contractor shall record the progress of the Project and shall submit monthly written 

progress reports to the District and the Architect including information on the entire 
Project, showing percentages of completion and the number and amounts of proposed 
Extra Work/Modifications and their effect on the construction costs as of the date of 
each respective report. 

 
J. Contractor shall keep daily reports containing a record of weather, Subcontractors, 

work on the site, number of workers, work accomplished, problems encountered, and 
other similar relevant data as the District may require.  Contractor shall make the 
reports available to the District, the Architect, and the District’s project manager.  The 
District shall be promptly advised on all anticipated delays in the Project. 

 
K. The District shall bear the cost for the DSA Inspector, soils testing, DSA or other 

regulatory agency fees, and special testing required in the construction of the Project.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 36



If additional review or permits become necessary for reasons not due to Contractor’s 
fault or because of DSA or regulatory agency requirements or regulations implemented 
after the date the Final GMP is established and not reasonably anticipated at the time 
the Final GMP is established, Contractor may seek additional compensation for the 
cost of that review as an additional cost.  In the alternative, the District may pay such 
costs directly. 

SECTION 10.  EXTRA WORK/MODIFICATIONS  

A.  The District may prescribe or approve additional work or a modification of 
requirements or of methods of performing the Construction which differ from the work 
or requirements set forth in the Construction Documents (“Extra Work/Modifications”); 
and for such purposes the District may at any time during the life of this Agreement, by 
written order, make such changes as it shall find necessary in the design, line, grade, 
form, location, dimensions, plan, or material of any part of the work or equipment 
specified in this Agreement or in the Construction Documents, or in the quantity or 
character of the work or equipment to be furnished.  In the event conditions develop 
which, in the opinion of Contractor, make strict compliance with the specifications 
impractical, Contractor shall notify the District of the need for Extra Work/Modifications 
by placing the matter on the agenda of regularly scheduled construction meetings with 
the District for discussion as soon as practicable after the need for the Extra 
Work/Modifications is determined.  Additionally, Contractor shall submit to the District 
for its consideration and approval or disapproval, a written request for Extra 
Work/Modifications before such work is performed.  If the District approves the request 
in writing, the costs of the Extra Work/Modification shall be added to or deducted from 
the GMP or the Scope of Work shall be modified to complete the Project within the 
GMP, as applicable.  Any adjustments to the GMP will result in an adjustment of the 
Tenant Improvement Payment and, if applicable, the Sublease Payments. 
 

B. Extra Work/Modifications include work related to unforeseen underground conditions 
if, and only if, such conditions are not visible or identified on plans, reports or other 
documents available to Contractor.  Extra Work/Modifications do not include 
underground conditions that are identified on plans, reports or other documents as 
described in Exhibit A but are in a location different than is set forth on such plans, 
reports or other documents available to Contractor.   

 
C. Should Contractor claim that any instruction, request, drawing, specification, action, 

condition, omission, default or other situation (i) obligates the District to increase the 
GMP; or (ii) obligates the District to grant an extension of time for the completion of this 
Agreement; or (iii) constitutes a waiver of any provision in this Agreement, 
CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE DISTRICT, IN WRITING, OF SUCH CLAIM AS 
SOON AS POSSIBLE, BUT IN NO EVENT WITHIN MORE THAN TEN (10) DAYS 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 37



FROM THE DATE CONTRACTOR HAS ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE OF 
THE CLAIM.  CONTRACTOR SHALL ALSO PROVIDE THE DISTRICT WITH 
SUFFICIENT WRITTEN DOCUMENTATION SUPPORTING THE FACTUAL BASIS 
OF THE CLAIM including items used in valuing said claim.  Contractor shall be required 
to certify under penalty of perjury the validity and accuracy of any claims submitted.  
Contractor’s failure to notify the District within such ten (10) day period shall be deemed 
a waiver and relinquishment of the claim against the District. 
 

D. Expenses of reconstruction and/or costs to replace and/or repair damaged materials 
and supplies, provided that Contractor is not fully compensated for such expenses 
and/or costs by insurance or otherwise, shall be included in an increase to the GMP if 
said expenses are the result of the negligent acts or omissions of the District, or its 
principals, agents, servants, or employees. 

SECTION 11.  PERSONNEL ASSIGNMENT 

A.  Contractor shall assign Douglas Gammelgard as Project Manager/Superintendent for 
the Project.  So long as Douglas Gammelgard remains in the employ of Contractor, 
such person shall not be changed or substituted from the Project, or cease to be fully 
committed to the Project except as provided in this Section.  In the event Contractor 
deems it necessary, Contractor shall replace the manager and/or the superintendent 
for the Project with a replacement with like qualifications and experience, subject to the 
prior written consent of the District, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  
Any violation of the terms of paragraph A of this Section 11 shall entitle the District to 
terminate this Agreement for breach, pursuant to the provisions of the General 
Conditions. 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of paragraph A of Section 11, above, if any 
manager and/or superintendent proves not to be satisfactory to the District, upon 
written notice from the District to Contractor, such person(s) shall be promptly replaced 
by a person who is acceptable to the District in accordance with the following 
procedures:  Within five (5) business days after receipt of a notice from the District 
requesting replacement of any manager and/or superintendent or discovery by 
Contractor that any manager and/or superintendent is leaving their employ, as the case 
may be, Contractor shall provide the District with the name of an acceptable 
replacement/substitution together with such information as the District may reasonably 
request about such replacement/substitution.  The replacement/substitution shall 
commence work on the Project no later than five (5) business days following the 
District’s approval of such replacement, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  If the District and Contractor cannot agree as to the replacement/substitution, 
the District shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement for breach pursuant to the 
provisions of the General Conditions.    

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 38



 

 

SECTION 12.  BONDING REQUIREMENTS   

Contractor shall fully comply with the requirements set forth in Section 6.9 of the General 
 Conditions. 

SECTION 13.  PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR 

A. Contractor shall finance the cost of construction of the Project which costs shall not 
exceed the GMP, which shall not be adjusted except as otherwise provided in this 
Agreement.  The District shall pay Contractor Tenant Improvement Payments and 
Sublease Payments pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 6 of the Sublease. 
In the event of a dispute between the District and Contractor, the District may withhold 
from the Tenant Improvement Payments and the Sublease Payments an amount not 
to exceed one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the disputed amount.  

 
B. This Agreement is subject to the provisions of California Public Contract Code Sections 

7107, 7201 and 20104.50 as they may from time to time be amended. 
 
C. For purposes of this Agreement, the acceptance by the District means acceptance 

made only by an action of the governing body of the District in open session.  
Acceptance by Contractor of the final Tenant Improvement Payment or the Sublease 
Payment, as the case may be, shall constitute a waiver of all claims against the District 
related to those amounts. 

 

SECTION 14.  CONTRACTOR’S CONTINUING RESPONSIBILITY 

 Neither the final payment nor any provision in the Contract Documents shall relieve 
Contractor of responsibility for faulty materials or workmanship incorporated in the Project or for 
any failure to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents.  

SECTION 15.  INSURANCE 
 

Contractor shall provide, during the life of this Agreement, the types and amounts of 
insurance set forth in Article 6 of the General Conditions, which are incorporated by reference 
herein.   

 
 
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 39



SECTION 16.  USE OF PREMISES 

 Contractor shall confine operations at the Site to areas permitted by law, ordinances, 
permits and the Construction Documents and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site or 
existing School Facilities at the Site with any materials or equipment.  Contractor shall not load 
or permit any part of the work to be loaded with a weight so as to endanger the safety of persons 
or property at the Site.  

SECTION 17.  SITE REPRESENTATIONS   

 The District warrants and represents that the District has, and will continue to retain at all 
times during the course of construction, legal title to the Site and that said land is properly 
subdivided and zoned so as to permit the construction and use of said Site with respect to the 
Project.  The District further warrants and represents that title to said land is free of any 
easements, conditions, limitation, special permits, variances, agreements or restrictions which 
would prevent, limit or otherwise restrict the construction or use of said Site pursuant to this 
Agreement.  Reference is made to the fact that the District has provided information on the Site 
to Contractor.  Such information shall not relieve Contractor of its responsibility; and the 
interpretation of such data regarding the Site, as disclosed by any borings or other preliminary 
investigations, is not warranted or guaranteed, either expressly or implicitly, by the District. 
Contractor shall be responsible for having ascertained pertinent local conditions such as location, 
accessibility and general character of the Site and for having satisfied itself as to the conditions 
under which the work is to be performed.  No claim for any allowances because of Contractor’s 
error or negligence in acquainting itself with the conditions at the Site will be recognized. 

SECTION 18.  HAZARDOUS WASTE AND UNKNOWN PHYSICAL CONDITIONS   

Contractor shall comply with the District’s Hazardous Materials Procedures and 
Requirements as set forth herein. 

A. If the District has identified the presence of hazardous materials on or in proximity to 
the Site (the “Pre-existing Hazardous Materials”), Contractor shall review all 
information provided by the District that characterizes the Pre-existing Hazardous 
Materials and shall take the actions approved by DTSC and issued by the District 
necessary to address the Pre-existing Hazardous Materials in the performance of the 
work.   Contractor shall conduct the work based on this information issued at the time 
contract documents are executed.  Contractor shall immediately communicate, in 
writing, any variances from available information to the District.   

B. The District will retain an additional independent environmental consultant to perform 
the investigation, inspection, testing, assessment, sampling and analysis necessary to 
prepare and recommend a remediation plan for the Pre-existing Hazardous Materials 
for the District’s approval (the “Remediation Plan”). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 40



C. The District will retain title to all Pre-existing Hazardous Materials encountered during 
the work.  This does not include hazardous material generated by Contractor, including 
but not limited to used motor oils, lubricants, cleaners, etc.  Contractor shall dispose of 
such hazardous waste in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents, 
as well as local, State and Federal laws and regulations.  The District will be shown as 
the hazardous waste generator and will sign all hazardous waste shipment manifests 
for non-Contractor generated hazardous waste.  Nothing contained within these 
Contract Documents shall be construed or interpreted as requiring Contractor to 
assume the status of owner or generator of hazardous waste substances for non-
Contractor generated hazardous wastes.    

D. Except as otherwise provided herein, it is the responsibility of Contractor to obtain 
governmental approvals relating to Hazardous Materials Management, including 
Federal and State surface water and groundwater discharge permits and permits for 
recycling and reuse of hazardous materials for all work noted in the contract 
documents.  Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating compliance with such 
governmental approvals and applicable governmental rules with the District’s 
hazardous materials consultant, including those governing the preparation of waste 
profiles, waste manifests, and bills of lading.  If Contractor encounters hazardous 
materials, it shall immediately notify the District in writing.  The District, Consultant and 
Contractor shall jointly establish the plan for disposition and actions to be taken with 
respect to the hazardous materials, subject to final written approval by the District. 

E. If, during construction, Contractor encounters materials, conditions, waste, 
contaminated groundwater or substances, not identified in the District’s assessment 
report, that Contractor reasonably suspects are hazardous materials, Contractor shall 
stop the affected portion of the work, secure the area, promptly notify the District, and 
take reasonable measures to mitigate the impact of such work stoppage.  The District 
shall retain the services of an environmental consultant to perform investigation, 
inspection, testing, assessment, sampling and analysis of the suspect materials, 
conditions, waste, groundwater or substances. 

(1) Found Not to be Hazardous Materials.  If the environmental consultant determines 
that the materials, conditions, waste, contaminated groundwater or substances do 
not constitute hazardous materials, Contractor shall recommence the suspended 
work.   

(2) Found to be Hazardous Materials.  If the environmental consultant determines that 
the materials, conditions, waste, contaminated groundwater or substances 
constitute hazardous materials and such hazardous materials require remediation 
and disposal, then the District, Consultant and Contractor shall jointly establish the 
plan for disposition and actions to be taken with respect to the hazardous materials, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 41



subject to final written approval by the District.  All such costs shall be the 
responsibility of the District.  

F. Exacerbation of Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials.   

 If during construction Contractor encounters pre-existing environmental conditions that 
it knew or should have known involve hazardous materials (the “Point of Discovery”) 
(which encounters may include an unavoidable release or releases of hazardous 
materials) then Contractor must immediately stop the affected portion of the work.  If 
Contractor fails to immediately stop the affected portion of the work after the Point of 
Discovery, then Contractor is solely responsible for any resultant Exacerbation Cost.  
“Exacerbate,” in all its forms, means the worsening effects of Contractor’s failure to 
stop the affected portion of work after the Point of Discovery.  “Exacerbation Cost” 
means the differential between (i) the actual increase in the cost of remediation and 
delays to the Project attributable to pre-existing environmental conditions involving 
hazardous substances, and (ii) the cost thereof or delays thereto had Contractor 
immediately stopped the affected portion of the work after the Point of Discovery.  The 
standard of “should have known” applies to Contractor’s supervisory personnel, 
whether or not on the Site.  Contractor’s supervisory personnel must have had the 
hazardous material training required by applicable OSHA and Cal OSHA rules or 
regulations. 

SECTION 19.  INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

A. Contractor is retained as an independent contractor and is not employed by the District.  
No employee or agent of Contractor shall become, or be considered to be, an 
employee of the District for any purpose.  It is agreed that the District is interested only 
in the results obtained from service under this Agreement and that Contractor shall 
perform as an independent contractor with sole control of the manner and means of 
performing the services required under this Agreement.  Contractor shall complete this 
Agreement according to its own methods of work which shall be in the exclusive charge 
and control of Contractor and which shall not be subject to control or supervision by 
the District except as to results of the work.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
Contractor and its employees shall in no event be entitled to any benefits to which the 
District employees are entitled, including, but not limited to, overtime, retirement 
benefits, insurance, vacation, worker’s compensation benefits, sick or injury leave or 
other benefits. 
 

B. Contractor shall be responsible for all salaries, payments, and benefits for all of its 
officers, agents, and employees in performing services pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 42



SECTION 20.  ACCOUNTING RECORDS 

 Contractor, and all Subcontractors, shall check all materials, equipment and labor entering 
into the work and shall keep or cause to be kept such full and detailed accounts as may be 
necessary for proper financial management under this Agreement, including true and complete 
books, records and accounts of all financial transactions in the course of their activities and 
operations related to the Project.  These documents include sales slips, invoices, payrolls, 
personnel records, requests for Subcontractor payment, and other data relating to all matters 
covered by the Contract Documents (the “Data”).  The Data shall be maintained for ten (10) years 
from the latest expiration of the term (as such may be extended) of any of the Contract 
Documents.  Contractor shall use its best efforts to cause its Subcontractors to keep or cause to 
be kept true and complete books, records and accounts of all financial transactions in the course 
of its activities and operations related to the Project.  Upon completion of the Project, Contractor 
shall provide the District with one (1) complete copy of the Data. 

 The District, at its own costs, shall have the right to review and audit, upon reasonable 
notice, the books and records of Contractor and any Subcontractors concerning any monies 
associated with the Project.  

SECTION 21.  PERSONAL LIABILITY 

Neither the trustees, officers, employees, or agents of District, the District's representative, 
or Architect shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under the Contract Documents. 

SECTION 22.  AGREEMENT MODIFICATIONS 

 No waiver, alteration or modification of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
binding upon either the District or Contractor unless the same shall be in writing and signed by 
both the District and Contractor. 

SECTION 23.  NOTICES 

Any notices or filings required to be given or made under this Agreement shall be served, 
given or made in writing upon the District or Contractor, as the case may be, by personal delivery 
or registered mail (with a copy sent via fax or regular mail) to the respective addresses given 
below or at such other address as such party may provide in accordance with the provisions 
herein.  Any change in the addresses noted herein shall not be binding upon the other party 
unless preceded by no less than thirty (30) days prior written notice. 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 43



If to Contractor:  

 Flint Builders, Inc. 
 401 Derek Place 
 Roseville, California  95678 
 Attn:  John Stump 
  

 If to the District: 

 Gilroy Unified School District                                                                         
  7810 Arroyo Circle 

 Gilroy, California 95020 
 Attn:  Dr. Deborah A. Flores, Superintendent 
 
With a copy to Mary Hernandez,  

 Garcia, Hernandez, Sawhney LLP 
 2490 Mariner Square Loop, Suite 140 
 Alameda, CA  94501 

 
 Notices under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given, and shall be effective 
upon actual receipt by the other parties, or, if mailed, upon the earlier of the fifth (5th) day after 
mailing or actual receipt by the other party. 

SECTION 24.  ASSIGNMENT 

 Neither party to this Agreement shall assign this Agreement or sublet it as a whole without 
the written consent of the other, nor shall Contractor assign any monies due or to become due to 
it hereunder without the prior written consent of the District.  

SECTION 25.  PROVISIONS REQUIRED BY LAW 

 Each and every provision of law and clause required to be inserted in these Contract 
Documents shall be deemed to be inserted herein and the Contract Documents shall be read and 
enforced as though it were included herein, and if through mistake or otherwise any such 
provision is not inserted or is not inserted correctly, then upon application of either party the 
Contract Documents shall forthwith be physically amended to make such insertion or correction. 
 
SECTION 26.  HEADINGS 

 The headings in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and 
reference and are not meant to define, limit or describe the scope or intent of the Contract 
Documents or in any way to affect the terms and provisions set forth herein. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 44



SECTION 27.  APPLICABLE LAW 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of California. The parties irrevocably agree that any action, suit or proceeding by or among 
the District and Contractor shall be brought in whichever of the Superior Courts of the State of 
California, Santa Clara County, or the Federal Court for the Northern District of California in San 
Jose, California, has subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute and waive any objection that they 
may now or hereafter have regarding the choice of forum whether on personal jurisdiction, venue, 
forum non conveniens or on any other ground. 

SECTION 28.  SUCCESSION OF RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 

 All rights and obligations under this Agreement shall inure to and be binding upon the 
successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 

SECTION 29.  NOTIFICATION OF THIRD PARTY CLAIMS 

 The District shall provide Contractor with timely notification of the receipt by the District of 
any third-party claim relating to this Agreement, and the District may charge back to Contractor 
the cost of any such notification. 

SECTION 30.  SEVERABILITY 

If any one or more of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement shall to any 
extent be declared invalid, unenforceable, void or voidable for any reason whatsoever by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, the finding or order or decree of which becomes final, none of the 
remaining terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of the Contract Documents shall be 
affected thereby, and each provision of the Contract Documents shall be valid and enforceable 
to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 31.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Construction Services Agreement and the additional Contract Documents as defined 
in paragraph C of Section 1 herein, including the Site Lease, the Sublease, and the 
Specifications, drawings, and plans constitute the entire agreement between Contractor and the 
District.  The Contract Documents shall not be amended, altered, changed, modified or 
terminated without the written consent of both parties hereto, except as otherwise provided in 
Section 10 hereof. 

SECTION 32.  EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be 
an original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 45



IN WITNESS, WHEREOF the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound thereby, have 
executed this Agreement effective as of the date first above written. 

CONTRACTOR     THE DISTRICT 

Flint Builders, Inc.     Gilroy Unified School District, 
401 Derek Place     a California school district  
Roseville, CA  95678    7810 Arroyo Circle 
       Gilroy, CA  95020  

       

 

By: ______________________________ By: _____________________________ 
  
Title: _____________________________ Title: ___________________________ 
  
Date: _____________________________ Date: ___________________________ 

 

 
Date: ________________________  Date: ________________________ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

5/29/2021

President

5/29/2021

Page 46



EXHIBIT A 
Scope of Work (Plans & Specifications) 

 

 

To be Approved by the Division of State Architect of the State of 
California 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 47



EXHIBIT B 
Payment Breakdown 

ANTICIPATED 
DATE 

PAYMENT 
NO. 

TENANT 
IMPROVEMENT 

PAYMENT 

% OF 
CONTRACT 

SUBLEASE 
PAYMENT 

CUMULATIVE 
AMOUNT 

CUMULATIVE 
% 

PHASE 

7/1/2021 1 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $      
2,689,999.80  

3.52%   

8/1/2021 2 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $      
5,379,999.61  

7.04%   

9/1/2021 3 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $      
8,069,999.41  

10.56%   

10/1/2021 4 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
10,759,999.21  

14.07%   

11/1/2021 5 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
13,449,999.02  

17.59%   

12/1/2021 6 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
16,139,998.82  

21.11% PHASE 1 

1/1/2022 7 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
18,829,998.63  

24.63%   

2/1/2022 8 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
21,519,998.43  

28.15%   

3/1/2022 9 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
24,209,998.23  

31.67%   

4/1/2022 10 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
26,899,998.04  

35.19%   

5/1/2022 11 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
29,589,997.84  

38.70%   

6/1/2022 12 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
32,279,997.64  

42.22%   

7/1/2022 13 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
34,969,997.45  

45.74%   

8/1/2022 14 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
37,659,997.25  

49.26%   

9/1/2022 15 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
40,349,997.06  

52.78%   

10/1/2022 16 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
43,039,996.86  

56.30%   

11/1/2022 17 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
45,729,996.66  

59.81%   

12/1/2022 18 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
48,419,996.47  

63.33%   

1/1/2023 19 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
51,109,996.27  

66.85%   

2/1/2023 20 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
53,799,996.07  

70.37% PHASE 2 

3/1/2023 21 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
56,489,995.88  

73.89%   

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 48



4/1/2023 22 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
59,179,995.68  

77.41%   

5/1/2023 23 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
61,869,995.49  

80.93%   

6/1/2023 24 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
64,559,995.29  

84.44%   

7/1/2023 25 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
67,249,995.09  

87.96%   

8/1/2023 26 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
69,939,994.90  

91.48%   

9/1/2023 27 
 $        

2,589,999.80  
3.39% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
72,629,994.70  

95.00%   

10/1/2023 28 
 $           

855,657.83  
1.12% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
73,585,652.53  

96.25%   

11/1/2023 29 
 $           

855,657.83  
1.12% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
74,541,310.36  

97.50% FINANCE 

12/1/2023 30 
 $           

855,657.83  
1.12% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
75,496,968.19  

98.75%   

1/1/2024 31 
 $           

855,657.81  
1.12% 

 $      
100,000.00  

 $    
76,452,626.00  

100.00%   

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 49



SECTION 00700 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 Page No. 

ARTICLE 1:  DEFINITIONS; GENERAL 5 

 

ARTICLE 2: DISTRICT 

2.1 Information Required of District 8 

2.2 District's Right to Stop the Work 8 

2.3 Partial Occupancy or Use 8 

2.4 The District's Inspector 9 

 

ARTICLE 3: ARCHITECT 

3.1 Architect's Administration of the Agreement 9 

 

ARTICLE 4: THE CONTRACTOR 

4.1 Communications 11 

4.2 Contractor Review of Contract Documents 11 

4.3 Site Investigation; Subsurface Conditions 12 

4.4 Supervision and Construction Procedures 14 

4.5 Labor and Materials 15 

4.6 Taxes 17 

4.7 Permits, Fees and Notices; Compliance With Laws 17 

4.8 Submittals 18 

4.9 Materials and Equipment 20 

4.10 Safety 21 

4.11 Hazardous Materials 21 

4.12 Maintenance of Documents 23 

4.13 Use of Site 24 

4.14 Noise and Dust Control 24 

4.15 Cutting and Patching 24 

4.16 Clean-Up 24 

4.17 Access to the Work 25 

4.18 Information for the District's Inspector 25 

4.19 Inspector’s Field Office 25 

4.20 Patents and Royalties 25 

4.21 Prevailing Wage Rates; Employment of Labor 25 

4.22 Labor Compliance Program 31 

4.23 Assignment of Antitrust Claims 31 

4.24 Fingerprinting 31 

4.25 Drugs, Tobacco, and Alcohol 32 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 50



 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 5:  SUBCONTRACTORS 

5.1 Subcontracts 32 

5.2 Substitution of Listed Subcontractor 33 

 

ARTICLE 6:  INSURANCE; INDEMNITY; BONDS 

6.1 Workers' Compensation Insurance; Employer's Liability Insurance 33 

6.2 Commercial General Liability and Property Insurance 33 

6.3 Builder's Risk "All-Risk" Insurance 34 

6.4 Automobile Liability Insurance 34 

6.5 Coverage Amounts 34 

6.6 Evidence of Insurance; Subcontractor's Insurance 35 

6.7 Maintenance of Insurance 36 

6.8 Contractor's Insurance Primary 36 

6.9 Indemnity 36 

6.10 Payment Bond; Performance Bond 37 

 

ARTICLE 7:  CONTRACT TIME 

7.1 Final Completion of the Work Within Contract Time 37 

7.2 Progress and Completion of the Work 37 

7.3 Progress Schedule 39 

7.4 Adjustment of Contract Time 42 

7.5 Liquidated Damages 44 

7.6 District’s Right to Take-Over Work 44 

 

ARTICLE 8:  CONTRACT PRICE 

8.1 Contract Price 44 

8.2 Cost Breakdown (Schedule of Values) 45 

8.3 Progress Payments 45 

8.4 Final Payment 49 

8.5 Withholding of Payments 50 

8.6 Payments to Subcontractors 52 

 

ARTICLE 9:  CHANGES 

9.1 Changes in the Work 53 

9.2 Oral Order of Change in the Work 53 

9.3 Contractor Submittal of Data 54 

9.4 Adjustment to Contract Price and Contract Time on Account 

of Changes to the Work 54 

9.5 Change Orders 57 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 51



9.6 Contractor Notice of Changes 58 

9.7 Disputed Change 58 

9.8 Emergencies 59 

9.9 Minor Changes in the Work 59 

9.10 Unauthorized Changes 59 

 

ARTICLE 10:  SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 

10.1 District's Right to Award Separate Contracts 59 

10.2 District's Coordination of Separate Contractors 59 

10.3 Mutual Responsibility 60 

10.4 Discrepancies or Defects 60 

 

ARTICLE 11:  TESTS AND INSPECTIONS 

11.1 Tests; Inspections; Observations 60 

11.2 Delivery of Certificate 61 

11.3 Timeliness of Tests, Inspections and Approvals 61 

 

ARTICLE 12:  UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 

12.1 Inspection of the Work 62 

12.2 Uncovering of Work 62 

12.3 Rejection of Work 62 

12.4 Correction of Work 62 

12.5 Removal of Non-Conforming or Defective Work 62 

12.6 Failure of Contractor to Correct Work 63 

12.7 Acceptance of Defective or Non-Conforming Work 63 

 

ARTICLE 13:  WARRANTIES 

13.1 Workmanship and Materials 63 

13.2 Warranty Work 63 

13.3 Guarantee 64 

13.4 Survival of Warranties 64 

 

ARTICLE 14:  SUSPENSION OF WORK 

14.1 District's Right to Suspend Work 64 

14.2 Adjustments to Contract Price and Contract Time 64 

 

ARTICLE 15:  TERMINATION 

15.1 Termination for Cause 64 

15.2 Termination for Convenience of the District 67 

15.3 Termination by the Contractor 67 

 

ARTICLE 16:  MISCELLANEOUS 

16.1 Governing Law 67 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 52



16.2 Successors and Assigns 67 

16.3 Cumulative Rights and Remedies; No Waiver 67 

16.4 Severability 68 

16.5 No Assignment by Contractor 68 

16.6 Independent Contractor Status 68 

16.7 Notices 68 

16.8 Disputes; Continuation of Work 68 

16.9 Dispute Resolution:  Claims under $375,000.00 68 

16.10 Attorneys Fees 68 

16.11 Marginal Headings; Interpretations 69 

16.12 Provisions Required by Law Deemed Inserted 69 

16.13 Entire Agreement 69 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 53



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

ARTICLE 1:  DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Agreement.  The Agreement is the Construction Services Agreement entered into between 

the District and Contractor. 

1.2 Architect. The Architect is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement; 

references to the "Architect" includes the Architect's authorized representative and his, her or its 

successor(s). 

1.3 Construction Equipment. "Construction Equipment" is equipment utilized for the 

performance of any portion of the Work, but which is not incorporated into the Work. 

1.4 Contract Documents.  The Contract Documents consist of the Agreement between the 

District and the Contractor, Conditions of the Agreement (whether general, special or otherwise), 

drawings, specifications, including addenda thereto issued prior to execution of the Agreement and 

any other documents listed in the Agreement.  The Contract Documents shall include modifications 

issued after execution of the Agreement.   

1.5 Contract Document Terms.  The term "provide" means "provide complete in place" or to 

"furnish and install" such item.  Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the terms 

"approved;" "directed;" "satisfactory;" "accepted;" "acceptable;" "proper;" "required;" "necessary" 

and "equal" shall mean as approved, directed, satisfactory, accepted, acceptable, proper, required, 

necessary and equal, in the opinion of the District, its agents or representatives.  The term "typical" 

as used in the drawings shall require the installation or furnishing of such item(s) of the Work 

designated as "typical" in all other similar areas; Work in such other areas shall conform to that 

shown as "typical" or as reasonably inferable therefrom. 

1.6 Contractor.  The Contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement; 

references to "Contractor" include the Contractor's authorized representative. 

1.7 Contractor's Superintendent.  The Contractor's Superintendent is the individual employed 

by the Contractor whose principal responsibility shall be the supervision and coordination of the 

Work; the Contractor's Superintendent shall not perform routine construction labor. 

1.8 Days.  Unless otherwise expressly stated, references to "days" in the Contract Documents 

shall be deemed to be calendar days. 

1.9 Deferred Approval Items.  Deferred approval items are those items that shall not be started 

until detailed plans, specifications, and engineering calculations have been accepted and signed by 

the Architect or Engineer. 

1.10 District.  The "District" refers to Gilroy Unified School District and its authorized 

representatives, including the Project Manager, the District's Board of Trustees and the District’s 

officers, employees, agents and representatives. 

1.11 District's Inspector.  The District's Inspector is the individual designated and employed by 

the District in accordance with the requirements of Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 54



The District's Inspector shall be authorized to act on behalf of the District as provided for in the 

Contract Documents and in Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations, as the same may be 

amended from time to time. 

1.12 Division of State Architect ("DSA").  The DSA is the California Division of the State 

Architect including without limitation the DSA's Office of Construction Services, Office of Design 

Services and the Office of Regulation Services; references to the DSA in the Contract Documents 

shall mean the DSA, its offices and its authorized employees and agents.  The authority of the DSA 

over the Work and the performance thereof shall be as set forth in the Contract Documents and Title 

24 of the California Code of Regulations. 

1.13 Drawings and Specifications.  The drawings are the graphic and pictorial portions of the 

Contract Documents, wherever located and whenever issued, showing generally, the design, location 

and dimensions of the Work and may include without limitation, plans, elevations, sections, details, 

schedules, notes or diagrams.  The specifications are that portion of the Contract Documents 

consisting of the written requirements for materials, equipment, construction systems, standards, 

criteria and workmanship for the Work and related services.  The drawings and specifications are 

intended to delineate and describe the Work and its component parts so as to permit skilled and 

competent contractors to bid upon the Work and prosecute the same to completion. 

1.14 Intent and Correlation of Contract Documents.   

 1.14.1 Work of the Contract Documents. The intent of the Contract Documents is to 

include all items necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work by the 

Contractor.  The Contract Documents are complementary and what is required by one shall 

be as binding as if required by all.  Performance by the Contractor shall be required to the 

extent consistent with the Contract Documents and reasonably inferable therefrom as being 

necessary to produce the intended results.  Organization of the Specifications into divisions, 

sections or articles, and the arrangement of drawings shall not control the Contractor in 

dividing the Work among Subcontractors or in establishing the extent of Work to be 

performed by any trade.  Where any portion of the Contract Documents is silent and 

information appears elsewhere in the Contract Documents, such other portions of the 

Contract Documents shall control.  Work not particularly detailed, marked or specified shall 

be the same as similar parts that are detailed, marked or specified. 

 1.14.2 Technical Terms.  Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, words or 

terms, which have, well-known technical or construction industry meanings are used in the 

Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings. 

 1.14.3 Conflict in Contract Documents.   The Contract Documents are intended to be fully 

cooperative and to agree.  If Contractor observes any conflict, inconsistency or ambiguity, 

Contractor shall promptly notify the District and the Architect in writing of such conflict, 

inconsistency or ambiguity prior to commencement of affected Work.  If a conflict, 

inconsistency or ambiguity arises, the following order or precedence shall generally apply, 

provided, however, that the order of precedence shall not be so rigidly interpreted as to create 

an absurd or costly result: special conditions shall take precedence over general conditions, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 55



specifications shall take precedence over drawings and shall govern as to materials, 

workmanship and installation procedures.  Plans identify the scope and location of the Work. 

With regard to drawings, larger details govern over smaller scale drawings, addenda and 

change order drawings govern over contract drawings, contract drawings govern over 

standard drawings. 

1.15 Material Supplier.  A Material Supplier is any person or entity who only furnishes materials, 

equipment or supplies for the Work without fabricating, installing or consuming them in the Work. 

1.16 Project.  The Project is the total construction of which the Work performed by the Contractor 

under the Contract Documents may be the whole or a part of the Project and which may include 

construction by the District or by separate contractors. 

1.17 Project Manager.  The Project Manager, if any, is the individual or entity designated as such 

in the Special Conditions.  The Project Manager is an independent contractor retained by the District 

and shall be authorized and empowered to act on behalf of the District.  The removal or replacement 

of the designated Project Manager shall not result in adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract 

Time or otherwise affect, limit or restrict Contractor's obligations hereunder. 

1.18 Record Documents.  The Record Documents are a set of the drawings and specifications 

marked by the Contractor during the performance of the Work to indicate completely and accurately 

the actual as-built condition of the Work.  The Record Documents shall be sufficient for a capable 

and qualified draftsman to modify the drawings to reflect and indicate the Work actually in place at 

Final Completion of the Work. 

1.19 Shop Drawings; Samples; Product Data (“Submittals”).  Shop Drawings are diagrams, 

schedules and other data specially prepared for the Work by the Contractor or a Subcontractor of any 

tier, manufacturer, Material Supplier, or distributor to illustrate some portion of the Work.  Samples 

are physical examples of materials, equipment or workmanship forming a part of, or to be 

incorporated into the Work.  Product Data are illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, 

instructions, brochures, diagrams and other information furnished by the Contractor to illustrate 

materials or equipment for some portion of the Work.  Shop Drawings, Samples and Product Data 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Material Suppliers are 

collectively referred to as “Submittals”. 

1.20  Site.  The Site is the physical area designated in the Contract Documents for Contractor’s 

performance, construction and installation of the Work. 

1.21  Subcontractors; Sub-Subcontractors.  A Subcontractor is a person or entity who has a 

direct contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the Work.  "Subcontractor" does not 

include a separate contractor to the District or subcontractors of any separate contractor.  A Sub-

Subcontractor is a person or entity of any tier, who has a direct or indirect contract with a 

Subcontractor to perform a portion of the Work at the site. 

1.22   Special Conditions.  If made a part of the Contract Documents, Special Conditions are 

special or supplemental provisions, not otherwise provided for in the Agreement or the General 

Conditions. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 56



1.23 Surety.  The Surety is the person or entity that executes, as surety, the Contractor's Labor and 

Material Payment Bond and/or Performance Bond or other bonds provided by the Contractor. 

1.24  Work.  The "Work" is the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, 

whether completed or partially completed, and includes all other labor, materials, equipment or 

services provided or to be provided by the Contractor to fulfill the Contractor's obligations under the 

Contract Documents.  The Work may constitute the whole or a part of the Project. 

ARTICLE 2:  DISTRICT 

2.1 Information Required of District. 

2.1.1 Surveys; Site Information.  District may provide information concerning physical 

characteristics of the Site.  Information not provided by the District concerning physical 

characteristics of the Site, which is required, shall be obtained by Contractor without 

adjustment to the Contract Price or the Contract Time. 

2.1.2 Drawings and Specifications.  All of the drawings and the specifications shall 

remain the property of the District; the Contractor shall not use the drawings or the 

specifications in connection with any other work of improvement other than the Work of the 

Project. 

2.1.3 Furnishing of Information.  Information or services to be provided by the District 

under the Contract Documents shall be furnished by the District with reasonable promptness 

to avoid delay in the orderly progress of the Work.  Information about existing conditions 

furnished by the District under the Contract Documents is obtained from sources believed to 

be reliable, but the District neither guarantees nor warrants that such information is complete 

and accurate.  The Contractor shall verify all information provided by the District.  To the 

extent that the Contract Documents depict existing conditions on or about the Site, or the 

Work involves the renovation, removal or remodeling of existing improvements or the Work 

involves any tie-in or other connection with any existing improvements, the conditions 

and/or existing improvements depicted in the Contract Documents are as they are believed to 

exist. 

2.2 District's Right to Stop the Work.  In addition to the District's right to suspend the Work or 

terminate the Contract pursuant to the Contract Documents, the District may, by written order, direct 

the Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such stop work order has 

been eliminated, if the Contractor: (i) fails to correct Work which is not in conformity and in 

accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, or (ii) otherwise fails to carry out the 

Work in conformity and accordance with the Contract Documents. The right of the District to stop 

the Work hereunder shall not be deemed a duty on the part of the District to exercise such right for 

the benefit of the Contractor or any other person or entity, nor shall the District's exercise of such 

right waive or limit the exercise of any other right or remedy of the District under the Contract 

Document or at law. 

2.3 Partial Occupancy or Use. 

2.3.1 District's Right to Partial Occupancy.  The District may occupy or use any 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 57



completed or partially completed portion of the Work, provided that the District and the 

Contractor have accepted, in writing, the responsibilities assigned to each of them for 

payments, retainage, if any, security, maintenance, utilities, damage to the Work, insurance 

and the period for correction of the Work and commencement of warranties required by the 

Contract Documents for such portion of the Work partially used or occupied by the District.  

If the Contractor and the District are unable to agree upon the matters set forth above, the 

District may nevertheless use or occupy any portion of the Work, with the responsibility for 

such matters subject to resolution in accordance with the Contract Documents.  Immediately 

prior to such partial occupancy or use of the Work, or portions thereof, the District, the 

District's Inspector, the Contractor and the Architect shall jointly inspect the portions of the 

Work to be occupied or to be used to determine and record the condition of the Work.  The 

District’s use or occupancy of the Work or portions thereof pursuant to the preceding shall 

not be deemed “completion” of the Work as that term is used in Public Contract Code §7107. 

2.3.2 No Acceptance of Defective or Nonconforming Work. Unless otherwise expressly 

agreed upon by the District and the Contractor, the District's partial occupancy or use of the 

Work or any portion thereof, shall not constitute the District's acceptance of the Work not 

complying with the requirements of the Contract Documents or which is otherwise defective. 

2.4 The District's Inspector.  In addition to the authority and rights of the District's Inspector as 

provided for elsewhere in the Contract Documents, all of the Work shall be performed under the 

observation of the District's Inspector in accordance with the provisions of Title 24 of the California 

Code of Regulations.  The District's Inspector shall have access to all parts of the Work at any time, 

wherever located, including shop inspections, and whether partially or completely fabricated, 

manufactured, furnished or installed.  The performance of the duties of the District's Inspector under 

the Contract Documents shall not relieve or limit the Contractor's performance of its obligations 

under the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 3: ARCHITECT 

3.1 Architect's Administration of the Agreement. 

3.1.1 Administration of Contract.  The Architect will provide administration of the 

Agreement as described in the Contract Documents, and will be one of the District's 

representatives during construction until the time that Final Payment is due the Contractor.  

The Architect will advise and consult with the District, the Project Manager and the District's 

Inspector with respect to the administration of the Agreement and the Work.  The Architect 

shall have the responsibilities and powers established by law, including Title 24 of the 

California Code of Regulations. 

3.1.2 Periodic Site Observations.  The Architect will visit the Site at intervals appropriate 

to the stage of construction to become generally familiar with the progress and quality of the 

completed Work and to determine, in general, if the Work is being performed in a manner 

indicating that the Work, when completed, will be in accordance with the Contract 

Documents.  The Architect will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous Site 

observations to check quality or quantity of the Work.  On the basis of Site observations as 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 58



an architect, the Architect will keep the District informed of the progress of the Work, and 

will endeavor to guard the District against defects and deficiencies in the Work. 

3.1.3 Contractor Responsibility for Construction Means, Methods and Sequences.  

The Architect will not have control over or charge of and will not be responsible for 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions 

and programs in connection with the Work, these being solely the Contractor's responsibility. 

 The Architect will not have control over or charge of and will not be responsible for acts or 

omissions of the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their agents or employees, or of any other 

persons performing portions of the Work. 

3.1.4 Verification of Applications for Payment.  In accordance with Article 8 hereof, the 

Architect will review the Contractor's Applications for Progress Payments and for Final 

Payment, verify the extent of Work performed and the amount properly due the Contractor 

on such Application for Payment. 

3.1.5 Rejection of Work.  The Architect is authorized to reject Work which is defective or 

does not conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents.  Whenever the Architect 

considers it necessary or advisable, additional inspections or testing of the Work may be 

conducted, whether or not such Work is fabricated, installed or completed.  Neither this 

authority of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith by the Architect to exercise or 

not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility to the Contractor, 

Subcontractors, Material Suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons performing 

portions of the Work. 

3.1.6 Architect’s Review of Submittals.  The Architect will review and approve or take 

other appropriate action upon the Contractor's Submittals, but only for the limited purpose of 

checking for conformance with the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents.  

Review of Submittals is not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and 

completeness of other details such as dimensions and quantities, or for substantiating 

instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems, all of which remain the 

responsibility of the Contractor as required by the Contract Documents. The Architect's 

review of the Contractor's Submittals shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligations under 

the Contract Documents.  The Architect's review of Submittals shall not constitute approval 

of safety measures, programs or precautions or, unless otherwise specifically stated by the 

Architect, of any construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. The 

Architect's approval of a specific item in a Submittal shall not indicate approval of an 

assembly of which the item is a component.  The Architect’s review and return of Submittals 

will normally require a minimum of fourteen (14) days from date of receipt of complete 

submittal. Deferred approval submittals indicated in the Contract Documents require 

additional time for processing and review of all submittals. 

3.1.7 Changes to the Work; Change Orders.  The Architect will prepare Change Orders 

and may authorize minor changes in the Work in accordance with Article 9.9 hereof. 

3.1.8 Completion.  The Architect will conduct observations to determine the date(s) of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 59



interim milestones, if any, and the dates of Substantial and Final Completion.  The Architect 

will verify that the Contractor has complied with all requirements of the Contract Documents 

and is entitled to receipt of Final Payment. 

3.1.9 Interpretation of Contract Documents.  The Architect will interpret and decide 

matters concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents on written request of either 

the District or the Contractor, or as deemed necessary.  The Architect's response to such 

requests will be made in writing with reasonable promptness and within the time limits 

specified in the Contract Documents.  Interpretations and decisions of the Architect will be 

consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents and will 

be in writing or in the form of drawings with transmittal letter.  When making such 

interpretations and decisions, the Architect will endeavor to secure faithful performance by 

both the District and the Contractor, will not show partiality to either and will not be liable 

for results of interpretations or decisions so rendered in good faith.  The Architect's decisions 

on matters relating to aesthetic effect will be final if consistent with the intent expressed in 

the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 4: THE CONTRACTOR 

4.1 Communications.  All communications regarding the Work, the performance thereof or the 

Contract Documents shall be in writing; oral communications, unless reduced to writing, are not 

binding on the parties.  Communications between the Contractor and the District shall be through the 

Project Manager.  Communications between separate contractors, if any, shall be through the Project 

Manager.  Contractor shall make all written communications concerning the Project available to the 

District upon request. 

4.2 Contractor Review of Contract Documents. 

4.2.1 Examination of Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall carefully study and 

compare the Contract Documents with each other and with information furnished by the 

District pursuant to the Contract Documents and shall at once report to the District any 

errors, inconsistencies or omissions discovered.  If the Contractor performs any Work 

knowing, or with reasonable diligence should have known that, it involves an error, 

inconsistency or omission in the Contract Documents without prior written notice to the 

District of the same, the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such performance and 

shall bear all attributable costs for correction of the same. 

4.2.2 Field Measurements.  Prior to commencement of the Work, or portions thereof, the 

Contractor shall take field measurements and verify field conditions at the Site and shall 

carefully compare such field measurements and conditions and other information known to 

the Contractor with information provided in the Contract Documents.  Errors, inconsistencies 

or omissions discovered shall be reported to the District at once. 

4.2.3 Dimensions; Layouts and Field Engineering.  Dimensions indicated in the 

drawings are intended for reference only.  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for 

dimensioning and coordinating the Work of the Contract Documents.  All field engineering 

required for laying out the Work and/or establishing grades for earthwork operations shall be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 60



by the Contractor at its expense. Any field engineering or other engineering to be provided or 

performed by the Contractor under the Contract Documents and required or necessary for the 

proper execution or installation of the Work shall be provided and performed by an engineer 

duly registered under the laws of the State of California in the engineering discipline for such 

portion of the Work. 

4.2.4 Request for Information.  If the Contractor encounters any condition which the 

Contractor believes, in good faith and with reasonable basis, is the result of an ambiguity, 

conflict, error or omission in the Contract Documents (collectively “the Conditions”), it shall 

be the affirmative obligation of the Contractor to timely notify the District, in writing, of the 

Conditions encountered and to request information from the District necessary to address and 

resolve any such Conditions before proceeding with any portion of the Work affected or 

which may be affected by such Conditions.  If the Contractor fails to timely notify the 

District in writing of any Conditions encountered and the Contractor proceeds to perform any 

portion of the Work containing or affected by such Conditions, the Contractor shall bear all 

costs associated with or required to correct, remove, or otherwise remedy any portion of the 

Work affected thereby without adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract Price. In 

requesting information of the Architect to address and resolve any Conditions, the Contractor 

shall act with promptness in submitting any such written request so as to allow the Architect 

a reasonable period of time to review, evaluate and respond to any such request, taking into 

account the then current status of the progress and completion of the Work and the actual or 

potential impact of any such Conditions upon the completion of the Work within the 

Contract Time.  The Contract Time shall not be subject to adjustment in the event that the 

Contractor shall fail to timely request information from the Architect.  The Architect's 

responses to any such Contractor request for information shall conform to the standards and 

time frame set forth in Article 3.1.9 of these General Conditions.  The foregoing provisions 

notwithstanding, in the event that the Architect reasonably determines that any of 

Contractor's request(s) for information: (i) does not reflect adequate or competent supervision 

or coordination by the Contractor or any Subcontractor; or (ii) does not reflect the 

Contractor's adequate or competent knowledge of the requirements of the Work or the 

Contract Documents; or (iii) is not justified for any other reason, Contractor shall be liable to 

the District for all costs incurred by the District associated with the processing, reviewing, 

evaluating and responding to any such request for information, including without limitation, 

fees of the Architect and any other design consultant to the Architect or the District.  In the 

event that the Architect makes such a determination, the District may deduct such costs from 

any portion of the Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.2.5 Work in Accordance With Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall perform all 

of the Work in strict conformity with the Contract Documents and approved Submittals. 

4.3 Site Investigation; Subsurface Conditions. 

4.3.1 Contractor Investigation.  The Contractor shall be responsible for, and by executing 

the Agreement acknowledges, that it has carefully examined the Site and has taken all steps it 

deems reasonably necessary to ascertain all conditions which may affect the Work, or the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 61



cost thereof, including, without limitation, conditions bearing upon transportation, disposal, 

handling or storage of materials; availability of labor or utilities; access to the Site; and the 

physical conditions and the character of equipment, materials, labor and services necessary to 

perform the Work.  Any failure of the Contractor to do so will not relieve it from the 

responsibility for fully and completely performing all Work without adjustment to the 

Contract Price or the Contract Time.  The District assumes no responsibility to the 

Contractor for any understandings or representations concerning conditions or characteristics 

of the Site, or the Work, made by any of its officers, employees or agents prior to the 

execution of the Agreement, unless such understandings or representations are expressly set 

forth in the Agreement. 

4.3.2 Subsurface Data.  By executing the Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges that it 

has examined the subsurface data available and satisfied itself as to the character, quality and 

quantity of surface and subsurface materials, including without limitation, obstacles which 

may be encountered in performance of the Work, insofar as this information is reasonably 

ascertainable from an inspection of the Site, review of available subsurface data and analysis 

of information furnished by the District under the Contract Documents.  Information 

contained in such data or report regarding subsurface conditions, elevations of existing 

grades or below grade elevations are approximate only and is neither guaranteed nor 

warranted by the District to be complete and accurate.  The Contractor shall examine all 

subsurface data and acknowledges that its bid is based upon the information provided by the 

Preliminary Geotechnical and Geological Investigation, prepared by CTE, CAL, Inc., dated 

January 31, 2013, the Topographic Survey, prepared by Jensen Design & Survey, dated 

January 6, 2014, and Contractor’s own visual inspection of the site and the conditions 

observed and its own independent interpretation of such inspection and observation.  The 

District assumes no responsibility for any conclusions or interpretations made by Contractor 

on the basis of available subsurface data or other information furnished by District under the 

Contract Documents. 

4.3.3 Subsurface Conditions.   

4.3.3.1 Procedures. If the Work under the Contract Documents involves digging 

trenches or other excavations that extend deeper than four feet below the surface, the 

Contractor shall promptly and before the following conditions are disturbed, notify the 

District's Inspector, in writing, of any: (i) material that the Contractor believes may be 

material that is hazardous waste, as defined in California Health and Safety Code 

§25117, that is required to be removed to a Class I or Class II or Class III disposal site in 

accordance with provisions of existing law; (ii) subsurface or latent physical conditions 

at the site differing from those indicated by information about the site made available to 

Contractor prior to entering into the Agreement; or (iii) unknown physical conditions at 

the site of any unusual nature, different materially from those ordinarily encountered and 

generally recognized as inherent in the Work or the character provided for in the Contract 

Documents.  If upon notice to the District of the conditions described above and upon the 

District's investigation thereof, the District determines that the conditions so materially 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 62



differ or involve such hazardous materials which require an adjustment to the Contract 

Price or the Contract Time, the District shall issue a Change Order in accordance with 

Article 9 hereof.  In accordance with California Public Contract Code §7104, any dispute 

arising between the Contractor and the District as to any of the conditions listed in (i), (ii) 

or (iii) above, shall not excuse the Contractor from the completion of the Work within 

the Contract Time and the Contractor shall proceed with all Work to be performed under 

the Contract Documents.  The District reserves the right to terminate the Contract 

pursuant to Article 15.2 hereof should the District determine not to proceed because of 

any condition described in (i), (ii) or (iii) above. 

4.3.3.2 Trenching. For all excavations in excess of five (5) feet involving an 

estimated expenditure in excess of $25,000, Contractor shall submit to the District for 

acceptance a detailed Drawing showing the design of shoring, bracing, sloping or other 

provisions to be made for the protection of workmen from the hazard of caving ground.  

If such design varies from the standards established by the Construction Safety Orders of 

the California Division of Industrial Safety, the Drawing shall be prepared by a registered 

civil or structural engineer.  None of the aforementioned trenching shall be started before 

Contractor receives notification of acceptance from the District.  Contractor shall comply 

with all other applicable requirements of California Labor Code §6705, and, as therein 

provided, no provisions of that Section or this Section shall be construed to impose tort 

liability upon the District.  In any event, Contractor shall not commence any excavation 

work until it has secured all necessary permits including the required CAL OSHA 

excavation/shoring permit.  Any permits shall be prominently displayed on the Project 

premises prior to commencement of any excavation. 

4.4 Supervision and Construction Procedures. 

4.4.1 Supervision of the Work.  The Contractor shall supervise and direct performance of 

the Work, using the Contractor's best skill and attention.  The Contractor shall be solely 

responsible for, and have control over, construction means, methods, techniques, sequences 

and procedures and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract Documents, 

unless Contract Documents give other specific instructions concerning these matters. The 

Contractor shall be responsible for inspection of completed or partially completed portions of 

Work to determine that such portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent Work. 

4.4.2 Responsibility for the Work; Coordination of the Work.  The Contractor shall be 

responsible to the District for acts and omissions of the Contractor's employees, 

Subcontractors and their agents and employees, and all other persons performing any portion 

of the Work under a contract with the Contractor.  The Contractor shall not be relieved of the 

obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents either by 

activities or duties of the Project Manager, District’s Inspector or the Architect in the 

Architect's administration of the Agreement, or by tests, inspections or approvals required or 

performed by persons other than the Contractor.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all 

necessary or appropriate coordination of the Work and component parts thereof so that Final 

Completion of the Work will be achieved within the Contract Time and the Work will be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 63



completed for the Contract Price. The coordination of the Work is a material obligation of 

the Contractor hereunder and shall include without limitation, conducting regular 

coordination meetings with its Subcontractors and Material Suppliers, sequencing the 

operations of Subcontractors and Material Suppliers, and adapting its planned means, 

methods and sequences of construction operations as necessary to accommodate field or 

changed conditions at the Site. 

4.4.3 Surveys.  The Contractor shall prepare or cause to be prepared all detailed surveys 

necessary for performance of the Work.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the 

establishment, location, maintenance and preservation of benchmarks, reference points and 

stakes for the Work, the cost of which shall be included within the Contract Price.  The 

Contractor shall be solely responsible for all loss or costs resulting from the loss, destruction, 

disturbance or damage of benchmarks, reference points or stakes. 

4.4.4 Construction Utilities.  The Contractor shall arrange for the furnishing of and shall 

pay the costs of all utility services, including, without limitation, electricity, water, gas and 

telephone necessary for performance of the Work and the Contractor's obligations under the 

Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall furnish and install necessary or appropriate 

temporary distributions of utilities, including meters, to the Site.  Any such temporary 

distributions shall be removed by the Contractor upon completion of the Work.  The costs of 

all such utility services, including the installation and removal of temporary distributions 

thereof, shall be borne by the Contractor and included in the Contract Price. 

4.4.5 Existing Utilities; Removal, Relocation and Protection.  In accordance with 

California Government Code §4215, the District shall assume the responsibility for the 

timely removal, relocation, or protection of existing main or trunkline utility facilities located 

on the Site which are not identified in the drawings, specifications or other Contract 

Documents.  Contractor shall be compensated for the costs of locating, repairing damage not 

due to the Contractor's failure to exercise reasonable care, and removing or relocating such 

utility facilities not indicated in the drawings, specifications and other Contract Documents 

with reasonable accuracy, and for equipment on the Site necessarily idled during such work.  

Contractor shall not be assessed Liquidated Damages for delay in completion of the Work 

when such delay is caused by the failure of the District or the utility district to provide for 

removal or relocation of such utility facilities.  Nothing in this Article 4.4.5 shall be deemed 

to require the District to indicate the presence of existing service laterals or appurtenances 

whenever the presence of such utilities on the Site can be inferred from the presence of other 

visible facilities, such as buildings, meters and junction boxes, on or adjacent to the Site.  If 

the Contractor encounters utility facilities not identified by the District in the drawings, 

specifications, or other Contract Documents, the Contractor shall immediately notify, in 

writing, the District and the utility owner.  In the event that such utility facilities are owned 

by a public utility, the public utility shall have the sole discretion to perform repairs or 

relocation work or permit the Contractor to do such repairs or relocation work at a price 

determined in accordance with Article 9 of these General Conditions. 

4.5 Labor and Materials. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 64



4.5.1 Payment for Labor, Materials and Services.  Unless otherwise provided in the 

Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide and pay for labor, materials, equipment, 

tools, applicable taxes, and other facilities and services necessary for proper execution and 

completion of the Work, whether temporary or permanent and whether or not incorporated in 

the Work.  The Contractor, and each of its Subcontractors at every tier, shall comply with the 

requirements of California Education Code § 17407.5. 

4.5.2 Employee Discipline and Skills.  The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and 

good order among the Contractor's employees, the employees of any Subcontractor of any 

tier, and all other persons performing any part of the Work at the Site.  The Contractor shall 

not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not skilled in tasks assigned to them.  The 

Contractor shall dismiss from its project employees and direct any Subcontractor of any tier 

to dismiss from their employment on the project any person deemed by the District to be 

unfit or incompetent to perform Work and thereafter, the Contractor shall not employ nor 

permit the employment of such person for performance of any part of the Work without the 

prior written consent of the District, which consent may be withheld in the reasonable 

discretion of the District. 

4.5.3 Contractor's Superintendent and Project Manager.  The Contractor shall employ 

a competent superintendent, project manager and all necessary assistants who shall be in 

attendance at the Site at all times during performance of the Work.  The Contractor's 

communications relating to the Work or the Contract Documents shall be through the 

Contractor's superintendent and/or project manager.  The superintendent shall represent the 

Contractor at the Site and communications given to the superintendent shall be binding as if 

given to the Contractor.  The Contractor shall dismiss from the project the superintendent, 

project manager or any of his/her assistants if they are deemed, in the sole reasonable 

judgment of the District, to be unfit, incompetent or incapable of performing the functions 

assigned to them.  In such event, the District shall have the right to approve of the 

replacement superintendent, project manager or assistant. 

4.5.4 Prohibition on Harassment. 

4.5.4.1 District's Policy Prohibiting Harassment.  The District is committed to 

providing a campus and workplace free of sexual harassment and harassment based on 

factors such as race, color religion, national origin, ancestry, age, medical condition, 

marital status, disability or veteran status. Harassment includes without limitation, verbal, 

physical or visual conduct which creates an intimidating, offensive or hostile 

environment such as racial slurs; ethnic jokes; posting of offensive statements, posters or 

cartoons or similar conduct.  Sexual harassment includes without limitation the 

solicitation of sexual favors, unwelcome sexual advances, or other verbal, visual or 

physical conduct of a sexual nature. 

4.5.4.2 Contractor's Adoption of Anti-Harassment Policy.  Contractor shall adopt 

and implement all appropriate and necessary policies prohibiting any form of 

discrimination in the workplace, including without limitation harassment on the basis of 

any classification protected under local, state or federal law, regulation or policy.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 65



Contractor shall take all reasonable steps to prevent harassment from occurring, 

including without limitation affirmatively raising the subject of harassment among its 

employees, expressing strong disapproval of any form of harassment, developing 

appropriate sanctions, informing employees of their right to raise and how to raise the 

issue of harassment and informing complainants of the outcome of an investigation into a 

harassment claim.  Contractor shall require that any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor 

performing any portion of the Work to adopt and implement policies in conformity with 

this Article 4.5.4. 

4.5.4.3 Prohibition on Harassment at the Site.  Contractor shall not permit any 

person, whether employed by Contractor, a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor, or any 

other person or entity, performing any Work at or about the Site to engage in any 

prohibited form of harassment.  Any such person engaging in a prohibited form of 

harassment directed to any individual performing or providing any portion of the Work at 

or about the Site shall be subject to appropriate sanctions in accordance with the anti-

harassment policy adopted and implemented pursuant to Article 4.5.4.2 above.  Any 

person performing or providing Work on or about the Site who engages in a prohibited 

form of harassment directed to any student, faculty member or staff of the District or 

directed to any other person on or about the Site shall be subject to immediate removal 

and shall be prohibited thereafter from providing or performing any portion of the Work. 

 Upon the District's receipt of any notice or complaint that any person employed directly 

or indirectly by Contractor in performing or providing the Work has engaged in a 

prohibited form of harassment, the District will promptly undertake an investigation of 

such notice or complaint.  In the event that the District, after such investigation, 

reasonably determines that a prohibited form of harassment has occurred, the District 

shall promptly notify the Contractor of the same and direct that the person engaging in 

such conduct be immediately removed from the Site.  Unless the District's determination 

that a prohibited form of harassment has occurred is grossly negligent or without 

reasonable cause, the District shall have no liability for directing the removal of any 

person determined to have engaged in a prohibited form of harassment nor shall the 

Contract Price or the Contract Time be adjusted on account thereof.  Contractor and the 

Surety shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the District and its employees, officers, 

Board of Trustees, agents, and representatives from any and all claims, liabilities, 

judgments, awards, actions or causes of actions, including without limitation, attorneys' 

fees, which arise out of, or pertain in any manner to: (i) the assertion by any person 

dismissed from performing or providing work at the direction of the District pursuant to 

this Article 4.5.4.3; or (ii) the assertion by any person that any person directly or 

indirectly under the employment or direction of the Contractor has engaged in a 

prohibited form of harassment directed to or affecting such person.  The obligations of 

the Contractor and the Surety under the preceding sentence are in addition to, and not in 

lieu of, any other obligation of defense, indemnity and hold harmless whether arising 

under the Contract Documents, at law or otherwise; these obligations survive completion 

of the Work or the termination of the Agreement. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 66



4.6 Taxes.  The Contractor shall pay, without adjustment of the Contract Price, all sales, 

consumer, use and other taxes for the Work or portions thereof provided by the Contractor under the 

Contract Documents. 

4.7 Permits, Fees and Notices; Compliance with Laws. 

4.7.1 Payment of Permits, Fees.  The District shall secure and pay for Division of the 

State Architect Fees, Inspector of  Record costs, Materials Testing and Inspections costs 

mandated by D.S.A., Special Inspection costs mandated by DSA, EPA General Permit Notice 

of Intent to Comply fee, and California State Water Resources Control Board Annual Permit 

fees.  All other fee and permit costs will be carried under an allowance established in the 

Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal. In the event that actual fee and permit costs exceed the 

value of the allowance established in the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal, through no 

negligence of Contractor, Contractor shall be reimbursed from the GMP Allowance. 

 

4.7.2 Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required 

by laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and other orders of public authorities bearing on 

performance of the Work. 

The Work may only be awarded to contractors and subcontractors that are registered with the 

Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5. 

4.7.3 Notice of Variation from Laws.  If the Contractor knows, or has reason to believe, 

that any portion of the Contract Documents are at variance with applicable laws, statutes, 

ordinances, building codes, regulations or rules, the Contractor shall promptly notify the 

District, in writing, of the same.  If the Contractor performs Work knowing, or with 

reasonable diligence should have known, it to be contrary to laws, statutes, ordinances, 

building codes, rules or regulations applicable to the Work without such notice to the 

District, the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such Work and shall bear the 

attributable costs arising or associated therefrom, including without limitation, the removal, 

replacement or correction of the same. 

4.8 Submittals. 

4.8.1 Purpose of Submittals.  Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar 

submittals (collectively “Submittals”) are not Contract Documents.  The purpose for 

submission of Submittals is to demonstrate, for those portions of the Work for which 

Submittals are required, the manner in which the Contractor proposes to provide or 

incorporate such item of the Work in conformity with the information given and the design 

concept expressed in the Contract Documents. 

4.8.2 Contractor's Submittals. 

4.8.2.1 Prompt Submittals.  The Contractor shall review, confirm and submit to the 

Architect with the number of copies of Submittals within the timeframes required by the 

Contract Documents. Contractor’s submission of Submittals in conformity with the 

Submittal Schedule is a material consideration of the Agreement.  In the event that the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 67



District reasonably determines that all or any portion of any Submittal fails to comply 

with the requirements of the Contract Documents and/or such Submittals are not 

otherwise complete and accurate so as to require re-submission more than one (1) time, 

Contractor shall bear all costs associated with the review and approval of such 

resubmitted Submittals; provided that such costs are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any 

liquidated damages imposed under the Contract Documents for Contractor's delayed 

submission of Submittals.  Submittals not required by the Contract Documents may be 

returned without action.  No adjustment to the Contract Time or the Contract Price shall 

be granted to the Contractor on account of its failure to make timely submission of any 

Submittals. 

4.8.2.2 Approval of Contractor’s Confirmation of Submittals.  All Submittals 

prepared by Subcontractors, of any tier, Material Suppliers, manufacturers or distributors 

shall bear the written approval of the Contractor thereto prior to submission to the 

Architect for review.  Any Submittal not bearing the Contractor's written approval shall 

be subject to return to the Contractor for re-submittal in conformity herewith, with the 

same being deemed to not have been submitted. Any delay, impact or cost associated 

therewith shall be the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Contractor without 

adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract Price. 

4.8.2.3 Verification of Submittal Information.  By approving and submitting 

Submittals, the Contractor represents to the District and Architect that the Contractor has 

determined and verified materials, field measurements, field construction criteria, catalog 

numbers and similar data related thereto and has checked and coordinated the 

information contained within such Submittals with the requirements of the Work and of 

the Contract Documents. 

4.8.2.4 Information Included in Submittals.  All Submittals shall be accompanied 

by a written transmittal or other writing by the Contractor providing an identification of 

the portion of the drawings or the specifications pertaining to the Submittal, with each 

Submittal numbered consecutively for ease of reference along with the following 

information: (i) date of submission; (ii) project name; (iii) name of submitting 

Subcontractor; and (iv) if applicable, the revision number.  The foregoing information is 

in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other information required for the Architect's 

review, evaluation and approval of the Contractor's Submittals. 

4.8.2.5 Contractor Responsibility for Deviations.  The Contractor shall not be 

relieved of responsibility for correcting deviations from the requirements of the Contract 

Documents by the Architect's approval of Submittals unless the Contractor has 

specifically informed the Architect in writing of such deviation at the time of submission 

of the Submittal and the District has given written approval to the specific deviation.  The 

Contractor shall not be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Submittals by 

the Architect’s approval thereof. 

4.8.2.6 No Performance of Work without Approval.  The Contractor shall perform 

no portion of the Work requiring the Architect’s review and approval of Submittals until 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 68



the Architect has completed its review and granted its approval of such Submittal.  The 

Contractor shall not perform any portion of the Work forming a part of a Submittal or 

which is affected by a related Submittal until the entirety of the Submittal or other related 

Submittal has been fully approved.  

4.8.3 Architect Review of Submittals.  The purpose of the Architect’s review of 

Submittals and the time for the Architect’s return of Submittals to the Contractor shall be as 

set forth elsewhere in the Contract Documents, including without limitation, Article 3.1.6 of 

the General Conditions.  If the Architect returns a Submittal as rejected or requiring 

correction(s) and re-submission, the Contractor, so as not to delay the progress of the Work, 

shall promptly thereafter resubmit a Submittal conforming to the requirements of the 

Contract Documents; the resubmitted Submittal shall indicate the portions thereof modified 

in order to obtain the Architect's approval.  When professional certification of performance 

criteria of materials, systems or equipment is required by the Contract Documents, the 

Architect shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy and completeness of such calculations 

and certifications accompanying Submittals.  The Architect's review of the Submittals is for 

the limited purposes described in the Contract Documents. 

4.8.4 Deferred Approval Items.  In the event that any portion of the Work is designated in 

the Contract Documents as a "Deferred Approval" item, Contractor shall be solely and 

exclusively responsible for the preparation of Submittals for such item(s) in a timely manner 

so as not to delay or hinder the completion of the Work within the Contract Time. 

4.9 Materials and Equipment. 

4.9.1 Specified Materials, Equipment.  Except as otherwise provided, references in the 

Contract Documents to any specific article, device, equipment, product, material, fixture, 

patented process, form, method or type of construction, by name, make, trade name, or 

catalog number, with or without the words "or equal" shall be deemed to establish a 

minimum standard of quality or performance, and shall not be construed as limiting 

competition.   

4.9.2 Approval of Or Equal, Substitutions or Alternatives.  The Contractor may propose 

to furnish alternatives or substitutes for a particular item specified in the Contract 

Documents, provided that the Contractor provides advance written notice to the District of 

such proposed or equal, substitution or alternative and certifies to the District that the quality, 

performance capability, functionality and appearance of the proposed alternative or substitute 

will meet or exceed the quality, performance capability, functionality, and appearance of the 

item or process specified, and must demonstrate to the District that the use of the substitution 

or alternative is appropriate and will not delay completion of the Work or result in an 

increase to the Contract Price.  The Contractor shall submit all data to the District to permit 

the Architect’s proper evaluation of the proposed substitution or alternative.  The Contractor 

shall not provide, furnish or install any substitution or alternative without the District's prior 

approval of the same; any alternative or substitution installed or incorporated into the Work 

without first obtaining the District's approval of the same shall be subject to removal 

pursuant to Article 12 hereof.  The District's decision shall be final regarding the approval or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 69



disapproval of the Contractor's proposed substitutions or alternatives. The District’s approval 

of any Contractor-proposed substitution shall be in accordance with Change Order 

procedures set forth in Article 9 and as otherwise specified in the Contract Documents. 

4.9.3 Placement of Material and Equipment Orders.  Contractor shall, after entering 

into the Agreement, promptly and timely place all orders for materials and/or equipment 

necessary for completion of the Work so that delivery of the same shall be made without 

delay or interruption to the timely completion of the Work.  Contractor shall require that any 

Subcontractor of any tier performing any portion of the Work similarly place orders for all 

materials and/or equipment to be furnished by any such Subcontractor.  Upon request of the 

District, the Contractor shall furnish reasonably satisfactory written evidence of the 

placement of orders for materials and/or equipment necessary for completion of the Work, 

including without limitation, orders for materials and/or equipment to be provided, furnished 

or installed by any Subcontractor of any tier. 

4.9.4 District's Right to Place Orders for Materials and/or Equipment. If the 

Contractor fails or refuses to provide reasonably satisfactory written evidence of the 

placement of orders for materials and/or equipment necessary for completion of the Work, or 

should the District determine, in its sole and reasonable discretion, that such orders have not 

been placed in a manner that assures timely delivery of such materials and/or equipment to 

the Site so the Work can be completed without delay or interruption, the District shall have 

the right, but not the obligation, to place such orders on behalf of the Contractor.  If the 

District exercises such right, the District’s conduct in that regard does not assume control of 

the work.  Rather, Contractor remains responsible for the means, methods, techniques, 

sequences or procedures for completion of the Work and is not relieved from any of 

Contractor's obligations under the Contract Documents, including without limitation, 

completion of the Work within the Contract Time and for the Contract Price.  If the District 

exercises the right hereunder to place orders for materials and/or equipment on behalf of 

Contractor pursuant to the foregoing, Contractor shall reimburse the District for all costs and 

fees incurred by the District in placing such orders; such costs and fees may be deducted by 

the District from the Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.10 Safety. 

4.10.1 Safety Programs.  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, 

maintaining and supervising all safety programs required by applicable law, ordinance, 

regulation or governmental orders in connection with the performance of the Agreement, or 

otherwise required by the type or nature of the Work.  The Contractor shall require that its 

Subcontractors similarly initiate and maintain all appropriate or required safety programs. 

4.10.2 Safety Precautions.  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating and 

maintaining reasonable precautions for safety of, and shall provide reasonable protection to 

prevent damage, injury or loss to:  (i) employees on the Work and other persons who may be 

affected thereby; (ii) the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, 

whether in storage on or off the site, under care, custody or control of the Contractor or the 

Contractor's Subcontractors of any tier; and (iii) other property or items at the site of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 70



Work, or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, 

structures and utilities whether or not designated for removal, relocation or replacement in 

the course of construction. The Contractor shall erect and maintain, as required by existing 

conditions and conditions resulting from performance of the Agreement, reasonable 

safeguards for safety and protection of property and persons, including, without limitation, 

posting danger signs and other warnings against hazards, promulgating safety regulations and 

notifying Districts and users of adjacent sites and utilities.  The Contractor shall give or post 

all notices required by applicable law and comply with applicable laws, ordinances, rules, 

regulations and lawful orders of public authorities bearing on safety of persons or property or 

their protection from damage, injury or loss. 

4.10.3 Safety Coordinator.  The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of the 

Contractor's organization at the Site whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents and the 

implementation and maintenance safety precautions and programs.  This person shall be the 

Contractor's superintendent unless otherwise designated by the Contractor in writing to the 

District. 

4.10.4 Emergencies.  In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the 

Contractor shall act, to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss. 

 

4.11 Hazardous Materials. 

4.11.1 Use of Hazardous Materials.  In the event that the Contractor, any Subcontractor or 

anyone employed directly or indirectly by them shall use, at the Site, or incorporate into the 

Work, any material or substance deemed to be hazardous or toxic under any law, rule, 

ordinance, regulation or interpretation thereof (collectively "Hazardous Materials"), the 

Contractor shall comply with all laws, rules, ordinances or regulations applicable thereto and 

shall exercise all necessary safety precautions relating to the use, storage or disposal thereof.  

Unless otherwise provided, Contractor shall be solely responsible for the transportation and 

disposal of any Hazardous Materials on or about the Site. 

4.11.2 Prohibition on Use of Asbestos Containing Building Materials ("ACBMs").  

Notwithstanding any provision of the drawings or the specifications to the contrary, it is the 

intent of the District that ACBMs not be used or incorporated into any portion of the Work.  

If any portion of the Work depicted in the drawings or the specifications shall require 

materials or products which the Contractor knows, or should have known with reasonably 

diligent investigation, to contain ACBMs, Contractor shall promptly notify the District of the 

same so that an appropriate alternative can be made in a timely manner so as not to delay the 

progress of the Work.  Contractor warrants to the District that there are no materials or 

products used or incorporated into the Work which contain ACBMs.  Whether before or after 

completion of the Work, if it is discovered that any product or material forming a part of the 

Work or incorporated into the Work contains ACBMs, the Contractor shall at its sole cost 

and expense remove such product or material in accordance with any laws, rules, procedures 

and regulations applicable to the handling, removal and disposal of ACBMs and to replace 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 71



such product or material with non-ACBM products or materials and to return the affected 

portion(s) of the Work to the finish condition depicted in the drawings and specifications 

relating to such portion(s) of the Work.  Contractor's obligations under the preceding 

sentence shall survive the termination of the Agreement, the warranty period provided under 

the Contract Documents, the Contractor's completion of the Work or the District's acceptance 

of the Work.  In the event that the Contractor shall fail or refuse, for any reason, to 

commence the removal and replacement of any material or product containing ACBMs 

forming a part of, or incorporated into the Work, within ten (10) days of the date of the 

District's written notice to the Contractor of the existence of ACBM materials or products in 

the Work, the District may thereafter proceed to cause the removal and replacement of such 

materials or products in any manner which the District determines to be reasonably necessary 

and appropriate; all costs, expenses and fees, incurred by the District in connection with such 

removal and replacement shall be the responsibility of the Contractor and the Contractor's 

Performance Bond Surety. 

4.11.3 Encountering of Hazardous Materials.  If the Contractor encounters Hazardous 

Materials at the Site which have not been rendered harmless or for which there is no 

provision in the Contract Documents for their containment, removal, abatement or handling, 

the Contractor shall immediately stop the Work in the affected area and shall immediately 

notify the District, in writing, of such condition.  If Contractor fails to immediately stop the 

affected portion of the Work after discovery, then Contractor is solely responsible for any 

resultant Exacerbation Costs.  “Exacerbate,” in all its forms, means the worsening effects of 

Contractor’s failure to stop the affected portion of work after the discovery.  “Exacerbation 

Cost” means the differential between (i) the actual increase in the cost of remediation and 

delays to the Project attributable to pre-existing environmental conditions involving 

hazardous substances, and (ii) the cost thereof or delays thereto had Contractor immediately 

stopped the affected portion of the work after the discovery.  The standard of “should have 

known” applies to Contractor’s supervisory personnel, whether or not on the Site.  

Contractor’s supervisory personnel must have had the hazardous material training required 

by applicable OSHA and Cal OSHA rules or regulations. 

The Contractor shall diligently proceed with the Work in all other unaffected areas.  The 

Contractor shall proceed with the Work in the affected area only after the Hazardous 

Materials have been rendered harmless, contained, removed or abated. Adjustments, if any, 

to the Contract Time or Price shall be made in accordance with Articles 7 and 9. 

4.11.4 Material Safety Data Sheets.  Contractor is required to insure that Material Safety 

Data Sheets (MSDS) for any material requiring a MSDS pursuant to the federal “hazard 

communication” standard or employee’s right-to-know law are available in a readily 

accessible place on the Work premises.  The Contractor is also required to insure (i) the 

proper labeling of any substance brought onto the Work premises, and (ii) that the persons 

working with the material, or within the general area of the material, are informed about the 

hazards of the substance and follow proper handling and protection procedures. 

4.11.5 Compliance with Proposition 65.  Contractor is required to comply with the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 72



provisions of California Health and Safety Code § 25249.5, et seq., which requires the 

posting and giving of notice to persons who may be exposed to any chemical known to the 

State of California to cause cancer. The Contractor agrees to familiarize itself with such 

statutory provisions and to fully comply with the requirements set forth therein. 

4.12 Maintenance of Documents. 

4.12.1 Documents at Site.  The Contractor shall maintain at the Site: (i) one record copy of 

the drawings, specifications and all addenda thereto; (ii) Change Orders approved by the 

District and all other modifications to the Contract Documents; (iii) Submittals reviewed by 

the Architect; (iv) Requests for Information and responses thereto; (v) Record Documents; 

(vi) Material Safety Data Sheets (“MSDS”) accompanying any materials, equipment or 

products delivered or stored at the Site or incorporated into the Work; and (vii) all building 

and other codes or regulations applicable to the Work, including without limitation, Title 24, 

Part 2 of the California Code of Regulations.  During performance of the Work, all 

documents maintained by Contractor at the Site shall be available to the District, the Project 

Manager, the Architect, the District’s Inspector and DSA for review, inspection or 

reproduction.  Upon completion of the Work, all documents maintained at the Site by the 

Contractor pursuant to the foregoing, except for (vii), shall be assembled and transmitted to 

the District. 

4.12.2 Maintenance of Record Documents. During its performance of the Work, the 

Contractor shall continuously maintain Record Documents which are marked to indicate all 

field changes made to adapt the Work depicted in the Documents to field conditions, changes 

resulting from Change Orders and all concealed or buried installations, including without 

limitation, piping, conduit and utility services.  The Record Documents shall be clean and all 

changes, corrections and dimensions shall be marked in a neat and legible manner in a 

contrasting color.  The District’s inspection or review shall not be deemed to be the District's 

approval or verification of the completeness or accuracy of the Record Documents.  The 

failure or refusal of the Contractor to continuously maintain complete and accurate Record 

Documents or to make available the Record Documents for inspection and review by the 

District may be deemed by the District to be Contractor's default of a material obligation 

hereunder.  Payments to the Contractor are conditioned upon continuous maintenance and 

completion of the Record Documents pursuant to Articles 8.3.2 and 8.3.3.  If the Contractor 

fails or refuses to continuously maintain the Record Documents in a complete and accurate 

manner, the District may take appropriate action to cause such maintenance, and all costs 

incurred in connection therewith shall be charged to the Contractor; the District may deduct 

such costs from any portion of the Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.13 Use of Site.  The Contractor shall confine operations at the Site to areas permitted by law, 

ordinances or permits, subject to any restrictions or limitations set forth in the Contract Documents.  

The Contractor shall not unreasonably encumber the Site or adjoining areas with materials or 

equipment.  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing security at the Site with all such 

costs included in the Contract Price.  The District shall at all times have access to the Site. 

4.14 Noise and Dust Control.  The Contractor shall be responsible for complying with the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 73



requirements of the city and county having jurisdiction with regard to noise ordinances governing 

construction sites and activities.  Construction equipment noise is subject to the control of the 

Environmental Protection Agency’s Noise Control Program (Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, 

Part 204).  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for maintaining all areas of the Work free from 

all materials and products that by becoming airborne may cause respiratory inconveniences to 

District students and personnel.  Damages and/or any liability derived from the Contractor’s failure 

to comply with these requirements shall be the sole cost of the Contractor, including all penalties 

incurred for violations of local, state and/or federal regulations. 

4.15 Cutting and Patching.  The Contractor shall be responsible for cutting, fitting or patching 

required to complete the Work or to make the component parts thereof fit together properly in 

accordance with the Contract Documents.  Only tradespersons skilled and experienced in cutting and 

patching shall perform such work.  The Contractor shall not damage or endanger any portion of the 

Work, or the fully or partially completed construction of the District or separate contractors by 

cutting, patching, excavation or other alteration.  The Contractor shall not cut, patch or otherwise 

alter the construction by the District or separate contractor without the prior written consent of the 

District or separate contractor thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The 

Contractor shall not unreasonably withhold consent to the request of the District or separate 

contractor to cut, patch or otherwise alter the Work. 

4.16 Clean-Up.  The Contractor shall at all times keep the Site and all adjoining areas free from 

the accumulation of any waste material, rubbish or excess materials and equipment, placed, caused 

by performance of the Work.  The Contractor shall maintain the Site in a "rake-clean" standard on a 

daily basis.  Prior to completion of the Work, Contractor shall remove from the Site all rubbish, 

waste and excess material, tools, Construction Equipment, machinery, temporary facilities and 

barricades, and any other items which are not the property of the District under the Contract 

Documents.  Upon completion of the Work, the Site and all adjoining areas shall be left in a neat and 

broom clean condition satisfactory to District.  The Project Manager is authorized to direct the 

Contractor's clean-up obligations hereunder. If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided for in the 

Contract Documents, the District may do so, and all costs incurred in connection therewith shall be 

charged to the Contractor; the District may deduct such costs from any portion of the Contract Price 

then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.17 Access to the Work.  The Contractor shall provide the DSA, the District, the Project 

Manager, the District's Inspector, the Architect and the Architect's consultant(s) with access to the 

Work, whether in place, preparation and progress and wherever located. 

4.18 Information for the District's Inspector.  The Contractor shall furnish the District's 

Inspector access to the Work for obtaining such information as may be necessary to keep the 

District's Inspector fully informed respecting the progress, quality and character of the Work and 

materials, equipment or other items incorporated therein. 

4.19 Inspector’s Field Office.  The Contractor shall provide and include in the Contract Price a 

temporary furnished office at the Site, if specified in the Contract Documents, for use by the District, 

the Project Manager and the District's Inspector, until removal of the same is authorized by the 

District. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 74



4.20 Patents and Royalties.  The Contractor and the Surety shall defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless the District and its agents, employees and officers from any claim, demand or legal 

proceeding arising out of or pertaining, in any manner, to any actual or claimed infringement of 

patent rights in connection with performance of the Work under the Contract Documents. 

4.21 Prevailing Wage Rates; Employment of Labor. 

4.21.1 Determination of Prevailing Rates.  Pursuant to the provisions of Division 2, Part 7, 

Chapter 1, Article 2 of the California Labor Code at §§1770 et seq., the District has obtained 

from the Director of the Department of Industrial Relations the general prevailing rate of per 

diem wages and the prevailing rate for holiday and overtime work in the locality in which the 

Work is to be performed.  These rates are on file at the District’s principal office.  The 

Contractor shall post, at appropriate and conspicuous locations on the Site, a schedule 

showing all determined general prevailing wage rates. 

4.21.2 Payment of Prevailing Rates.  This Project is a public works project as defined in 

Labor Code §1720, and must be performed in accordance with the requirements of Labor 

Code §§1720 to 1815 and Title 8 California Code of Regulations §§16000 to 17270, which 

govern the payment of prevailing wage rates on public works projects.  The Contractor, and 

any Subcontractor, of any tier, shall pay their workers engaged in the Work not less than the 

general prevailing wage rate, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged 

to exist between the Contractor or any Subcontractor, of any tier, and such worker. 

Contractor, consistent with California Public Contract Code §6109, is prohibited from 

performing a portion of work with a Subcontractor who is debarred pursuant to Labor Code 

§§1777.1 or 1777.7. 

This Project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of 

Industrial Relations. 

To the extent applicable, the Contractor shall furnish the records specified in Labor Code 

§1776 directly to the Labor Commissioner at least every thirty (30) days, in a format 

prescribed by the Labor Commissioner. 

4.21.3 Prevailing Wage Penalty.  The Contractor shall, as a penalty, forfeit up to Fifty 

Dollars ($50.00) to the District for each calendar day or portion thereof, for each worker paid 

less than the prevailing rates as determined by the Director of the Department of Industrial 

Relations for such work or craft in which such worker is employed for the Work by the 

Contractor or by any Subcontractor, of any tier.  Pursuant to California Labor Code §1775, 

the difference between prevailing wage rates and the amount paid to each worker each 

calendar day, or portion thereof, for which each worker paid less than the prevailing wage 

rate, shall be paid to each worker by the Contractor. 

4.21.4 Sufficient Contract Price.   Contractor represents and warrants that the Contract 

Price includes sufficient funds to allow Contractor and all Subcontractors to comply with all 

applicable laws and contractual agreements.  Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold the 

District harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities and 

damages arising out of or relating to the failure of Contractor or any Subcontractor to comply 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 75



with any applicable law in this regard, including, but not limited to Labor Code §2810.  

Contractor agrees to pay any and all assessments, including wages, penalties, forfeitures and 

liquidated damages, made or asserted against the District in relation to any such failure. 

4.21.5 Payroll Records. 

4.21.5.1 Submission of Certified Payroll Records to District.  Pursuant to California 

Labor Code §1776, the Contractor and each Subcontractor, of any tier, shall keep an 

accurate certified payroll record, showing the name, address, social security number, 

work classification, straight time and overtime hours worked each day and week, and the 

actual per diem wages paid to each person employed for the Work.  If there is no work in 

a given week or on a given day, Contractor and each Subcontractor must keep a certified 

Non-Performance payroll record, indicating “no work” for that week or day(s).  

Contractor shall submit all certified payroll records to the Program Manager in complete, 

unredacted form with an original signature on the Statement of Compliance along with, 

and as a condition to, its Application for Payment. 

4.21.5.2 Inspection of Certified Payroll Records.  Additionally, the certified payroll 

records shall be available for inspection at all reasonable hours at the principal office of 

the Contractor on the following basis:  (i) a certified copy of an employee's payroll record 

shall be made available for inspection or furnished to such employee or his/her 

authorized representative on request; (ii) a certified copy of all payroll records shall be 

made available for inspection or furnished upon request to the District, the Division of 

Labor Standards Enforcement and the Division of Apprenticeship Standards of the 

Department of Industrial Relations; (iii) a certified copy of all payroll records shall be 

made available upon request to the public for inspection or copies thereof made; 

provided, however, that a request by the public shall be made through either the District, 

the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor Standards 

Enforcement.  If the requested payroll records have not been provided, the requesting 

party shall, prior to being provided the records, reimburse the cost of preparation by the 

Contractor, Subcontractors and the entity through which the request was made.  The 

public shall not be given access to such records at the principal office of the Contractor; 

(iv) the Contractor shall file a certified copy of the payroll records with the entity that 

requested such records within ten (10) days after receipt of a written request; (v) any copy 

of records made available for inspection as copies and furnished upon request to the 

public or any public agency by the District, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards or 

the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement shall be marked or obliterated in such a 

manner as to prevent disclosure of an individual's name, address and social security 

number.  The name and address of the Contractor or any Subcontractor, of any tier, 

performing a part of the Work shall not be marked or obliterated.  The Contractor shall 

inform the District of the location of payroll records, including the street address, city and 

county and shall, within five (5) working days, provide a notice of a change or location 

and address. 

4.21.5.3 Submission of Payroll Records.  Contractor shall provide, and shall cause all 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 76



Subcontractors to provide, payroll records as defined in Title 8 California Code of 

Regulations §16000 to the District, within ten (10) days of written request, at no cost to 

the District.  The District will not return documents to Contractor. 

4.21.5.4  Penalty For Noncompliance.  In the event of noncompliance with the 

requirements of this Article 4.21.5, the Contractor shall have ten (10) days in which to 

comply, subsequent to receipt of written notice specifying in what respects the Contractor 

must comply herewith.  Should noncompliance still be evident after such 10-day period, 

the Contractor shall, as a penalty to the District, forfeit Twenty-Five Dollars ($25.00) for 

each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker, until strict compliance is 

effectuated.  Upon the request of the Division of Apprenticeship Standards or the 

Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, such penalties shall be withheld from any 

portion of the Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor. The responsibility for 

compliance with the foregoing provisions shall rest upon the Contractor. 

4.21.5.5  Liquidated Damages.  Should Contractor neglect, fail or refuse to submit any 

documents pursuant to this Article 4.21.5, Contractor agrees to pay to the District the 

sum of twenty-five ($25) dollars per worker per day in liquidated damages, not as a 

penalty but as liquidated damages, for every day beyond ten (10) days after such 

documents are due.  The liquidated damages amounts are agreed upon by and between 

the Contractor and the District because of the difficulty of fixing the District’s actual 

damages in the event of failure to submit such documents.  The Contractor and District 

specifically agree that said amounts are reasonable estimates of the District’s damages in 

such event, and that such amounts do not constitute a penalty.  The Contractor and 

District acknowledge and agree that the liquidated damages contained in this provision 

are reasonable under the circumstances existing at the time of the Contractor’s execution 

of the Agreement. 

4.21.6 Hours of Work. 

4.21.6.1 Limits on Hours of Work.  Pursuant to California Labor Code §1810, eight 

(8) hours of labor shall constitute a legal day's work.  Pursuant to California Labor Code 

§1811, the time of service of any worker employed at any time by the Contractor or by a 

Subcontractor, of any tier, upon the Work or upon any part of the Work, is limited and 

restricted to eight (8) hours during any one calendar day and forty (40) hours during any 

one calendar week, except as hereafter provided.  Notwithstanding the foregoing 

provisions, Work performed by employees of Contractor or any Subcontractor, of any 

tier, in excess of eight (8) hours per day and forty (40) hours during any one week, shall 

be permitted upon compensation for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day 

at not less than one and one-half (1½) times the basic rate of pay. 

4.21.6.2 Penalty for Excess Hours.  The Contractor shall pay to the District a penalty 

of Twenty-five Dollars ($25.00) for each worker employed on the Work by the 

Contractor or any Subcontractor, of any tier, for each calendar day during which such 

worker is required or permitted to work more than eight (8) hours in any calendar day and 

forty (40) hours in any one calendar week, in violation of the provisions of Labor Code 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 77



§1810 et seq. 

4.21.6.3 Contractor Responsibility.  Any Work performed by workers necessary to 

be performed after regular working hours or on Sundays or other holidays shall be 

performed without adjustment to the Contract Price or any other additional expense to the 

District. 

4.21.7 Apprentices.  

4.21.7.1 Employment of Apprentices.  Labor Code §1777.5 and Title 8 California 

Code of Regulations §200 et seq. provide detailed requirements for employing 

apprentices on public works projects.  Contractor is responsible for compliance with 

Labor Code §1777.5 and applicable regulations on the Project.  This responsibility 

includes, but is not limited to, the obligation to employ properly registered apprentices 

and pay such apprentices at least the prevailing wage rate for their appropriate apprentice 

classification.  Only apprentices, as defined in California Labor Code §3077 who are in 

training under apprenticeship standards and written apprenticeship agreements under 

California Labor Code §§3070 et seq. are eligible to be employed for the Work.  The 

employment and training of each apprentice shall be in accordance with the provisions of 

the apprenticeship standards and apprentice agreements under which such apprentice is 

training. Any apprentices employed to perform any of the Work shall be paid the 

standard wage paid to apprentices under the regulations of the craft or trade for which 

such apprentice is employed, and such individual shall be employed only for the work of 

the craft or trade to which such individual is registered.  This Article 4.21.7 shall not 

apply to contracts of general contractors, or to contracts of specialty contractors not 

bidding for work through a general or prime contractor, when the contract involves less 

than Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000.00).  The term "Apprenticeable Craft or Trade," 

as used herein shall mean a craft or trade determined as an apprenticeable occupation in 

accordance with rules and regulations prescribed by the Apprenticeship Council. 

4.21.7.2 Apprenticeship Certificate.  When the Contractor or any Subcontractor, of 

any tier, in performing any of the Work employs workers in any Apprenticeable Craft or 

Trade, the Contractor and such Subcontractor shall apply to the Joint Apprenticeship 

Committee administering the apprenticeship standards of the craft or trade in the area of 

the site of the Work for and obtain a certificate approving the Contractor or such 

Subcontractor under the apprenticeship standards for the employment and training of 

apprentices in the area or industry affected, provided, however, that the approval as 

established by the Joint Apprenticeship Committee or Committees shall be subject to the 

approval of the Administrator of Apprenticeship.  Contractors or Subcontractors shall not 

be required to submit individual applications for approval to local Joint Apprenticeship 

Committees provided they are already covered by the local apprenticeship standards for 

that craft or trade. 

4.21.7.3 Contract Award Information.  Contractor shall submit contract award 

information using the Division of Apprenticeship Standards (DAS 140) Form to the 

applicable apprenticeship committee within ten (10) days of the date of execution of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 78



Agreement and no later than the first day of work as per Title 8 California Code of 

Regulations §230.  Contractor shall submit a copy of the completed DAS 140 Form to 

the District’s Labor Compliance Program at the same time. 

4.21.7.4 Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen.  The ratio of Work performed by 

apprentices to journeymen, who shall be employed in the Work, may be no higher than 

the ratio stipulated in the apprenticeship standards under which the Joint Apprenticeship 

Committee operates, but in no case shall the ratio be less than one hour of apprentice 

work for each five hours of labor performed by a journeyman, except as otherwise 

provided in California Labor Code §1777.5.  Any ratio shall apply during any day or 

portion of a day when any journeyman is employed at the site of the Work and shall be 

computed on the basis of the hours worked during the day by journeymen so employed.  

The Contractor shall employ apprentices for the number of hours computed as above 

before the end of the Agreement, and Subcontractors before the end of the subcontract.  

The Contractor shall, however, endeavor, to the greatest extent possible, to employ 

apprentices during the same time period that the journeymen in the same craft or trade are 

employed at the site of the Work.   Any Work performed by a journeyman in excess of 

eight hours per day or 40 hours per week shall not be used to calculate the hourly ratio 

required by this Article.  Where an hourly apprenticeship ratio is not feasible for a 

particular craft or trade, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, upon application of an 

apprenticeship committee, may order a minimum ratio of not less than one apprentice for 

each five journeymen in a craft or trade classification.  Upon proper showing by the 

Contractor or Subcontractor that it employs apprentices in such craft or trade in the State 

of California on all of its contracts on an annual average of not less than one apprentice 

to each five journeymen, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards may grant a certificate 

exempting the Contractor from the 1-to-5 ratio as set forth in this Article and California 

Labor Code §1777.5. 

4.21.7.5 Exemption from Ratios.  The Joint Apprenticeship Committee shall have the 

discretion to grant a certificate, which shall be subject to the approval of the 

Administrator of Apprenticeship, exempting the Contractor from the 1-to-5 ratio set forth 

in this Article when it finds that any one of the following conditions are met: (i) 

unemployment for the previous three-month period in such area exceeds an average of 

fifteen percent (15%) or; (ii) the number of apprentices in training in such area exceeds a 

ratio of 1-to-5 in relation to journeymen, or; (iii) the Apprenticeable Craft or Trade is 

replacing at least one-thirtieth (1/30) of its journeymen annually through apprenticeship 

training, either on a statewide basis or on a local basis, or; (iv) if assignment of an 

apprentice to any Work performed under a public works contract would create a 

condition which would jeopardize such apprentice's life or the life, safety or property of 

fellow employees or the public at large, or if the specific task to which the apprentice is 

to be assigned is of such a nature that training cannot be provided by a journeyman.  

When such exemptions from the 1-to-5 ratio between apprentices and journeymen are 

granted to an organization which represents contractors in a specific trade on a local or 

statewide basis, the member contractors will not be required to submit individual 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 79



applications for approval to local Joint Apprenticeship Committees, provided they are 

already covered by the local apprenticeship standards. 

4.21.7.6 Contractor's Compliance.  The responsibility of compliance with this 

Article for all Apprenticeable Trades or Crafts is that of the Contractor.  In the event the 

Contractor knowingly fails to comply with the provisions of this Article and California 

Labor Code §1777.5, pursuant to California Labor Code §1777.7, the Contractor shall 

forfeit, as a civil penalty, not more than One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) for each calendar 

day of noncompliance.  A contractor or subcontractor that knowingly commits a second 

or subsequent violation of this Article and California Labor Code §1777.5 shall forfeit as 

a civil penalty not more than Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) for each calendar day of 

noncompliance.  Notwithstanding the provisions of California Labor Code §1727, upon 

receipt of a determination that a civil penalty has been assessed by the Chief of the 

Division of Apprenticeship Standards, the District shall withhold such amount from the 

Contract Price then due or to become due.  In the event a Contractor or Subcontractor is 

determined by the Chief to have knowingly committed a serious violation of Labor Code 

§1777.5, the Chief may also deny the Contractor or Subcontractor and its responsible 

officers the right to be on or be awarded or perform work as a subcontractor on any 

public works contract for a period of up to one (1) year for a first violation and up to 

three (3) years for a second or subsequent violation. 

4.21.8 Employment of Independent Contractors.  Pursuant to California Labor Code 

§1021.5, Contractor shall not willingly and knowingly enter into any agreement with any 

person, as an independent contractor, to provide any services in connection with the Work 

where the services provided or to be provided requires that such person hold a valid 

contractors license issued pursuant to California Business and Professions Code §§7000 et 

seq. and such person does not meet the burden of proof of his/her independent contractor 

status pursuant to California Labor Code §2750.5.  In the event that Contractor shall employ 

any person in violation of the foregoing, Contractor shall be subject to the civil penalties 

under California Labor Code §1021.5 and any other penalty provided by law.  In addition to 

the penalties provided under California Labor Code §1021.5, Contractor's violation of this 

Article 4.21.8 or the provisions of California Labor Code §1021.5 shall be deemed an event 

of Contractor's default under Article 15.1 of these General Conditions.  The Contractor shall 

require any Subcontractor of any tier performing or providing any portion of the Work to 

adhere to and comply with the foregoing provisions. 

4.22 Labor Compliance Program.  Pursuant to California Labor Code §1771.7, District has 

implemented a Labor Compliance Program.  (See Section 00900).   Contractor shall post “Notice of 

Initial Approval” of the District's Labor Compliance Program at the Site in accordance with 8 

California Code of Regulations §16429.  The Labor Compliance Program includes, without 

limitation, provisions requiring Contractor to comply with the prevailing rates of wages, maintenance 

and submission of weekly certified payroll records, employment of apprentices and, compliance with 

legal hours of work, and debarment.  Contractor, and any Subcontractors, are required to comply 

with the requirements of the Labor Compliance Program, at no additional cost to District. Contractor 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 80



shall include, and shall require the Subcontractors to include, contractual provisions in all contracts 

they enter into for the performance of the Work, requiring each Subcontractor, of every tier, who 

furnishes any labor for the performance of Work, to comply with these provisions at no additional 

cost.  Contractor and all Subcontractors shall comply with California Labor Code §§1720-1781, 

applicable regulations and the Labor Compliance Program, and shall pay appropriate penalties for 

failure to comply pursuant to the California Labor Code, including, but not limited to, Sections 1775, 

1776, 1777.7 and 1813, and the Labor Compliance Program. Contractor will be responsible for all 

failures by all Subcontractors, to comply with the District’s LCP requirements.  Contractor shall 

attend any pre-construction meetings held by the District and/or its Labor Compliance Program 

representatives to discuss labor requirements.  Contractor and the Subcontractors shall allow the 

District, its Labor Compliance Program, the Department of Industrial Relations and designated 

representatives of each to conduct worker interviews at the Site during working hours.  Compliance 

by Contractor with the requirements of this Article shall be a condition to Contractor’s right to 

payment under its Applications for Payment.  For questions or assistance concerning the Labor 

Compliance Program, please contact _____________. 

4.23 Assignment of Antitrust Claims.  Pursuant to California Public Contract Code §7103.5, the 

Contractor and its Subcontractor(s), of any tier, hereby offers and agrees to assign to the District all 

rights, title and interest in and to all causes of action they may have under Section 4 of the Clayton 

Act, (15 U.S.C. §15) or under the Cartwright Act (California Business and Professions Code 

§§16700 et seq.), arising from purchases of goods, services or materials hereunder or any 

Subcontract.  This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time the District tenders 

Final Payment to the Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties.  If the District 

receives, either through judgment or settlement, a monetary recovery in connection with a cause of 

action assigned under California Public Contract Code §7103.5, the assignor thereof shall be entitled 

to receive reimbursement for actual legal costs incurred and may, upon demand, recover from the 

District any portion of the recovery, including treble damages, attributable to overcharges that were 

paid by the assignor but were not paid by the District as part of the Contract Price, less the expenses 

incurred by the District in obtaining that portion of the recovery.  Upon demand in writing by the 

assignor, the District shall, within one year from such demand, reassign the cause of action assigned 

pursuant to this Article if the assignor has been or may have been injured by the violation of law for 

which the cause of action arose: and (i) the District has not been injured thereby; or (ii) the District 

declines to file a court action for the cause of action. 

4.24 Fingerprinting.  Unless exempted, Contractor shall comply with the requirements of 

Education Code Section 45125.1 with respect to fingerprinting of employees who may have contact 

with the District’s pupils.  Contractor shall also ensure that its Subcontractors, Sub-Subcontractors, 

and consultants on the Project also comply with the requirements of Section 45125.1.  Contractor 

must complete the District’s certification form prior to any of Contractor’s, Subcontractors’, Sub-

Subcontractors’, and/or consultants’ employees coming into contact with any of the District’s pupils. 

 Contractor also agrees to comply, and ensure that all Contractor’s, Subcontractors’, Sub-

Subcontractors’, and/or consultants’ employees comply, with all other operational requirements of 

the District, as may be revised from time to time, including, but not limited to, any obligations 

relating to vaccination or testing for infectious diseases. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 81



4.25 Drugs, Tobacco, and Alcohol.  Contractor shall take all steps necessary to insure that 

employees of Contractor or any of Subcontractors’, Sub-Subcontractors’, and/or consultants’ 

employees do not use, consume, or work under the influence of any alcohol, tobacco or illegal drugs 

while on the Project.  Contractor shall further prevent any of its employees or its Subcontractors’, 

Sub-Subcontractors’, and/or consultants’ employees from playing any recorded music devices or 

radios or wearing any radio headphone devices for entertainment while working on the Project.  

Likewise, Contractor shall prevent its employees or Subcontractors’, Sub-Subcontractors’, and/or 

consultants’ employees from bringing any animal onto the Project.  Contractors shall not violate any 

written school policies. 

ARTICLE 5:  SUBCONTRACTORS 

5.1 Subcontracts.  Any Work performed for the Contractor by a Subcontractor shall be pursuant 

to a written agreement between the Contractor and such Subcontractor which specifically 

incorporates by reference the Contract Documents and which specifically binds the Subcontractor to 

the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor subcontracts any 

part of its obligations under the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall be as fully responsible to 

the District for the acts and omissions of its Subcontractors and of persons either directly or 

indirectly employed by its Subcontractor, as it is for acts and omissions of persons it directly 

employs.  The District’s consent to or approval of any Subcontractor under the Contract Documents 

shall not in any way relieve the Contractor of its obligations under the Contract Documents and no 

such consent or approval shall be deemed to waive any provision of the Contract Documents.  The 

foregoing notwithstanding, no contractual relationship shall exist, or be deemed to exist, between any 

Subcontractor and the District, unless the Agreement is terminated and District, in writing, elects to 

assume the Subcontract.  Each Subcontract for a portion of the Work shall provide that such 

Subcontract may be assigned to the District if the Agreement is terminated by the District pursuant to 

Article 15.1 hereof, subject to the prior rights of the Surety obligated under a bond relating to the 

Agreement.  Upon request, the Contractor shall provide to the District copies of executed 

Subcontracts and Purchase Orders, including amendment thereto, to which Contractor is a party 

within seven (7) days of District’s request for same.  The Contractor's failure or refusal, for any 

reason, to provide copies of such Subcontracts or Purchase Orders shall be deemed the Contractor's 

default of a material term of the Contract Documents. 

 

5.2 Substitution of Listed Subcontractor. 

5.2.1 Substitution Process.  Any request of the Contractor to substitute a listed 

Subcontractor will be considered only if such request is in strict conformity with this Article 

5.2 and California Public Contract Code §4107.  All costs and fees incurred by the District in 

the review and evaluation of a request to substitute a listed Subcontractor shall be borne by 

the Contractor; such costs and fees may be deducted by the District from the Contract Price 

then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

5.2.2 Responsibilities of Contractor Upon Substitution of Subcontractor.  Neither the 

substitution nor the District's consent to Contractor's substitution of a listed Subcontractor 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 82



shall relieve Contractor from its obligation to complete the Work within the Contract Time 

and for the Contract Price.  In the event that the District determines that revised or additional 

Submittals are required of the newly substituted Subcontractor, the District shall promptly 

notify the Contractor, in writing, of such requirement and the time for submittal. In the event 

that the revised or additional Submittals are not submitted by Contractor within the time 

specified, Contractor shall be subject to the per diem assessments for late Submittals as set 

forth in Article 4.8 of these General Conditions.  Any revised or additional Submittals 

required pursuant to this Article 5.2.2 shall conform to the requirements of Article 4.8 of 

these General Conditions.  Contractor shall reimburse the District for all fees and costs 

incurred or associated with the processing, review and evaluation of any revised or additional 

Submittals required pursuant to this Article 5.2.2; the District may deduct such fees and costs 

from any portion of the Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor.  In the event that 

additional or revised Submittals are required pursuant to this Article 5.2.2, such requirement 

shall not result in an increase to the Contract Time or the Contract Price. 

ARTICLE 6:  INSURANCE; INDEMNITY; BONDS 

6.1 Workers' Compensation Insurance; Employer's Liability Insurance.  The Contractor 

shall purchase and maintain Workers' Compensation Insurance as will protect the Contractor from 

claims under workers' or workmen's compensation, disability benefit and other similar employee 

benefit acts which are applicable to the Work to be performed, whether such operations be by the 

Contractor or by a Subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by 

anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.  Contractor shall purchase and maintain 

Employer's Liability Insurance covering bodily injury (including death) by accident or disease to any 

employee which arises out of the employee's employment by Contractor. The Employer's Liability 

Insurance required of Contractor hereunder may be obtained by Contractor as a separate policy of 

insurance or as an additional coverage under the Workers' Compensation Insurance required to be 

obtained and maintained by Contractor hereunder.  Workers’ compensation limits as required by the 

Labor Code, but not less than $1,000,000 and employers’ liability limits of $1,000,000 per accident 

for bodily injury or disease. 

6.2 Commercial General Liability and Property Insurance.  The Contractor shall purchase 

and maintain Commercial General Liability and Property Insurance covering the types of claims set 

forth below which may arise out of or result from Contractor's operations under the Contract 

Documents and for which the Contractor may be legally responsible: (i) claims for damages because 

of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease or death of the Contractor's employees; (ii) claims 

for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease or death of any person other than the 

Contractor's employees; (iii) claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability coverage 

which are sustained (a) by a person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to 

employment of such person by the Contractor, or (b) by another person; (iv) claims for damages, 

other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property, including loss 

of use resulting therefrom; (v) claims for damages because of bodily injury, death of a person or 

property damages arising out of ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle; and (vi) 

contractual liability insurance applicable to the Contractor's obligations under the Contract 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 83



Documents.  Contractor shall also provide excess or umbrella liability limits for Products and 

Completed Operations Aggregate for this Project as a Designated Project as set forth in the Special 

Conditions. 

6.3 Builder's Risk "All-Risk" Insurance.  It is Contractor’s responsibility to 

maintain or cause to be maintained Builder’s Risk [Fire; “All Risk”] extended coverage 

insurance on all work, material, equipment, appliances, tools, and structures which are a part of 

the Agreement and subject to loss or damage by fire, and vandalism and/or malicious mischief 

(both without any limitation regarding vacancy or occupancy), sprinkler leakage, civil authority, 

theft, sonic disturbance, earthquake, flood, collapse, wind, terrorism, lighting, smoke and rioting, 

in an amount to cover 100% of the replacement cost of the Project. Contractor is to provide 

insurance coverage on completed value form, all-risk or special causes of loss coverage.  In 

addition, such insurance shall comply with the following: 

 1. Such insurance policy shall be so conditioned as to cover the 

performance of any extra work performed under the Agreement. 

 2. Coverage shall include all materials stored on site and in transit. 

 3. Coverage shall include Contractor’s tools and equipment. 

 4. Insurance shall include machinery coverage. 

6.4 Automobile Liability Insurance.  Contractor shall take out and maintain at all times 

during the term of this Agreement Automobile Liability Insurance in the amount set forth in 

Article 6.5 below.  Such insurance shall provide coverage for bodily injury and property damage 

including coverage for non-owned and hired vehicles, in a form and with insurance companies 

acceptable to the District.   

6.5 Coverage Amounts.  Contractor shall take out and maintain and shall require all 

Subcontractors, if any, whether primary or secondary, to take out and maintain: 

Comprehensive General Liability Insurance with a combined single limit per 

occurrence of not less than $2,000,000.00 or Commercial General Liability Insurance 

which provides limits of not less than: 

(a) Per occurrence (combined single limit) ................................  $2,000,000.00 

(b) Project Specific Aggregate (for this Project only) ................  $2,000,000.00 

(c) Products and Completed Operations (aggregate) ..................  $2,000,000.00 

(d) Personal and Advertising Injury Limit ..................................  $1,000,000.00 

Insurance Covering Special Hazards 

The following Special hazards shall be covered by riders or riders to above mentioned 

public liability insurance or property damage insurance policy or policies of insurance, in amounts as 

follows: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 84



(a) Automotive and truck where operated in amounts................  $1,000,000.00 

(b) Material Hoist where used in amounts ..................................  $1,000,000.00 

(c) Explosion, Collapse and Underground 

(XCU coverage) ....................................................................  

 

$1,000,000.00 

(d) Hazardous Materials ..............................................................  $1,000,000.00 

In addition, provide Excess Liability Insurance coverage in the amount of Four Million Dollars 

($4,000,000.00). 

6.6 Evidence of Insurance; Subcontractor's Insurance. 

6.6.1 Certificates of Insurance.  With the execution of the Agreement, Contractor shall 

deliver to the District Certificates of Insurance evidencing the insurance coverages required 

by the Contract Documents.  Failure or refusal of the Contractor to so deliver Certificates of 

Insurance may be deemed by the District to be a default of a material obligation of the 

Contractor under the Contract Documents.  The Certificates of Insurance and the insurance 

policies required by the Contract Documents shall contain a provision that coverages 

afforded under such policies will not be canceled or allowed to expire until at least thirty (30) 

days prior written notice has been given to the District.   

The insurance policies required of Contractor and Subcontractors hereunder shall also name 

the District and its Board of Trustees, officers employees and agents as additional insured as 

their interests may appear.  The Additional Insured Endorsement included on all such 

insurance policies shall be an ISO CG 20 10 (04/13), or an ISO CG 20 38 (04/13), or their 

equivalent as determined by the District in its sole discretion, and must state that coverage is 

afforded the additional insured with respect to claims arising out of operations performed by 

or on behalf of the insured.  If the additional insureds have other insurance which is 

applicable to the loss, such other insurance shall be on an excess or contingent basis.   

Should any policy of insurance be canceled before Final Acceptance of the Work by the 

District and the Contractor fails to immediately procure replacement insurance as required, 

the District reserves the right to procure such insurance and to deduct the premium cost 

thereof and other costs incurred by the District in connection therewith from any sum then or 

thereafter due the Contractor under the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall, from time 

to time, furnish the District, when requested, with satisfactory proof of coverage of each type 

of insurance required by the Contract Documents; failure of the Contractor to comply with 

the District's request may be deemed by the District to be a default of a material obligation of 

the Contractor under the Contract Documents. 

6.6.2 Subcontractors' Insurance.  Contractor shall require that every Subcontractor, of 

any tier, performing or providing any portion of the Work obtain and maintain the policies of 

insurance set forth in Articles 6.1 and 6.2 of these General Conditions; the coverages and 

limits of liability of such policies of insurance to be obtained and maintained by 

Subcontractors shall be as set forth in the Special Conditions.  The policies of insurance to be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 85



obtained and maintained by Subcontractors hereunder are in addition to, and not in lieu of, 

Contractor obtaining and maintaining such policies of insurance.  Each of the policies of 

insurance obtained and maintained by a Subcontractor hereunder shall conform to the 

requirements of this Article 6.  Upon request of the District, Contractor shall promptly 

deliver to the District Certificates of Insurance evidencing that the Subcontractors have 

obtained and maintained policies of insurance in conformity with the requirements of this 

Article 6.  Failure or refusal of the Contractor to provide the District with Subcontractors' 

Certificates of Insurance evidencing the insurance coverages required hereunder is a material 

default of Contractor hereunder. 

6.7 Maintenance of Insurance.  Any insurance bearing on the adequacy of performance of 

Work shall be maintained after the District's Final Acceptance of all of the Work for the full one year 

correction of Work period and any longer specific guarantee or warranty periods set forth in the 

Contract Documents.  Should such insurance be canceled before the end of any such periods and the 

Contractor fails to immediately procure replacement insurance as specified, the District reserves the 

right to procure such insurance and to charge the cost thereof to the Contractor.  Nothing contained 

in these insurance requirements is to be construed as limiting the extent of the Contractor's 

responsibility for payment of damages resulting from its operations or performance of the Work 

under the Contract Documents, including without limitation the Contractor's obligation to pay 

Liquidated Damages.  Contractor will not be relieved of its obligation to maintain insurance required 

under this Article until the date of Final Acceptance of the Work by the District, or such time 

thereafter as required by the Contract Documents. The insurer providing any insurance coverage 

required hereunder shall be to the reasonable satisfaction of the District. 

6.8 Contractor's Insurance Primary.  All insurance and the coverages thereunder required to 

be obtained and maintained by Contractor hereunder, if overlapping with any policy of insurance 

maintained by the District, shall be deemed to be primary and non-contributing with any policy 

maintained by the District and any policy or coverage thereunder maintained by District shall be 

deemed excess insurance.  To the extent that the District maintains a policy of insurance covering 

property damage arising out of the perils of fire or other casualty covered by the Contractor’s 

Builder’s Risk Insurance or the Commercial General Liability Insurance of the Contractor or any 

Subcontractor, the District, Contractor and all Subcontractors waive rights of subrogation against the 

others.  The costs for obtaining and maintaining the insurance coverages required herein shall be 

included in the Contract Price.   

6.9 Indemnity.  Unless arising solely out of the active negligence, gross negligence or willful 

misconduct of the District, the Architect or the Project Manager, the Contractor shall indemnify, 

defend and hold harmless:  (i) the District and its Board of Trustees, officers, employees, agents and 

representatives (including the District’s Inspector); (ii) the Architect and its consultants for the Work 

and their respective agents and employees; and (iii) the Project Manager and its agents and 

employees from and against any and all damages, losses, claims, demands or liabilities whether for 

damages, losses or other relief, including, without limitation attorneys fees and costs which arise, in 

whole or in part, from the Work, the Contract Documents or the acts, omissions or other conduct of 

the Contractor or any Subcontractor or any person or entity engaged by them for the Work.  The 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 86



Contractor’s obligations under the foregoing include without limitation: (i) injuries to or death of 

persons; (ii) damage to property; or (iii) theft or loss of property; and (iv) other losses, liabilities, 

damages or costs resulting from, in whole or part, any acts, omissions or other conduct of Contractor, 

any of Contractor's Subcontractors, of any tier, or any other person or entity employed directly or 

indirectly by Contractor in connection with the Work and their respective agents, officers or 

employees.  If any action or proceeding, whether judicial, administrative, arbitration or otherwise, 

shall be commenced on account of any claim, demand or liability subject to Contractor's obligations 

hereunder, and such action or proceeding names the District as a party thereto, the Contractor shall, 

at its sole cost and expense, defend the District in such action or proceeding with counsel reasonably 

satisfactory to District.  In the event that there shall be any judgment, award, ruling, settlement, or 

other relief arising out of any such action or proceeding to which the District is bound by, Contractor 

shall pay, satisfy or otherwise discharge any such judgment, award, ruling, settlement or relief; 

Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the District from any and all liability or responsibility 

arising out of any such judgment, award, ruling, settlement or relief.  The Contractor's obligations 

hereunder are binding upon Contractor's Performance Bond Surety and these obligations shall 

survive notwithstanding Contractor's completion of the Work or the termination of the Agreement. 

6.10 Payment Bond; Performance Bond.  Prior to commencement of the Work, the Contractor 

shall furnish a Performance Bond as security for Contractor's faithful performance of the Agreement 

and a Labor and Material Payment Bond as security for payment of persons or entities performing 

work, labor or furnishing materials in connection with Contractor's performance of the Work under 

the Contract Documents.  The amounts of the Performance Bond and the Payment Bond required 

hereunder shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the Contract Price.  Said Labor and Material 

Payment Bond and Performance Bond shall be in the form and content set forth in the Contract 

Documents.  The failure or refusal of the Contractor to furnish either the Performance Bond or the 

Labor and Material Payment Bond in strict conformity with this Article 6.9 may be deemed by the 

District as a default by the Contractor of a material obligation hereunder.  Upon request of the 

Contractor, the District may consider and accept, but is not obligated to do so, multiple sureties on 

such bonds.  The Surety on any bond required under the Contract Documents shall be an Admitted 

Surety Insurer as that term is defined in California Code of Civil Procedure §995.120. 

ARTICLE 7: CONTRACT TIME 

7.1 Final Completion of the Work Within Contract Time.  Unless otherwise expressly 

provided in the Contract Documents, the Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized 

adjustments thereto, allotted in the Contract Documents for achieving Final Completion of the Work. 

The date for commencement of the Work is the date established by the Notice to Proceed issued by 

the District, which shall not be postponed by the failure to act of the Contractor or of persons or 

entities for whom the Contractor is responsible.  The date of Final Completion is the date certified by 

the Architect, the Project Manager and the District’s Inspector as such in accordance with the 

Contract Documents.  The Contract Time is as indicated in the Special Conditions. 

7.2 Progress and Completion of the Work. 

7.2.1 Time of Essence.  Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence.  

By executing the Agreement, the Contractor confirms that the Contract Time is a reasonable 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 87



period for performing and achieving Final Completion of the Work.  The Contractor shall 

employ and supply a sufficient force of workers, material and equipment, and prosecute the 

Work with diligence so as to maintain progress, to prevent Work stoppage and to achieve 

Final Completion of the Work within the Contract Time. 

7.2.2 Substantial Completion.  Substantial Completion is that stage in the progress of the 

Work when the Work is complete in accordance with the Contract Documents, including but 

not limited to start-up and testing, so the District can occupy or use the Work and Project for 

its intended purpose; provided that, as a condition precedent to Substantial Completion, the 

Architect and District’s Inspector shall have each agreed that the Work and Project have 

reached a stage of substantial completion.  Substantial Completion shall be determined by the 

Architect and the District's Inspector upon request by the Contractor in accordance with the 

Contract Documents.  The good faith and reasonable determination of Substantial 

Completion by the District's Inspector and the Architect shall be controlling and final. 

7.2.3 Correction or Completion of the Work After Substantial Completion. Upon 

achieving Substantial Completion of the Work, the District, the District's Inspector, the 

Project Manager, the Architect and the Contractor shall jointly inspect the Work and prepare 

a comprehensive list of items of the Work (punch list) to be corrected or completed by the 

Contractor.  The exclusion of, or failure to include, any item on such list shall not alter or 

limit the obligation of the Contractor to complete or correct any portion of the Work in 

accordance with the Contract Documents.  In the event that the Contractor shall fail or refuse, 

for any reason, to complete all punch list items within the Contract Time, Contractor shall be 

subject to assessment of Liquidated Damages in accordance with Article 7.4 hereof.  If the 

Contractor fails or refuses to complete all items of the Work within the Contract Time, the 

District may, in its sole and exclusive discretion and without further notice to Contractor, 

elect to cause the completion of such items of the Work, provided, however, that such 

election by the District is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other right or remedy of the 

District under the Contract Documents or at law.  If the District elects to complete items of 

the Work, Contractor shall be responsible for all costs incurred by the District in connection 

therewith and the District may deduct such costs from the Contract Price then or thereafter 

due the Contractor; if these costs exceed the remaining Contract Price due to the Contractor, 

the Contractor and the Performance Bond Surety are liable to District for any such excess 

costs. 

7.2.4 Final Completion.  Final Completion is that stage of the Work when all Work has 

been completed in accordance with the Contract Documents, including without limitation, 

the performance of all punch list items noted upon Substantial Completion, the Agreement 

has been otherwise fully performed by the Contractor and contractor has submitted all 

documents required of Contractor by DSA.  Final Completion shall be determined by the 

Architect and the District's Inspector upon request of the Contractor.  The good faith and 

reasonable determination of Final Completion by the District's Inspector and the Architect 

shall be controlling and final. 

7.2.5 Contractor Responsibility for Multiple Inspections. In the event the Contractor 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 88



shall request determination of Substantial or Final Completion and it is determined by the 

District that the Work does not then justify certification of Substantial or Final Completion, 

as applicable, and re-inspection is required at a subsequent time to make such determination, 

the Contractor shall be responsible for all costs of such re-inspection, including without 

limitation, the fees of the Architect and the salary of the District's Inspector.  The District 

may deduct such costs from the Contract Price then due or thereafter due to the Contractor. 

7.2.6 Final Acceptance.  Final Acceptance of the Work shall occur upon approval of the 

Work by the District's Board of Trustees.  Such approval shall be submitted for adoption at 

the next regularly scheduled meeting of the District's Board of Trustees after the 

determination of Final Completion.  The commencement of any warranty or guarantee period 

under the Contract Documents shall be deemed to be the date upon the District’s Board of 

Trustees approves of the Final Acceptance of the Work. 

7.3 Progress Schedule. 

7.3.1 Submittal of Preliminary Construction Schedule.  Within ten (10) days following 

execution of the Agreement, the Contractor shall prepare and submit to the District, the 

Project Manager and the Architect a Preliminary Construction Schedule, in both written and 

electronic format, indicating, in graphic and tabular form, the estimated rate of progress and 

sequence of all Work required under the Contract Documents.  The purpose of the 

Preliminary Construction Schedule is to assure adequate planning and execution of the Work 

so that it is completed within the Contract Time and to permit evaluation of the progress of 

the Work.  The Preliminary Construction Schedule shall indicate the dates for 

commencement and completion of various portions of the Work, including, without 

limitation, the procurement and fabrication of major items, material and equipment forming a 

part of, or to be incorporated into, the Work as well as Site construction activities and the 

date Contractor will achieve Substantial Completion and Final Completion of the Project.  

The Preliminary Construction Schedule shall identify all major (critical) Submittals required, 

the portion(s) of the Work for which the identified Submittals relate to and the date upon 

which each Submittal required will be transmitted to the Architect for review (the “Submittal 

Schedule”).  The Contractor shall prepare the Preliminary Construction Schedule using 

Primavera or comparable software in Critical Path Method format.  If Contractor elects to use 

software other than Primavera, Contractor shall provide such software to the District at 

Contractor’s expense.  These requirements shall not be deemed control over or assumption of 

construction means, methods or sequences, all of which remain the Contractor’s 

responsibility.  Further, these requirements shall not give rise to an increase in the Contract 

Time or the Contract Price.  The Contractor may submit a Preliminary Construction Schedule 

depicting completion of the Work in a duration shorter than the Contract Time; provided that 

such Preliminary Construction Schedule shall not be a basis for adjustment to the Contract 

Price in the event that completion of the Work shall occur after the time depicted therein, nor 

shall such Preliminary Construction Schedule be the basis for any extension of the Contract 

Time, the Contractor's entitlement to any extension of the Contract Time shall be based upon 

the Contract Time and not on any shorter duration which may be depicted in the Contractor's 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 89



Preliminary Construction Schedule.  In the event any of the Construction Schedules required 

under this Article 7.3 incorporate therein "float" time, such float shall be deemed to mutually 

belong to and owned by the District and Contractor.  As used herein, “float time” shall be 

deemed to refer to the time between the earliest start date and the latest start date, or between 

the earliest finish date and the latest finish date of each activity shown on the Construction 

Schedule. 

7.3.2 Review of Preliminary Construction Schedule.  The District, the Project Manager 

and the Architect shall review the Preliminary Construction Schedule submitted by the 

Contractor pursuant to Article 7.3.1 above for conformity with the requirements of the 

Contract Documents.  Within fifteen (15) days of the date of receipt of the Preliminary 

Construction Schedule, such Schedule will be returned to the Contractor with comments to 

the form or content thereof.  Review of the Preliminary Progress Schedule and any comments 

thereto by the District, the Project Manager and/or the Architect shall not be deemed to be 

the assumption of construction means, methods or sequences by the District, the Project 

Manager or the Architect, all of which remain the Contractor's obligations under the Contract 

Documents. 

7.3.3 Preparation and Submittal of Contract Construction Schedule.   Within ten (10) 

days of the District's return of the Preliminary Construction Schedule to the Contractor 

pursuant to Article 7.3.2 above, the Contractor shall prepare and submit the Construction 

Schedule which incorporates therein the comments to the Preliminary Construction Schedule. 

 Upon the Contractor's submittal of such Construction Schedule, the District shall review the 

same for purposes of determining conformity with the requirements of the Contract 

Documents.  Within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of the Construction Schedule, the District 

will approve such Construction Schedule or will return the same to the Contractor with 

comments to the form or content.  In the event there are comments to the form or content 

thereof, the Contractor, shall within seven (7) days of receipt of such comments, revise and 

resubmit the Construction Schedule incorporating therein such comments.  Upon the 

District's approval of the form and content of a Construction Schedule, the same shall be 

deemed the "Approved Construction Schedule."  The District's approval of a Construction 

Schedule shall be for the sole and limited purpose of determining conformity with the 

requirements of the Contract Documents.  By the Approved Construction Schedule, the 

District shall not be deemed to have exercised control over, or approval of, construction 

means, methods or sequences, all of which remain the responsibility and obligation of the 

Contractor in accordance with the terms of the Contract Documents.  Further, the Approved 

Construction Schedule shall not operate to limit or restrict any of Contractor's obligations 

under the Contract Documents nor relieve the Contractor from the full, faithful and timely 

performance of such obligations in accordance with the terms of the Contract Documents.  

The activities, commencement and completion dates of activities, and the sequencing of 

activities depicted on the Approved Construction Schedule shall not be modified or revised 

by the Contractor without the prior consent, or direction, of the District.  Updates to the 

Approved Construction Schedule pursuant to Article 7.3.5 below shall not be deemed 

revisions to the Approved Construction Schedule.  In the event that the Approved 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 90



Construction Schedule shall depict completion of the Work in a duration shorter than the 

Contract Time, the same shall not be a basis for an adjustment of the Contract Time or the 

Contract Price in the event that actual completion of the Work shall occur after such the time 

depicted in such Approved Construction Schedule.  In such event, the Contract Price shall 

not be subject to adjustment on account of any additional costs incurred by the Contractor to 

complete the Work prior to the Contract Time, as adjusted in accordance with the terms of 

the Contract Documents.  Any adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract Price shall be 

based upon the Contract Time set forth in the Contract Documents and not any shorter 

duration which may depicted in the Approved Construction Schedule. 

7.3.4 Revisions to Approved Construction Schedule.  In the event that the progress of 

the Work or the sequencing of the activities of the Work shall materially differ from that 

indicated in the Approved Construction Schedule, as determined by the District in its 

reasonable discretion and judgment, the District may direct the Contractor to revise the 

Approved Construction Schedule; within fifteen (15) days of the District's direction, the 

Contractor shall prepare and submit a revised Approved Construction Schedule, for review 

and approval by the District.  The Contractor may request consent of the District to revise the 

Approved Construction Schedule.  Any such request shall be considered by the District only 

if in writing setting forth the Contractor's proposed revision(s) to the Approved Construction 

Schedule and the reason(s) therefor.  The District may consent to, or deny, any such request 

of the Contractor to revise the Approved Construction Schedule in its reasonable discretion. 

7.3.5 Updates to Approved Construction Schedule.  The Contractor shall monitor and 

update the Approved Construction Schedule on a monthly basis, or more frequently as 

required by the conditions or progress of the Work, or as may be requested by the District.  

Proper and complete updating of the Approved Construction Schedule shall be a condition 

precedent to the issuance of Progress Payments described in Article 8 of these General 

Conditions.  The Contractor shall provide the District with updated Approved Construction 

Schedules indicating progress achieved and activities commenced or completed within the 

prior updated Approved Construction Schedule.  Updates to the Approved Construction 

Schedule shall not include any revisions to the activities, commencement and completion 

dates of activities or the sequencing of activities depicted on the Approved Construction 

Schedule without the District’s consent.   Any revisions to the Approved Construction 

Schedule made without the District’s consent shall result in the District's rejection of such 

update and Contractor shall, within seven (7) days of the District's rejection of such update, 

submit to the Architect and the Project Manager an Updated Approved Construction 

Schedule which does not incorporate any such revisions.  The Contractor shall also submit, 

with its updates to the Approved Construction Schedule, a narrative statement including a 

description of current and anticipated problem areas of the Work, logic and resource changes, 

delaying factors and their impact, and an explanation of corrective action taken or proposed 

by the Contractor.  If the progress of the Work is behind the Approved Construction 

Schedule, the Contractor shall indicate what measures will be taken to place the Work back 

on schedule.  The District may, from time to time, and in the District's sole and exclusive 

discretion, transmit to the Contractor's Performance Bond Surety the Approved Construction 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 91



Schedule, any updates thereof and the narrative statement described hereinabove.  The 

District's election to transmit, or not to transmit such information, to the Contractor's 

Performance Bond Surety shall not limit the Contractor's obligations under the Contract 

Documents. 

 

7.3.6 Contractor Responsibility for Construction Schedule.  The Contractor shall be 

responsible for the preparation, submittal and maintenance of the Construction Schedules 

required by the Contract Documents, and any failure of the Contractor to do so may be 

deemed by the District as the Contractor's default in the performance of a material obligation 

under Contract Documents.  Any and all costs or expenses required or incurred to prepare, 

submit, maintain, and update the Construction Schedules shall be solely that of the 

Contractor and no such cost or expense shall be charged to the District.  The Contract Price 

shall not be subject to adjustment on account of costs, fees or expenses incurred or associated 

with the Contractor's preparation, submittal, maintenance or updating of the Construction 

Schedules.  All schedule submittals shall include electronic diskettes for use by the District 

in its analysis and approval of the schedule submittal. 

7.4 Adjustment of Contract Time.  If Final Completion or completion of an Interim Milestone 

is delayed, adjustment, if any, to the Contract Time on account of such delay shall be in accordance 

with this Article 7.4 and will be made, if at all, by written Change Order made in accordance with 

Article 9. 

7.4.1 Excusable Delays.  If Final Completion of the Work is delayed by Excusable Delays, 

the Contract Time shall be subject to adjustment for such reasonable period of time as 

determined by the District.  Excusable Delays shall not result in any increase in the Contract 

Price.  Excusable Delays refer to unforeseeable and unavoidable casualties or other 

unforeseen causes beyond the control, and without fault or neglect, of the Contractor, any 

Subcontractor, Material Supplier or other person directly or indirectly engaged by the 

Contractor in performance of any portion of the Work.  Excusable Delays include 

unanticipated and unavoidable labor disputes, unusual and unanticipated delays in 

transportation of equipment, materials or Construction Equipment reasonably necessary for 

completion and proper execution of the Work, and unanticipated unusually severe weather 

conditions.  Neither the financial resources of the Contractor or any person or entity directly 

or indirectly engaged by the Contractor in performance of any portion of the Work shall be 

deemed conditions beyond the control of the Contractor.  If an event of Excusable Delay 

occurs, the Contract Time shall be subject to adjustment hereunder only if the Contractor 

establishes: (i) full compliance with all applicable provisions of the Contract Documents 

relative to the method, manner and time for Contractor’s notice and request for adjustment of 

the Contract Time; (ii) that the event(s) forming the basis for Contractor’s request to adjust 

the Contract Time are outside the reasonable control and without any fault or neglect of the 

Contractor or any person or entity directly or indirectly engaged by Contractor in 

performance of any portion of the Work; and (iii) that the event(s) forming the basis for 

Contractor’s request to adjust the Contract Time directly and adversely impacted the progress 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 92



of the Work as indicated in the most recent updated Approved Construction Schedule 

relative to the date(s) of the claimed event(s) of Excusable Delay. The foregoing provisions 

notwithstanding, if the Special Conditions set forth a number of “Rain Days” to be 

anticipated during performance of the Work, the Contract Time shall not be adjusted for rain 

related unusually severe weather conditions until and unless the actual number of Rain Days 

during performance of the Work shall exceed those noted in the Special Conditions and such 

additional Rain Days shall have directly and adversely impacted the progress of the Work as 

depicted in the Approved Construction Schedule or the most recent updated Approved 

Construction Schedule relative to the date(s) of such additional Rain Days. 

7.4.2 Compensable Delays.  If Final Completion of the Work is delayed and such delay is 

caused by the acts or omissions of the District, the Architect, the Project Manager or separate 

contractor employed by the District (collectively “Compensable Delays”), upon Contractor’s 

request and notice, in strict conformity with Articles 7 and 9 of these General Conditions, the 

Contract Time will be adjusted by Change Order for such reasonable period of time as 

determined by the Architect, Project Manager and the District.  In accordance with California 

Public Contract Code § 7102, if the Contractor’s progress is delayed by any of the events 

described in the preceding sentence, Contractor shall not be precluded from the recovery of 

damages directly and proximately resulting therefrom, provided that the District is liable for 

the delay, the delay is unreasonable under the circumstances involved and the delay was not 

within the reasonable contemplation of the District and the Contractor at the time of 

execution of the Agreement. In such event, Contractor’s damages, if any, shall be limited to 

direct, actual and unavoidable additional costs of labor, materials or Construction Equipment 

directly resulting from such delay, and shall exclude indirect or other consequential damages. 

In no event shall Contractor’s damages exceed the mark-up amount(s) set forth in the Special 

Conditions and in accordance with Article 9.4.1.3.4.  Except as expressly provided for 

herein, Contractor shall not have any other claim, demand or right to adjustment of the 

Contract Price arising out of delay, interruption, hindrance or disruption to the progress of the 

Work. Adjustments to the Contract Price and the Contract Time, if any, on account of 

Changes to the Work or Suspension of the Work shall be governed by the applicable 

provisions of the Contract Documents, including without limitation, Articles 9 and 14 of 

these General Conditions. 

7.4.3 Unexcusable Delays.  Unexcusable Delays refer to any delay to the progress of the 

Work caused by events or factors other than those specifically identified in Articles 7.4.1 and 

7.4.2 above.  Neither the Contract Price nor the Contract Time shall be adjusted on account 

of Unexcusable Delays. 

7.4.4 Adjustment of Contract Time. 

7.4.4.1 Procedure for Adjustment of Contract Time.  The Contract Time shall be 

subject to adjustment only in strict conformity with applicable provisions of the Contract 

Documents.  Failure of Contractor to request adjustment(s) of the Contract Time in strict 

conformity with applicable provisions of the Contract Documents shall be deemed 

Contractor’s waiver of the same. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 93



7.4.4.2 Limitations Upon Adjustment of Contract Time on Account of Delays.  

Any adjustment of the Contract Time on account of an Excusable Delay or a 

Compensable Delay shall be limited as set forth herein.  No adjustment of the Contract 

Time shall be made on account of any Excusable Delays or Compensable Delays unless 

such delay(s) actually and directly impact Work or Work activities on the critical path of 

the then current and updated Approved Construction Schedule as of the date on which 

such delay first occurs.  The District shall not be deemed in breach of, or otherwise in 

default of any obligation hereunder, if the District shall deny a request by the Contractor 

for an adjustment of the Contract Time for any delay which does not actually and directly 

impact Work on the then current and updated Approved Construction Schedule.  In 

submitting a request for an adjustment of Contract Time, and as a condition precedent to 

the District’s review of such request, Contractor shall insert into the then current and 

updated Approved Construction Schedule a “fragnet” analysis representing the event 

which Contractor claims to result in delay to the critical path as depicted in such updated 

Approved Construction Schedule.  If an Excusable Delay and a Compensable Delay 

occur concurrently, the maximum extension of the Contract Time shall be the number of 

days from the commencement of the first delay to the cessation of the delay which ends 

last.  If an Unexcusable Delay occurs concurrently with either an Excusable Delay or a 

Compensable Delay, the maximum extension of the Contract Time shall be the number 

of days, if any, which the Excusable Delay or the Compensable Delay exceeds the period 

of time of the Unexcusable Delay. 

7.5 Liquidated Damages; Contractor Delays.  Pursuant to Government Code §53069.85, 

should the Contractor not achieve Final Completion of the Work within the Contract Time, as 

adjusted, or to complete an Interim Milestone in accordance with the times specified or provided for 

in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall forfeit and pay to the District the amount of per 

diem Liquidated Damages set forth in the Special Conditions, for every day beyond the Contract 

Time, as adjusted, or Interim Milestone, the Work is achieved.  Any such Liquidated Damages are 

automatically and without notice of any kind forfeited by Contractor upon the accrual of each day of 

delay.  The District may at any time deduct Liquidated Damages from any payments due or to 

become due to the Contractor. Neither the District’s failure or delay in deducting Liquidated 

Damages from payments otherwise due the Contractor, nor the District’s failure or delay in notifying 

Contractor of the forfeiture of Liquidated Damages, shall be deemed a waiver of the District’s right 

to Liquidated Damages.  The Contractor and the Surety shall be liable for and pay to the District the 

entire amount of Liquidated Damages including any portion that exceeds the amount of the Contract 

Price then held, retained or controlled by the District. The Contractor and District acknowledge and 

agree that the Liquidated Damages and the provisions of this Article 7.5 are reasonable and necessary 

under the circumstances existing at the time this Agreement is made because of the difficulty of 

fixing the District's actual damages in the event of delayed completion of the Work.  The Contractor 

and the District agree that the Liquidated Damages do not constitute a penalty. 

7.6 District Right to Take-Over Work.  Unless caused by the District, Architect, Project 

Manager or the Inspector, if the Contractor fails or refuses, for any reason and at any time, to furnish 

adequate materials, labor, equipment or services to maintain progress of the Work in accordance with 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 94



the then current Construction Schedule after twenty-four (24) hour advance written notice from the 

District to the Contractor of its failure or refusal, the District may thereafter furnish or cause to be 

furnish such materials, labor, equipment or services necessary to maintain progress of the Work in 

accordance with the then current Construction Schedule.  All costs, expenses or other charges 

(whether direct, indirect or administrative) incurred by the District in furnishing such materials, 

labor, equipment or services shall be at the sole cost of the Contractor and the District may deduct 

the same from the Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor.  The District’s exercise of 

rights pursuant to the foregoing shall not be deemed a waiver or limitation of any other right or 

remedy of the District under the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 8: CONTRACT PRICE 

8.1 Contract Price.  The Contract Price is the amount stated in the Agreement as the Sublease 

Tenant Improvement Payments Amount, and subject to any authorized adjustments thereto in 

accordance with the Contract Documents, is the total amount payable by the District to the 

Contractor for performance of the Work under the Contract Documents.  The District's payment of 

the Contract Price to the Contractor shall be in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

8.2 Cost Breakdown (Schedule of Values).  Within ten (10) days of the Construction Schedule 

(Article 7.3.3), the Contractor shall furnish a detailed tabular Cost Breakdown (Schedule of Values) 

of the Contract Price.  In preparing the Cost Breakdown, Contractor shall carefully list the cost of 

each activity or item for which payment will be requested.  The Contractor shall not “front-load” the 

Cost Breakdown with false dollar amounts for activities to be performed in the early stages of the 

Project.  The District may, in its sole discretion, utilize the costs listed in the Cost Breakdown 

(Schedule of Values) as the true cost of items to be deducted from the Contract Price through credit 

or deductive Change Order.  The values for each line item shall include the amount of overhead and 

profit applicable to each item of work and shall include, at a minimum, a breakdown between rough 

and finish Work for the basic trades as well as individual dollars figures for large dollar equipment 

and materials to be installed or furnished for the Project.  No individual line item or scope of work in 

the Cost Breakdown shall exceed $50,000, except with the express, written consent of the District.  

Exceptions will be given by the District for a single item of Equipment for which the true cost 

exceeds $50,000.  The Cost Breakdown shall be subject to the District's review and approval of the 

form and content thereof.  Upon request, Contractor shall provide District with data and 

documentation substantiating the accuracy of the proposed line items.  In the event that the District 

shall reasonably object to any portion of the Cost Breakdown, within ten (10) days of the District's 

receipt of the Cost Breakdown, the District shall notify the Contractor, in writing of the District's 

objection(s) to the Cost Breakdown together with any request for substantiating data or 

documentation.  Within five (5) days of the date of the District's written objection(s) and request for 

substantiating data and documentation, Contractor shall submit a revised Cost Breakdown to the 

District for review and approval together with the requested data and documentation. The foregoing 

procedure for the preparation, review and approval of the Cost Breakdown shall continue until the 

District has approved of the entirety of the Cost Breakdown. Once the Cost Breakdown is approved 

by the District, the Cost Breakdown shall not be thereafter modified or amended by the Contractor 

without the prior consent and approval of the District, which may be granted or withheld in the sole 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 95



reasonable discretion of the District. Notwithstanding any provision of the Contract Documents to 

the contrary, payment of the Contractor's overhead, supervision and general conditions costs and 

profit, as such items are reflected in the Cost Breakdown, shall be made incrementally as included in 

the activities included in the Approved Construction Schedule. 

8.3 Progress Payments. 

8.3.1 Applications for Progress Payments.  During the Contractor's performance of the 

Work, the Contractor shall submit monthly, on the first working day of each month, to the 

Project Manager, Applications for Progress Payments, on forms approved by the District, 

setting forth an itemized estimate of Work completed in the preceding month.  Values 

utilized in the Applications for Progress Payments shall be based upon the Cost Breakdown, 

(Schedule of Values) pursuant to Article 8.2 above, and such values shall be only for 

determining the basis of Progress payments to the Contractor, and shall not be considered as 

fixing a basis for adjustments, whether additive or deductive, to the Contract Price. 

8.3.2 District's Review of Applications for Progress Payments.  In accordance with 

Public Contract Code §20104.50, upon receipt of an Application for Progress Payment, the 

Project Manager, the District’s Inspector, and the Architect shall review the Application.  

Such review shall be for the purpose of determining that the Application for Progress 

Payment is a proper Progress Payment request.  For purposes of this Article 8.3.2, an 

Application for Progress Payment shall be deemed "proper" only if it is submitted on the 

properly completed form approved by the District, and accompanied by: 

(i) the Application submitted by the Contractor shall be consistent with and 

accompanied by the updated Approved Construction Schedule; 

(ii) weekly Certified Payroll Records (“CPRs”) of the Contractor and all Subcontractors, 

of any tier, for laborers performing any portion of the Work for which a Progress Payment is 

included.   The District shall not make any payment to Contractor until (a) Contractor and/or 

its Subcontractor(s) provide CPRs acceptable to the District, and (b) the District is given 

sufficient time to review and/or audit the CPRs to determine their acceptability.  Any delay in 

Contractor and/or its Subcontractor(s) providing CPRs to the District in a timely manner will 

delay the District’s review and/or audit of the CPRs and Contractor’s payment; 

(iii) duly completed and executed forms of Conditional Waiver and Release of Rights 

Upon Progress Payment in accordance with California Civil Code §3262 of the Contractor, 

all Subcontractors of any tier, and Material Suppliers covering the Progress Payment 

requested; 

(iv) duly completed and executed forms of Unconditional Waiver and Release of Rights 

upon Progress Payment in accordance with California Civil Code §8134 of the Contractor, 

all Subcontractors of any tier, and Material Suppliers covering the Progress Payment received 

by the Contractor under the prior Application for Progress Payment; 

(v) all documents required pursuant to the District’s Labor Compliance Program; and 

(vi) updated Record Documents reflecting the actual as-built conditions of the Work 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 96



performed, as reviewed by the Architect. 

In accordance with Public Contract Code §20104.50, an Application for Progress Payment 

determined by the District not to be a proper Application for Progress Payment shall be 

returned by the District to the Contractor as soon as is practicable after receipt of the same 

from the Contractor, but in no event not more than seven (7) days after the District's receipt 

thereof. The District's return of any Application for Progress Payment pursuant to the 

preceding sentence shall be accompanied by a written document setting forth the reason(s) 

why the Application for Progress Payment is not proper. 

8.3.3 Architect and District's Inspector Review of Applications for Progress 

Payments.  Upon receipt of an Application for Progress Payment, the Architect and the 

District's Inspector shall meet with the Contractor to inspect the completed work and verify 

the portion of the work completed during the month using the approved Construction 

Schedule update and the Cost Breakdown (Schedule of Values).  The Application for 

Progress Payment shall reflect the agreed percentages of work complete that is properly due 

to the Contractor under the terms of the Contract Documents.  The Application submitted by 

the Contractor shall be consistent with and accompanied by the updated Approved 

Construction Schedule. 

8.3.4 District's Disbursement of Progress Payments. 

8.3.4.1 Timely Disbursement of Progress Payments.  In accordance with Public 

Contract Code § 20104.50, within thirty (30) days after the District's receipt of a proper 

Application for Progress Payment, there shall be paid, by District, to Contractor a sum 

equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the value of the Work indicated in the Application 

for Progress Payment as verified and approved by the District's Inspector and the 

Architect.  If an Application for Progress Payment is determined not to be proper due to 

the failure or refusal of the contractor to submit the required documents with the 

Application for Progress Payment, or if it is reasonably determined that the Record 

Documents have not been continuously maintained to reflect the actual as-built 

conditions of the Work completed in the period for which the Progress Payment is 

requested, the thirty (30) day period hereunder for the District’s timely disbursement of a 

Progress Payment shall be deemed to commence on the date that the District is actually 

in receipt of a complete and proper Application for Progress Payment or verifies the 

proper updating of the as-built conditions. 

8.3.4.2 Untimely Disbursement of Progress Payments.  In accordance with Public 

Contract Code §20104.50, in the event that the District shall fail to make any Progress 

Payment within thirty (30) days after receipt of an undisputed and properly submitted 

Application for Progress Payment, the District shall pay the Contractor interest on the 

undisputed amount of such Application for Progress Payment equal to the legal rate of 

interest set forth in California Code of Civil Procedure § 685.010(a). 

8.3.4.3 District's Right to Disburse Progress or Final Payments by Joint Checks. 

The District may, in its sole discretion, issue joint checks to the Contractor and any 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 97



Subcontractor or Material Supplier providing work, labor, materials, equipment or 

services for the Project in satisfaction of its obligation to make Progress Payments or the 

Final Payment due hereunder.  District may require Contractor to provide copies of 

applicable Subcontracts, purchase orders, rental invoices or materials invoices. 

8.3.4.4 No Waiver of Defective or Non-Conforming Work.  The approval of any 

Application for Progress Payment or the disbursement of any Progress Payment to the 

Contractor shall not be deemed nor constitute acceptance of defective Work or Work not 

in conformity with the Contract Documents. 

8.3.5 Progress Payments for Changed Work. The Contractor's Applications for Progress 

Payment may include requests for payment on account of Changes in the Work which have 

been properly authorized and approved by the District’s Inspector, the Architect and the 

Board.  Except as provided for herein, no other payment shall be made by the District for 

Changes in the Work. 

8.3.6 Materials or Equipment Not Incorporated Into the Work. 

8.3.6.1 Limitations Upon Payment.  Except as expressly provided for herein, no 

payments shall be made by the District on account of any item of the Work, including 

without limitation, materials or equipment which has/have not been incorporated into and 

made a part of the Work. 

8.3.6.2 Materials or Equipment Delivered and Stored at the Site.  The District 

may, in its sole and exclusive discretion, make payment for materials or equipment not 

yet incorporated into the Work if, a request for payment of such materials or equipment is 

made and if all of the following are complied with: (a) the materials or equipment have 

been delivered to the Site; (b) adequate arrangements, reasonably satisfactory to the 

District, have been made by the Contractor to store and protect such materials or 

equipment at the Site including without limitation, insurance reasonably satisfactory to 

the District, covering and protecting against the risk of loss, destruction, theft or other 

damage to such materials or equipment while in storage; and (c) the establishment of 

procedures reasonably satisfactory to the District by which title to such materials or 

equipment will be vested in the District upon the District's payment therefor.  The 

Contractor acknowledges that the discretion to make, or not to make, payment for 

materials or equipment delivered or stored at the site of the Work pursuant to the 

preceding sentence shall be exercised exclusively by the District; the District's exercise of 

discretion not to make payment for materials or equipment delivered or stored at the Site, 

but not yet incorporated into the Work shall not be deemed the District's default 

hereunder.  In the event that the District shall elect to make payment for materials or 

equipment delivered and stored at the Site, the costs and expenses incurred to comply 

with the requirements of (b) and (c) of this Article 8.3.6.2 shall be borne solely and 

exclusively by the Contractor and no payment shall be made by the District on account of 

such costs and expenses. 

8.3.7 Exclusions From Progress Payments. No payments shall be made by the District for 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 98



materials or equipment to be incorporated into the Work where such materials or equipment 

have not been delivered or stored at the Site.  The District shall not make any payment on 

account of any materials or equipment which are in the process of being fabricated or which 

are in transit to the Site or other storage location. In addition to the District's right to withhold 

disbursement of any Progress Payment provided for in the Contract Documents, neither the 

Contractor's Application for Progress Payment shall include, nor shall the District be 

obligated to disburse any portion of the Contract Price for amounts which the Contractor 

does not intend to pay any Subcontractor, of any tier, or Material Supplier because of a 

dispute or any other reason. 

8.3.8 Title to Work.  The Contractor warrants that title to all Work covered by an 

Application for Progress Payment will pass to the District no later than the time of payment.  

The Contractor further warrants that upon submittal of an Application for Progress Payment, 

all Work for which a Progress Payment has been previously issued and the Contractor has 

received payment from the District therefor shall, to the best of the Contractor's knowledge, 

information and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims, stop notices, security interests or 

encumbrances in favor of the Contractor, Subcontractors, Material Suppliers or other persons 

or entities making a claim by reason of having provided labor, materials and equipment 

relating to the Work. 

8.4 Final Payment. 

8.4.1 Application for Final Payment.  When the Contractor has achieved Final 

Completion of the Work and has otherwise fully performed its obligations under the Contract 

Documents, the Contractor shall submit an Application for Final Payment on such form as 

approved by the District.  Thereupon, the Architect and the District's Inspector will promptly 

make a final inspection of the Work and when the Architect and the District's Inspector find 

the Work acceptable under the Contract Documents and that the Agreement has been fully 

performed by the Contractor, the Architect and the District's Inspector will thereupon 

promptly approve the Application for Final Payment, stating that to the best their knowledge, 

information and belief, the Work has been completed in accordance with the terms of the 

Contract Documents.  The Final Payment shall include the remaining balance of the Contract 

Price and any retention from Progress Payments previously withheld by the District. 

8.4.2 Conditions Precedent to Disbursement of Final Payment.  Neither Final Payment 

nor any remaining Contract Price shall become due until the Contractor submits to the 

District each and all of the following, the submittal of which are conditions precedent to the 

District's obligation to disburse the Final Payment: (i) an affidavit or certification by the 

Contractor that payrolls, bills for materials and other indebtedness incurred in connection 

with the Work for which the District or the District's property may or might be responsible or 

encumbered have been paid or otherwise satisfied; (ii) a certificate evidencing that insurance 

required by the Contract Documents to remain in force after the Contractor's receipt of Final 

Payment is currently in effect; (iii) a written statement that the Contractor knows of no 

substantial reason that the insurance will not be renewable to cover any period following 

Final Payment as required by the Contract Documents; if required (iv) consent of the Surety 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 99



on the Labor and Material Payment Bond and Performance Bond, to Final Payments if 

required; (v) duly completed and executed forms of Conditional or Unconditional Waivers 

and Releases of rights upon Final Payment of the Contractor, Subcontractors of any tier and 

Material Suppliers in accordance with California Civil Code §3262, with each of the same 

stating that there are, or will be, no claims for additional compensation after disbursement of 

the Final Payment; (vi) Operations and Maintenance manuals and separate warranties 

provided by any manufacturer or distributor of any materials or equipment incorporated into 

the Work; (vii) the Record Documents; (viii) the form of Guarantee included in the Contract 

Documents duly executed by an authorized representative of the Contractor; (ix) any and all 

other items or documents required by the Contract Documents to be delivered to the District 

upon completion of the Work; and  (x) if required by the District, such other data establishing 

payment or satisfaction of obligations such as receipts, releases and waivers of liens, stop 

notices, claims, security interest or encumbrances arising out of the Agreement to the extent 

and in such form as may be required by the District. 

 

8.4.3 Disbursement of Final Payment.  Provided that the District is then in receipt of all 

documents and other items in Article 8.4.2 above as conditions precedent to the District’s 

obligation to disburse Final Payment, not later than sixty (60) days following Final 

Acceptance the District shall disburse the Final Payment to the Contractor.  Pursuant to 

California Public Contract Code §7107, if there is any dispute between the District and the 

Contractor at the time that disbursement of the Final Payment is due, the District may 

withhold from disbursement of the Final Payment an amount not to exceed one hundred fifty 

percent (150%) of the amount in dispute. 

8.4.4 Waiver of Claims.  The Contractor's acceptance of the Final Payment is a waiver and 

release by the Contractor of any and all claims against the District for compensation or 

otherwise in connection with the Contractor's performance of the Agreement. 

8.4.5 Claims Asserted After Final Payment.  Any lien, stop notice or other claim filed or 

asserted after the Contractor's acceptance of the Final Payment by any Subcontractor, of any 

tier, laborer, Material Supplier or others in connection with or for Work performed under the 

Contract Documents shall be the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Contractor who 

further agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District and its officers, agents, 

representatives and employees from and against any claims, demands or judgments arising or 

associated therewith, including without limitation attorneys fees incurred by the District in 

connection therewith.  In the event any lien, stop notice or other claim of any Subcontractor, 

Laborer, Material Supplier or others performing Work under the Contract Documents remain 

unsatisfied after Final Payment is made, Contractor shall refund to District all monies that the 

District may pay or be compelled to pay in discharging any lien, stop notice or other claim, 

including, without limitation all costs and reasonable attorneys fees incurred by District in 

connection therewith. 

8.5 Withholding of Payments.  The District may decline to pay the Contractor, or reduce or 

withhold any portion of a payment otherwise due the Contractor for any Progress Payment or the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 100



Final Payment on account of: 

(i) In the District’s opinion, the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the 

Contract Price; 

(ii) In the District’s opinion, the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time 

and the unpaid balance of the Contract Price would not be adequate to cover liquidated damages 

resulting from the anticipated delay; 

(iii) Any damage has occurred to the District or any Subcontractor, Material Supplier or 

another contractor, and the Contractor may be liable for such damage; 

(iv) The Contractor fails to perform any portion of the Work in accordance with the 

Contract Documents or otherwise violates any provision of the Contract Documents or fails to 

discharge any Contractor obligation thereunder; 

(v) Any claims, liens, labor compliance withholds, or stop notices are filed in connection 

with the Work or asserted against the District, the Project or the Site; 

(vi) The Contractor fails to reimburse the District for any costs or expenses incurred by 

the District, or amounts advanced by the District, on behalf of the Contractor as may be provided or 

permitted in this Agreement; 

(vii) Notification has been given that a penalty will be assessed by any State, local or 

municipal agency or by the District for violations of any applicable laws, including, without 

limitation, tax laws, labor laws and/or fair employment laws;  

(viii) Any current and non-resolved non-compliance notices issued by any public agency; 

(ix) Failure to satisfy any of the requirements of the Labor Compliance Program; 

(x) Defective Work or Work not in conformity with the Contract Documents which is not 

remedied as required in Article 12 herein; 

 

(xi) Stop Notices or other liens or third party claims served upon the District as a result of 

the Agreement; 

 

(xii) Liquidated damages incurred by the District for delays to the Project; 

 

(xiii) Unsatisfactory prosecution of the Work by the Contractor; 

 

(xiv) Failure to store and properly secure materials; 

 

(xv) Failure of the Contractor to submit, on a timely basis, proper, sufficient, and 

acceptable documentation required by the Contract Documents, including, without limitation, a 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 101



Construction Schedule, Schedule of Submittals, Schedule of Values, monthly progress schedules, 

Shop Drawings, Product Data and samples, proposed product lists, executed Change Orders, and/or 

verified reports; 

 

(xvi) Failure of the Contractor to maintain Record Documents; 

 

(xvii) Erroneous estimates by the Contractor of the value of the Work performed, or other 

false statements in an Application for Payment; 

 

(xviii) Unauthorized deviations from the Contract Documents; 

 

(xix) Failure of the Contractor to prosecute the Work in a timely manner in compliance 

with the Construction Schedule, established progress schedules, and/or completion dates; 

 

(xx) If the District has an LCP in force on this Project, the failure to provide certified 

payroll records acceptable to the District for each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee 

employed by the Contractor and/or each Subcontractor in connection with the Work for the period of 

the Application for Payment; 

 

(xxi) Failure to properly pay prevailing wages as defined in Labor Code §§1720 et seq., 

failure to comply with any other Labor Code requirements, and/or failure to comply with the 

District’s LCP, if one is in force on this Project; 

 

(xxii) Failure to properly maintain or clean up the Site; 

 

(xxiii) Failure to indemnify, defend, or hold harmless the District; 

 

(xxiv) Failure to make payments due to the District, including but not limited to payments 

for failed tests, utilities changes, or permits; 

 

(xxv) Failure of the Contractor to make payments when due Subcontractors or Material 

Suppliers for materials or labor; 

 

(xxvi) Contractor is otherwise in breach, default, or in substantial violation of any provision 

of this Agreement. 

 

In addition to the foregoing, the District shall not be obligated to process any Application for 

Progress Payment or Final Payment, nor shall Contractor be entitled to any Progress Payment or 

Final Payment so long as any lawful or proper direction concerning the Work or the performance 

thereof or any portion thereof, given by the District, the District’s Inspector, the Architect or any 

public authority having jurisdiction over the Work, or any portion thereof, shall not be fully and 

completely complied with by the Contractor.  When the District is reasonably satisfied that the 

Contractor has remedied any such deficiency, payment shall be made of the amount withheld.  If the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 102



District elects to withhold payment from the Contractor pursuant to this Article 8.5, then the District 

will be permitted to withhold such amounts as the District may, in its reasonable discretion, deem 

necessary to (A) protect the District against any and all liabilities to Subcontractors, Material 

Suppliers or any other persons as a result of the Work or any of the Contractor’s acts or omissions, 

(B) correct any defective Work or remedy any breach of the Contract Documents, (C) recover and 

collect liquidated damages in the event completion of the Project is delayed, (D) recover and collect 

any costs or expenses paid by, or amounts advanced by, the District on behalf of Contractor, (E) 

collect any penalty that may be assessed against the Contractor for violations of any applicable laws, 

including, without limitation, labor laws and/or fair employment laws, and/or (F) recover any 

testing/inspections costs incurred by the District in connection with failed tests or inspections.  The 

District may apply any such withheld amount or amounts to the payment and satisfaction of such 

claims or obligations at its discretion.  In so doing, the District shall be deemed the agent of 

Contractor and any payment so made by the District shall be considered as a payment made under the 

Agreement by the District to the Contractor and shall be so deducted from the Contract Price 

otherwise due the Contractor.  The District shall not be liable to Contractor for any such payments 

made in good faith.  Such payments may be made without prior judicial determination of the claim or 

the obligation to make such payment.  The District will render the Contractor a proper accounting of 

any such amounts retained or disbursed by the District on behalf of the Contractor. 

8.6 Payments to Subcontractors.  The Contractor shall pay all Subcontractors for and on 

account of Work of the Agreement performed by such Subcontractors in accordance with the terms 

of their respective subcontracts and as provided for pursuant to California Public Contract Code 

§10262, the provisions of which are deemed incorporated herein by this reference.  In the event of 

the Contractor's failure to make payment to Subcontractors in conformity with California Public 

Contract Code §10262, the provisions of California Public Contract Code §10253 shall apply; by this 

reference, the provisions of California Public Contract Code §10253 are incorporated herein in its 

entirety, except that the references in said Section 10253 to "the director" shall be deemed to refer to 

the District. 

ARTICLE 9: CHANGES 

9.1 Changes in the Work.  The District, at any time, by written order, may make Changes 

within the general scope of the Work under the Contract Documents or issue additional instructions; 

require additional Work or direct deletion of Work.  The Contractor shall not proceed with any 

Change involving an increase or decrease in the Contract Price or the Contract Time without prior 

written authorization from the District. The foregoing notwithstanding, the Contractor shall promptly 

commence and diligently complete any Change to the Work subject to the District's written 

authorized issued pursuant to the preceding sentence; the Contractor shall not be relieved or excused 

from its prompt commencement and diligent completion of any Change subject to the District's 

written authorization by virtue of the absence or inability of the Contractor and the District to agree 

upon the extent of any adjustment to the Contract Time or the Contract Price on account of such 

Change.  The issuance of a Change Order pursuant to this Article 9 in connection with any Change 

authorized by the District under this Article 9.1 shall not be deemed a condition precedent to 

Contractor's obligation to promptly commence and diligently complete any such Change authorized 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 103



by the District hereunder.  The District's right to make Changes shall not invalidate the Agreement 

nor relieve the Contractor of any liability or other obligations under the Contract Documents.  Any 

requirement of notice of Changes in the scope of Work to the Surety shall be the responsibility of the 

Contractor.  Changes to the Work depicted or described in the drawings or the specifications shall be 

subject to approval by the DSA.  The District may make Changes to bring the Work or the Project 

into compliance with environmental requirements or standards established by state or federal statutes 

and regulations enacted after the parties have entered into the Agreement. 

9.2 Oral Order of Change in the Work.  Any oral order, direction, instruction, interpretation, 

or determination from the District, the District's Inspector or the Architect which in the opinion of 

the Contractor causes any change to the scope of the Work, or otherwise requires an adjustment to 

the Contract Price or the Contract Time, shall be treated as a Change only if the Contractor gives the 

Architect and the District's Inspector written notice within ten (10) days of the order, directions, 

instructions, interpretation or determination and prior to acting in accordance therewith.  Time is of 

the essence in Contractor's written notice pursuant to the preceding sentence so that the District can 

promptly investigate and consider alternative measures to address the order, direction, instruction, 

interpretation or determination giving rise to Contractor's notice.  Accordingly, Contractor 

acknowledges that its failure, for any reason, to give written notice within ten (10) days of such 

order, direction, instruction, interpretation or determination shall be deemed Contractor's waiver of 

any right to assert or claim any entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract 

Price on account of such order, direction, instruction, interpretation or determination.  The written 

notice shall state the date, circumstances, extent of adjustment to the Contract Price or the Contract 

Time, if any, requested, and the source of the order, directions, instructions, interpretation or 

determination that the Contractor regards as a Change.  Unless the Contractor acts in strict 

accordance with this procedure, any such order, direction, instruction, interpretation or determination 

shall not be treated as a Change and the Contractor hereby waives any claim for any adjustment to 

the Contract Price or the Contract Time on account thereof. 

9.3 Contractor Submittal of Data.  Within five (5) days after receipt of a written order directing 

a Change in the Work or furnishing the written notice regarding any oral order directing a Change in 

the Work, the Contractor shall submit to the District a detailed written statement setting forth the 

amount of any adjustment to the Contract Price on account thereof, properly itemized and supported 

by sufficient substantiating data to permit evaluation of the same, and the extent of adjustment of the 

Contract Time, if any, required by such Change.  No claim or adjustment to the Contract Price or the 

Contract Time shall be allowed if not asserted by the Contractor in strict conformity herewith or if 

asserted after Final Payment is made under the Contract Documents. 

9.4 Adjustment to Contract Price and Contract Time on Account of Changes to the Work. 

9.4.1 Adjustment to Contract Price.   Adjustments to the Contract Price due to Changes 

in the Work shall be determined by application of one of the following methods, in the 

following order of priority: 

9.4.1.1 Mutual Agreement.  By negotiation and mutual agreement, on a lump sum 

basis, between the District and the Contractor on the basis of the estimate of the actual 

and direct increase or decrease in costs on account of the Change.  Upon request of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 104



District, the Contractor shall provide a detailed estimate of increase or decrease in costs 

directly associated with performance of the Change along with cost breakdowns of the 

components of the Change and supporting data and documentation.  The Contractor shall 

be solely responsible for any additional costs or additional time arising out of, or related 

in any manner to, its failure to provide the estimate of costs within five (5) days after the 

receipt of the written request of the District for such estimate. 

9.4.1.2 Determination by the District.  By the District, whether or not negotiations 

are initiated pursuant to Article 9.4.1.1 above, based upon actual and necessary costs 

incurred by the Contractor as determined by the District on the basis of the Contractor's 

records.  In the event that the procedure set forth in this Article 9.4.1.2 is utilized to 

determine the extent of adjustment to the Contract Price on account of Changes to the 

Work, promptly upon determining the extent of adjustment to the Contract Price, the 

District shall notify the Contractor in writing of the same; the Contractor shall be deemed 

to have accepted the District's determination of the amount of adjustment to the Contract 

Price on account of a Change to the Work unless Contractor shall notify the District, the 

Architect and the District's Inspector, in writing, not more than five (5) days from the 

date of the District's written notice, of any objection to the District's determination.  

Failure of the Contractor to timely notify the District, the Architect and the District's 

Inspector of Contractor's objections to the District's determination of the extent of 

adjustment to the Contract Price shall be deemed Contractor's acceptance of the District's 

determination and a waiver of any right or basis of the Contractor to thereafter protest or 

otherwise object to the District's determination.  Notwithstanding any objection of the 

Contractor to the District's determination of the extent of any adjustment to the Contract 

Price pursuant to this Article 9.4.1.2, Contractor shall, pursuant to Article 9.7 below, 

diligently proceed to perform and complete any such Change. 

9.4.1.3 Basis for Adjustment of Contract Price.  If Changes in the Work require an 

adjustment of the Contract Price pursuant to Articles 9.4.1.1 or 9.4.1.2 above, the basis 

for adjustment of the Contract Price shall be as follows: 

9.4.1.3.1  Labor.  Contractor shall be compensated for the costs of labor 

actually and directly utilized in the performance of the Change.  Wage rates for labor 

shall not be less than the prevailing wage rates in the locality of the Site and shall be 

commensurate with the labor classification(s) necessary for the performance of the 

Change.  Use of a labor classification which would increase labor costs associated 

with any Change shall not be permitted.  Labor costs shall exclude costs incurred by 

the Contractor in preparing estimate(s) of the costs of the Change, in the maintenance 

of records relating to the costs of the Change, coordination and assembly of materials 

and information relating to the Change or performance thereof, or the supervision and 

other overhead and general conditions costs associated with the Change or 

performance thereof. 

9.4.1.3.2 Materials and Equipment.  Contractor shall be compensated for the 

costs of materials and equipment necessarily and actually used or consumed in 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 105



connection with the performance of Changes.  Costs of materials and equipment may 

include reasonable costs of transportation from a source closest to the site of the 

Work and delivery to the Site.  If discounts by Material Suppliers are available for 

materials necessarily used in the performance of Changes, they shall be credited to 

the District.  If materials and/or equipment necessarily used in the performance of 

Changes are obtained from a supplier or source owned in whole or in part by the 

Contractor, compensation therefor shall not exceed the current wholesale price for 

such materials or equipment.  If, in the reasonable opinion of the District, the costs 

asserted by the Contractor for materials and/or equipment in connection with any 

Change is excessive, or if the Contractor fails to provide satisfactory evidence of the 

actual costs of such materials and/or equipment from its supplier or vendor of the 

same, the costs of such materials and/or equipment and the District's obligation for 

payment of the same shall be limited to the then lowest wholesale price at which 

similar materials and/or equipment are available in the quantities required to perform 

the Change.  The District may elect to furnish materials and/or equipment for 

Changes to the Work, in which event the Contractor shall not be compensated for the 

costs of furnishing such materials and/or equipment or any mark-up thereon. 

9.4.1.3.3 Construction Equipment. Contractor shall be compensated for the 

actual cost of the necessary and direct use of Construction Equipment in the 

performance of Changes to the Work.  Use of such Construction Equipment in the 

performance of Changes to the Work shall be compensated in increments of hourly, 

weekly or monthly rates, whichever shall be the most economical to the District when 

applied to the scope of the specific change.  Rental time for Construction Equipment 

moved by its own power shall include time required to move such Construction 

Equipment to the site of the Work from the nearest available rental source of the 

same.  If Construction Equipment is not moved to the Site by its own power, 

Contractor will be compensated for the loading and transportation costs in lieu of 

rental time.  The foregoing notwithstanding, neither moving time or loading and 

transportation time shall be allowed if the Construction Equipment is used for 

performance of any portion of the Work other than Changes to the Work.  Unless 

prior approval in writing is obtained by the Contractor from the Architect, the 

District's Inspector and the District, no costs or compensation shall be allowed for 

time while Construction Equipment is inoperative, idle or on standby, for any reason. 

The Contractor shall not be entitled to an allowance or any other compensation for 

Construction Equipment or tools used in the performance of Changes to the Work 

where such Construction Equipment or tools have a replacement value of $1,000.00 

or less.  Construction Equipment costs claimed by the Contractor in connection with 

the performance of any Change to the Work shall not exceed rental rates (Blue Book) 

established by distributors or construction equipment rental agencies in the locality of 

the Site; any costs asserted which exceed such rental rates shall not be allowed or 

paid. Unless otherwise specifically approved in writing by the Architect, the District's 

Inspector and the District, the allowable rate for the use of Construction Equipment 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 106



in connection with Changes to the Work shall constitute full compensation to the 

Contractor for the cost of rental, fuel, power, oil, lubrication, supplies, necessary 

attachments, repairs or maintenance of any kind, depreciation, storage, insurance, 

labor (exclusive of labor costs of the Construction Equipment operator), and any all 

other costs incurred by the Contractor incidental to the use of such Construction 

Equipment. 

9.4.1.3.4 Mark-up on Costs of Changes to the Work.  In the event a Change 

adding to the Work is authorized by the District, Contractor shall be paid a mark-up 

on the direct costs of the Change for general conditions and administration costs, all 

overhead (including home office and field overhead) and profit, which mark-up shall 

not exceed 15%.   If a Change to the Work reduces the Contract Price, the maximum 

adjustment to the Contract Price shall be the actual cost reduction realized by the 

reduced or deleted Work multiplied by the percentage set forth for additions in scope 

above. 

9.4.1.4 Contractor Maintenance of Records.  In the event that Contractor shall be 

directed to perform any Changes to the Work pursuant to Article 9.1 or 9.2, or should the 

Contractor encounter conditions which the Contractor, pursuant to Article 9.6, believes 

would obligate the District to adjust the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time, 

Contractor shall maintain detailed records on a daily basis.  Such records shall include 

without limitation hourly records for labor and Construction Equipment and itemized 

records of materials and equipment used that day in connection with the performance of 

any Change to the Work.  In the event that more than one Change to the Work is 

performed by the Contractor in a calendar day, Contractor shall maintain separate records 

of labor, Construction Equipment, materials and equipment for each such Change.  In the 

event that any Subcontractor, of any tier, shall provide or perform any portion of any 

Change to the Work, Contractor shall require that each such Subcontractor maintain 

records in accordance with this Article.  Each daily record maintained hereunder shall be 

signed by Contractor's Superintendent or Contractor's authorized representative; such 

signature shall be deemed Contractor's representation and warranty that all information 

contained therein is true, accurate, and complete and relate only to the Change referenced 

therein. All records maintained by a Subcontractor, of any tier, relating to the costs of a 

Change to the Work shall be signed by such Subcontractor's authorized representative or 

Superintendent. All records maintained hereunder shall be subject to inspection, review 

and/or reproduction by the District, the Architect or the District's Inspector upon request. 

 In the event that Contractor shall fail or refuse, for any reason, to maintain or make 

available for inspection, review and/or reproduction such records and the adjustment to 

the Contract Price on account of any Change to the Work is determined pursuant to this 

Article, the District's reasonable good faith determination of the extent of adjustment to 

the Contract Price on account of such Change shall be final, conclusive, dispositive and 

binding upon Contractor.  Contractor's obligation to maintain records hereunder is in 

addition to, and not in lieu of, any other Contractor obligation under the Contract 

Documents with respect to Changes to the Work. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 107



9.4.2 Adjustment to Contract Time.  In the event of any Change(s) to the Work pursuant 

to this Article 9, the Contract Time shall be extended or reduced by Change Order for a 

period of time commensurate with the time reasonably necessary to perform such Change.  

Such time shall be requested in writing by the Contractor with the Contract Price Adjustment 

Proposal.  The time extension request shall be justified by the Contractor by submittal of a 

CPM analysis accurately portraying the impact of the change on the critical path of the 

project schedule.  Changes performed within available float as indicated in the updated 

Approved Construction Schedule shall not justify a time extension to the Contract Time.  

When agreement is reached between the District and Contractor that a Change shall require 

an extension of the Contract Time, the Contractor shall not be subject to Liquidated Damages 

for such period of time.  If completion of the Work is delayed by causes for which the 

District is responsible and the delay is unreasonable under the circumstances involved, and 

not within the contemplation of the Contractor and the District at the time of execution of the 

Agreement, the Contractor shall not be precluded from the recovery of damages arising 

therefrom. 

9.4.3 Addition or Deletion of Alternate Bid Item(s).  If the Bid for the Work includes 

proposal(s) for Alternate Bid Item(s), during Contractor's performance of the Work, the 

District may elect, pursuant to this Article to add any such Alternate Bid Item(s) if the same 

did not form a basis for award of the Agreement or delete any such Alternate Bid Item(s) if 

the same formed a basis for award of the Agreement.  If the District elects to add or delete 

any such Alternate Bid Item(s) pursuant to the foregoing, the cost or credit for such Alternate 

Bid Item(s) shall be as set forth in the Contractor’s Bid. 

9.5 Change Orders.  If the District approves of a Change, a written Change Order prepared on 

behalf of the District shall be forwarded to the Contractor describing the Change and setting forth the 

adjustment to the Contract Time and the Contract Price, if any, on account of such Change.  All 

Change Orders shall be in full payment and final settlement of all claims for direct, indirect and 

consequential costs, including without limitation, costs of delays or impacts related to, or arising out 

of, items covered and affected by the Change Order, as well as any adjustments to the Contract Time. 

 Any claim or item relating to any Change incorporated into a Change Order not presented by the 

Contractor for inclusion in the Change Order shall be deemed waived.  The Contractor shall execute 

the Change Order prepared pursuant to the foregoing; once the Change Order has been prepared and 

forwarded to the Contractor for execution, without the prior approval of the District which may be 

granted or withheld in the sole and exclusive discretion of the District, the Contractor shall not 

modify or amend the form or content of such Change Order, or any portion thereof.  The Contractor's 

attempted or purported modification or amendment of any such Change Order, without the prior 

approval of the District, shall not be binding upon the District; any such unapproved modification or 

amendment to such Change Order shall be null, void and unenforceable.  Unless otherwise expressly 

provided for in the Contract Documents or in the Change Order, any Change Order issued hereunder 

shall be binding upon the District only upon action of the District's Board of Trustees approving and 

ratifying such Change Order.  In the event of any amendment or modification made by the Contractor 

to a Change Order for which there is no prior approval by the District, in accordance with the 

provisions of this Article 9.5, unless otherwise expressly stated in its approval and ratification of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 108



such Change Order, any action of the Board of Trustees to approve and ratify such Change Order 

shall be deemed to be limited to the Change Order as prepared by the Architect; such approval and 

ratification of such Change Order shall not be deemed the District's approval and ratification of any 

unapproved amendment or modification by the Contractor to such Change Order. 

9.6 Contractor Notice of Changes.  If the Contractor should claim that any instruction, request, 

the drawings, the specifications, action, condition, omission, default, or other situation obligates the 

District to increase the Contract Price or to extend the Contract Time, the Contractor shall notify the 

District's Project Manager and the Architect, in writing, of such claim within ten (10) days from the 

date of its actual or constructive notice of the factual basis supporting the same.  The District shall 

consider any such claim of the Contractor only if sufficient supporting documentation is submitted 

with the Contractor's notice to the District's Project Manager and the Architect.  Time is of the 

essence in Contractor's written notice pursuant to the preceding sentence so that the District can 

promptly investigate and consider alternative measures to the address such instruction, request, 

drawings, specifications, action, condition, omission, default or other situation.  Accordingly, 

Contractor acknowledges that its failure, for any reason, to give written notice (with sufficient 

supporting documentation to permit the District's review and evaluation) within ten (10) days of its 

actual or constructive knowledge of any instruction, request, drawings, specifications, action, 

condition, omission, default or other situation for which the Contractor believes there should an 

adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract Price shall be deemed Contractor's waiver, release, 

discharge and relinquishment of any right to assert or claim any entitlement to an adjustment of the 

Contract Time or the Contract Price on account of any such instruction, request, drawings, 

specifications, action, condition, omission, default or other situation.  The District shall consider any 

such claim of the Contractor only if sufficient supporting documentation is submitted with the 

Contractor's notice to the District's Project Manager and the Architect. In the event that the District 

determines that the Contract Price or the Contract Time are subject to adjustment based upon the 

events, circumstances and supporting documentation submitted with the Contractor's written notice 

under this Article 9.6, any such adjustment shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of 

Articles 9.4.1 and 9.4.2. 

9.7 Disputed Changes.  In the event of any dispute or disagreement between the Contractor and 

the District or the Architect regarding the characterization of any item as a Change to the Work or as 

to the appropriate adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Time on account thereof, the 

Contractor shall promptly proceed with the performance of such item of the Work, subject to a 

subsequent resolution of such dispute or disagreement in accordance with the terms of the Contract 

Documents.  The Contractor's failure or refusal to so proceed with such Work may be deemed to be 

Contractor's default of a material obligation of the Contractor under the Contract Documents. 

9.8 Emergencies.  In an emergency affecting the safety of life, or of the Work, or of property, the 

Contractor, without special instruction or prior authorization from the District or the Architect, is 

permitted to act at its discretion to prevent such threatened loss or injury.  Any compensation 

claimed by the Contractor on account of such emergency work shall be submitted and determined in 

accordance with this Article 9. 

9.9 Minor Changes in the Work.  The Architect may order minor Changes in the Work not 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 109



involving an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Time and not inconsistent with the 

intent of the Contract Documents.  Such Changes shall be effected by written order and shall be 

binding on the District and the Contractor.  The Project Manager or the District's Inspector may 

direct the Contractor to perform Changes provided that each such Change does not result in an 

increase of more than $500.00 to the Contract Price and no adjustment of the Contract Time.  The 

Contractor shall carry out such orders promptly. 

9.10 Unauthorized Changes.  Any Work beyond the lines and grades shown on the Contract 

Documents, or any extra Work performed or provided by the Contractor without notice to the 

Architect and the District's Inspector in the manner and within the time set forth in Articles 9.2 or 9.6 

shall be considered unauthorized and at the sole expense of the Contractor.  Work so done will not 

be measured or paid for, no extension to the Contract Time will be granted on account thereof and 

any such Work may be ordered removed at the Contractor's sole cost and expense.  The failure of the 

District to direct or order removal of such Work shall not constitute acceptance or approval of such 

Work nor relieve the Contractor from any liability on account thereof. 

ARTICLE 10:  SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 

10.1 District's Right to Award Separate Contracts.  The District reserves the right to perform 

construction or operations related to the Project with the District's own forces or to award separate 

contracts in connection with other portions of the Project or other construction or operations at or 

about the Site.   If the Contractor claims that delay or additional cost is involved because of such 

action by the District, the Contractor shall seek an adjustment to the Contract Price or the Contract 

Time as provided for in the Contract Documents.  Failure of the Contractor to request such an 

adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract Price in strict conformity with the provisions of the 

Contract Documents applicable thereto shall be deemed a waiver of the same. 

10.2 District's Coordination of Separate Contractors.  The District shall provide for 

coordination of the activities of the District's own forces and of each separate contractor with the 

Work of the Contractor, who shall cooperate with them.  The Contractor shall participate with other 

separate contractors and the District in reviewing their respective Construction Schedules when 

directed to do so.  The Contractor shall make any revisions to the Approved Construction Schedule 

for the Work hereunder deemed necessary after a joint review and mutual agreement.  The 

Construction Schedules shall then constitute the Construction Schedules to be used by the 

Contractor, separate contractors and the District until subsequently revised. 

10.3 Mutual Responsibility.  The Contractor shall afford the District and separate contractor’s 

reasonable opportunity for storage of their materials and equipment and performance of their 

activities at the Site and shall connect and coordinate the Contractor's Work, construction and 

operations with theirs as required by the Contract Documents. 

10.4 Discrepancies or Defects.  If part of the Contractor's Work depends for proper execution or 

results upon construction or operations by the District or a separate contractor, the Contractor shall, 

prior to proceeding with that portion of the Work, promptly report to the Project Manager any 

apparent discrepancies or defects in such other construction that would render it unsuitable for such 

proper execution and results.  Failure of the Contractor to so report shall constitute an 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 110



acknowledgment that the District's or separate contractors' completed or partially completed 

construction is fit and proper to receive the Contractor's Work, except as to defects not then 

discoverable by the Contractor's reasonable diligence. 

ARTICLE 11: TESTS AND INSPECTIONS 

11.1 Tests; Inspections; Observations. 

11.1.1 Contractor's Notice.  If the Contract Documents, laws, ordinances or any public 

authority with jurisdiction over the Work requires the Work, or any portion thereof, to be 

specially tested, inspected or approved, the Contractor shall give the Project Manger written 

notice of the readiness of such Work for observation, testing or inspection at least two (2) 

working days prior to the time for the conducting of such test, inspection or observation.  If 

inspection, testing or observation is by authority other than the District, the Contractor shall 

inform the District's Inspector and the Project Manager not less than two (2) working days 

prior to the date fixed for such inspection, test or observation.  The Contractor shall not cover 

up any portion of the Work subject to tests, inspections or observations prior to the 

completion and satisfaction of the requirements of such test, inspection or observation.  In 

the event that any portion of the Work subject to tests, inspection or approval shall be 

covered up by Contractor prior to completion and satisfaction of the requirements of such 

tests, inspection or approval, Contractor shall be responsible for the uncovering of such 

portion of the Work as is necessary for performing such tests, inspection or approval without 

adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Time on account thereof. 

11.1.2 Cost of Tests and Inspections.  Costs for tests and inspection of materials shall be 

paid by the District as provided for herein. Within twenty (20) days after the establishment of 

the Approved Construction Schedule pursuant to Article 7.3 hereof, the District shall submit 

to the Contractor a written list of the portions of the Work subject to special tests or 

inspections to be paid for by the District along with the number of hours or costs of testing or 

inspection allocated for each such portion of the Work.  Should any act, omission or other 

conduct of the Contractor, any of its Subcontractors, of any tier, or Material Suppliers cause 

the number of hours or the costs of such tests or inspections to exceed that set forth in the 

District's list submitted pursuant to the foregoing, the Contractor shall be solely responsible 

for all such excess costs and the District may deduct such amount from any portion of the 

Contract Price then or thereafter due the Contractor.  The District will pay for all tests and 

inspections provided that, in addition to the cost to be paid by the Contractor previously set 

forth in this Article, the Contractor shall pay for all tests and inspections under any of the 

following conditions:  (i) when such costs are stipulated in the provisions of the Contract 

Documents to be borne by the Contractor; (ii) when a material is tested or inspected and fails 

to meet the requirements of the specifications and/or drawings; or (iii) when the source of the 

material is changed after the original test or inspection has been made or approved. 

11.1.3 Testing/Inspection Laboratory.  The District shall select duly qualified person(s) or 

testing laboratory(ies) to conduct the tests and inspections to be paid for by the District and 

required by the Contract Documents.  All such tests and inspections shall be in conformity 

with the latest adopted Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations.  Where inspection or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 111



testing is to be conducted by an independent laboratory or testing agency, materials or 

samples thereof shall be selected by the laboratory, testing agency, the District's Inspector, 

the Project Manager or the Architect and not by the Contractor. 

11.1.4 Additional Tests, Inspections and Approvals.  If the Architect, the Project 

Manager, the District's Inspector or public authorities having jurisdiction over the Work 

determine that portions of the Work require additional testing, inspection or approval, the 

Project Manager shall instruct the Contractor to make arrangements for such additional 

testing, inspection or approval by an entity acceptable to the District, and the Contractor shall 

give timely notice to the Project Manager of when and where tests and inspections are to be 

made so the District's Inspector and the Architect may observe such procedures.  The District 

shall bear the costs of such additional tests, inspections or approvals, except to the extent that 

such additional tests, inspections or approvals reveal any failure of the Work to comply with 

the requirements of the Contract Documents, in which case the Contractor shall bear all costs 

made necessary by such failures, including without limitation, the costs of corrections, repeat 

tests, inspections or approvals and the costs of the Architect's services or its consultants in 

connection therewith.  Where required DSA testing of the work identifies a failure rate of ten 

percent (10%) or greater for any system, scope of work, installation or subtrade that has been 

specifically targeted, District may, at its sole discretion, order that all such similar systems, 

installations, scopes of work or subtrade work used in connection with the Project be tested, 

and the cost to test all such work shall be paid by the Contractor. 

11.2 Delivery of Certificates.  Required certificates of testing, inspection or approval shall, unless 

otherwise required by the Contract Documents, be secured by the Contractor and promptly delivered 

to the Architect.  If a material is not required to be tested, the Architect, Inspector or the District may 

require Contractor to furnish a certificate bearing the official and legal signature of the supplier with 

each delivery of such material, which certificate shall state that the material complies with the 

Specifications. 

11.3 Timeliness of Tests, Inspections and Approvals.  Tests or inspections required and 

conducted pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be made or arranged by Contractor to avoid 

delay in the progress of the Work. 

ARTICLE 12:  UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 

12.1 Inspection of the Work. 

12.1.1 Access to the Work.  All Work and all materials and equipment forming a part of the 

Work or incorporated into the Work are subject to inspection by the District, the Project 

Manager, the Architect and the District's Inspector for conformity with the Contract 

Documents.  The Contractor shall, at its cost and without adjustment to the Contract Price or 

the Contract Time, furnish any facilities necessary for sufficient and safe access to the Work 

for purposes of inspection by the District, the Project Manager, the Architect, the District's 

Inspector, DSA or any other public or quasi-public authority with jurisdiction over the Work 

or any portion thereof. 

12.1.2 Limitations Upon Inspections.  Inspections, tests, measurements, or other acts of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 112



Architect and the District's Inspector hereunder are for the sole purpose of assisting them in 

determining that the Work, materials, equipment, progress of the Work, and quantities 

generally comply and conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents.  These acts or 

functions shall not relieve the Contractor from performing the Work in full compliance with 

the Contract Documents.  No inspection by the Architect or the District's Inspector shall 

constitute or imply acceptance of Work inspected.  Inspection of the Work hereunder is in 

addition to, and not in lieu of, any other testing, inspections or approvals of the Work 

required under the Contract Documents. 

12.2 Uncovering of Work.  If any portion of the Work is covered contrary to the request of the 

Architect, the District's Inspector, the Project Manager or the requirements of the Contract 

Documents, it must be uncovered by the Contractor for observation by such District representative 

and be replaced by the Contractor without adjustment of the Contract Time or the Contract Price. 

12.3 Rejection of Work.  Prior to the District's Final Acceptance of the Work, any Work or 

materials or equipment forming a part of the Work or incorporated into the Work which is defective 

or not in conformity with the Contract Documents may be rejected by the District, the Project 

Manager, the Architect or the District's Inspector and the Contractor shall correct such rejected Work 

without any adjustment to the Contract Price or the Contract Time, even if the Work, materials or 

equipment have been previously inspected by the Architect or the District's Inspector or even if they 

failed to observe the defective or non-conforming Work, materials or equipment. 

12.4 Correction of Work.  The Contractor shall promptly correct any portion of the Work 

rejected by the District, the Project Manager, the Architect or the District's Inspector for failing to 

conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents, or which is determined by them to be 

defective, whether observed before or after Final Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed 

or completed.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of correcting such rejected Work, including 

additional testing and inspections and compensation for the Architect's or Inspector’s services and 

expenses made necessary thereby.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of correcting destroyed or 

damaged construction, whether completed or partially completed, of the District or separate 

contractors, caused by the Contractor's correction or removal of Work which is not in accordance 

with the requirements of the Contract Documents, or which is defective. 

12.5 Removal of Non-Conforming or Defective Work.  The Contractor shall, at its sole cost and 

expense, remove from the Site all portions of the Work which are defective or are not in accordance 

with the requirements of the Contract Documents which are neither corrected by the Contractor nor 

accepted by the District. 

12.6 Failure of Contractor to Correct Work.  If the Contractor fails to commence to correct 

defective or non-conforming Work within three (3) days of notice of such condition and promptly 

thereafter complete the same within a reasonable time, the District may correct it in accordance with 

the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor does not so proceed, the District may remove it and store 

the salvable materials or equipment at the Contractor's expense.  If the Contractor does not pay costs 

of such removal and storage after written notice, the District may sell such materials or equipment at 

auction or at private sale and shall account for the proceeds thereof, after deducting costs and 

damages that should have been borne by the Contractor, including without limitation compensation 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 113



for the Architect's and Inspector’s services, attorneys fees and other expenses made necessary 

thereby.  If such proceeds of sale do not cover costs which the Contractor should have borne, the 

Contract Price shall be reduced by the deficiency.  If payments of the Contract Price then or 

thereafter due the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such amount, the Contractor and the Surety 

shall promptly pay the difference to the District. 

12.7 Acceptance of Defective or Non-Conforming Work.  The District may, in its sole and 

exclusive discretion, elect to accept Work which is defective or which is not in accordance with the 

requirements of the Contract Documents, instead of requiring its removal and correction, in which 

case the Contract Price shall be reduced as appropriate and equitable. 

ARTICLE 13: WARRANTIES 

13.1 Workmanship and Materials.  The Contractor warrants to the District that all materials and 

equipment furnished under the Contract Documents shall be new, of good quality and of the most 

suitable grade and quality for the purpose intended, unless otherwise specified in the Contract 

Documents.  All Work shall be of good quality, free from faults and defects and in conformity with 

the requirements of the Contract Documents.  If required by the District, the Contractor shall furnish 

satisfactory evidence as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment incorporated into the 

Work.  Any work or portion thereof not conforming to these requirements, including substitutions or 

alternatives not properly approved in accordance with the Contract Documents may be deemed 

defective.  Where there is an approved substitution of, or alternative to, material or equipment 

specified in the Contract Documents, the Contractor warrants to the District that such installation, 

construction, material, or equipment will equally perform the function and have the quality of the 

originally specified material or equipment.  The Contractor expressly warrants the merchantability, 

the fitness for use, and quality of all substitute or alternative items in addition to any warranty given 

by the manufacturer or supplier of such item. 

13.2 Warranty Work.  If, within one year after the date of DSA Approval, or such other time 

frame set forth elsewhere in the Contract Documents, any of the Work is found to be defective or not 

in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, or otherwise contrary to the 

warranties contained in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall commence all necessary 

corrective action not more than seven (7) days after receipt of a written notice from the District to do 

so, and to thereafter diligently complete the same.  In the event that Contractor shall fail or refuse to 

commence correction of any such item within said seven (7) day period or to diligently prosecute 

such corrective actions to completion, the District may, without further notice to Contractor, cause 

such corrective Work to be performed and completed.  In such event, Contractor and Contractor's 

Performance Bond Surety shall be responsible for all costs in connection with such corrective Work, 

including without limitation, general administrative overhead costs of the District in securing and 

overseeing such corrective Work.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed to establish a period 

of limitation with respect to any obligation of the Contractor under the Contract Documents.  The 

obligations of the Contractor hereunder shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 

obligations imposed by any special guarantee or warranty required by the Contract Documents, 

guarantees or warranties provided by any manufacturer of any item or equipment forming a part of, 

or incorporated into the Work, or otherwise recognized, prescribed or imposed by law.  Neither the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 114



District's Final Acceptance, the making of Final Payment, any provision in Contract Documents, nor 

the use or occupancy of the Work, in whole or in part, by District shall constitute acceptance of 

Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents nor relieve the Contractor or the Contractor's 

Performance Bond Surety from liability with respect to any warranties or responsibility for faulty or 

defective Work or materials, equipment and workmanship incorporated therein. 

13.3 Guarantee.  Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall execute and deliver to the 

District the form of Guarantee included within the Contract Documents.  The Contractor's execution 

and delivery of the form of Guarantee is an express condition precedent to any obligation of the 

District to disburse the Final Payment to the Contractor. 

13.4 Survival of Warranties.  The provisions of this Article 13 shall survive the Contractor's 

completion of Work under the Contract Documents, the District's Final Acceptance or the 

termination of the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 14:  SUSPENSION OF WORK 

14.1 District's Right to Suspend Work. The District may, without cause and without invalidating 

or terminating the Agreement, order the Contractor, in writing, to suspend, delay or interrupt the 

Work in whole or in part for such period of time as the District may determine.  The Contractor shall 

resume and complete the Work suspended by the District in accordance with the District's directive, 

whether issued at the time of the directive suspending the Work or subsequent thereto. 

14.2 Adjustments to Contract Price and Contract Time.  If the District orders a suspension of 

the Work, an adjustment shall be made to the Contract Price for increases in the direct cost of 

performance of the Work of the Contract Documents actually caused by suspension, delay or 

interruption ordered by the District; provided however that no adjustment of the Contract Price shall 

be made to the extent:  (i) that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or 

interrupted by another cause for which the Contractor is responsible under the Contract Documents; 

or (ii) that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract 

Documents.  Any such adjustment of the Contract Price shall not include any adjustment to increase 

the Contractor's overhead, general administrative costs or profit, all of which will remain as reflected 

in the Cost Breakdown submitted by the Contractor pursuant to the Contract Documents.  In the 

event of the District's suspension of the Work, the Contract Time shall be equitably adjusted. 

ARTICLE 15: TERMINATION 

15.1 Termination for Cause. 

15.1.1 District's Right to Terminate.  The District may terminate the Agreement and/or the 

Contractor’s performance of the Agreement, in whole or in part, upon the occurrence of any 

one or more of the following events of the Contractor's default:  (i) if the Contractor refuses 

or fails to prosecute the Work with diligence as will ensure Final Completion of the Work 

within the Contract Time, or if the Contractor fails to substantially Complete the Work 

within the Contract Time; (ii) if the Contractor becomes bankrupt or insolvent, or makes a 

general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or if the Contractor or a third party files a 

petition to reorganize or for protection under any bankruptcy or similar laws, or if a trustee or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 115



receiver is appointed for the Contractor or for any of the Contractor's property on account of 

the Contractor's insolvency, and the Contractor or its successor in interest does not provide 

adequate assurance of future performance in accordance with the Contract Documents within 

10 days of receipt of a request for such assurance from the District; (iii) if the Contractor 

repeatedly fails to supply sufficient skilled workmen or suitable materials or equipment; (iv) 

if the Contractor repeatedly fails to make prompt payments to any Subcontractor, of any tier, 

or Material Suppliers or others for labor, materials or equipment; (v) if the Contractor 

disregards laws, ordinances, rules, codes, regulations, orders applicable to the Work or 

similar requirements of any public entity having jurisdiction over the Work; (iv) if the 

Contractor disregards proper directives of the Architect, the District's Inspector or District 

under the Contract Documents; (vii) if the Contractor performs Work which deviates from 

the Contract Documents and neglects or refuses to correct such Work; or (viii) if the 

Contractor otherwise violates in any material way any provisions or requirements of the 

Contract Documents.  Once the District determines that sufficient cause exists to justify the 

action, the District may terminate the Agreement without prejudice to any other right or 

remedy the District may have, after giving the Contractor and the Surety at least seven (7) 

days advance written notice of the effective date of termination.  The District shall have the 

sole discretion to permit the Contractor to remedy each cause for the termination without 

waiving the District's right to terminate the Agreement, or otherwise waiving, restricting or 

limiting any other right or remedy of the District under the Contract Documents or at law. 

15.1.2 District's Rights Upon Termination.  In the event that the Agreement or the 

Contractor’s performance of the Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Article 15.1, the 

District may take over the Work and prosecute it to completion, pursuant to the Agreement 

or otherwise, and may exclude the Contractor from the site.  The District may take 

possession of the Work and of all of the Contractor's tools, appliances, construction 

equipment, machinery, materials, and plant which may be on the site of the Work, and use 

the same to the full extent they could be used by the Contractor without liability to the 

Contractor.  In exercising the District's right to prosecute the completion of the Work, the 

District may also take possession of all materials and equipment stored at the site of the 

Work or for which the District has paid the Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and 

finish the Work as the District deems expedient.  In exercising the District's right to 

prosecute the completion of the Work, the District shall have the right to exercise its sole 

discretion as to the manner, methods, and reasonableness of the costs of completing the 

Work and the District shall not be required to obtain the lowest figure for completion of the 

Work.  In the event that the District takes bids for remedial Work or completion of the Work, 

the Contractor shall not be eligible for the award of such contract(s). 

15.1.3 Completion by the Surety. In the event that the Agreement or the Contractor’s 

performance of the Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Article 15.1, the District may 

demand that the Surety take over and complete the Work.  The District may require that in so 

doing, the Surety not utilize the Contractor in performing and completing the Work. In the 

event that the District makes a demand that the Surety take over and complete the Work, 

upon the failure or refusal of the Surety to take over and begin completion of the Work 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 116



within fifteen (15) days after demand therefor, the District may take over the Work and 

prosecute it to completion as provided for above.  Such remedy is in addition to, and not lieu 

of, other remedies available to District as provided by law or in equity. 

15.1.4 Assignment and Assumption of Subcontracts.  The District shall, in its sole and 

exclusive discretion, have the option of requiring any Subcontractor or Material Supplier to 

perform in accordance with its Subcontract or Purchase Order with the Contractor and assign 

the Subcontract or Purchase Order to the District or such other person or entity selected by 

the District to complete the Work. 

15.1.5 Costs of Completion.  In the event of termination under this Article 15.1, the 

Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment of the Contract Price until the 

Work is completed.  If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price as of the date of termination 

exceeds the District's direct and indirect costs and expenses for completing the Work, 

including without limitation, attorneys' fees and compensation for additional professional and 

consultant services, such excess shall be used to pay the Contractor for the cost of the Work 

performed prior to the effective date of termination with a reasonable allowance for overhead 

and profit.  If the District's costs and expenses to complete the Work exceed the unpaid 

Contract Price, the Contractor and/or the Surety shall pay the difference to the District. 

15.1.6 Contractor Responsibility for Damages.  The Contractor and the Surety shall be 

liable for all damages sustained by the District resulting from, in any manner, the termination 

of Agreement under this Article 15.1, including without limitation, attorneys' fees, and for all 

costs necessary for repair and completion of the Work over and beyond the Contract Price. 

15.1.7 Conversion to Termination for Convenience.  In the event the Agreement is 

terminated under this Article 15.1, and it is finally determined by an arbitrator, court, jury or 

other tribunal having jurisdiction, for any reason, that the Contractor was not in default under 

the provisions hereof or that the District’s exercise of its rights under Article 15.1 was 

defective, deficient, ineffective, invalid or improper for any reason, , the termination shall be 

deemed a Termination for Convenience of the District and thereupon, the rights and 

obligations of the District and the Contractor shall be determined in accordance with Article 

15.2 hereof. 

15.1.8 District's Rights Cumulative.  In the event the Agreement is terminated pursuant to 

this Article 15.1, the termination shall not affect or limit any rights or remedies of the District 

against the Contractor or the Surety.  The rights and remedies of the District under this 

Article 15.1 are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies provided by 

law or otherwise under the Contract Documents.  Any retention or payment of monies to the 

Contractor by the District shall not be deemed to release the Contractor or the Surety from 

any liability hereunder. 

15.2 Termination for Convenience of the District.  The District may at any time, in its sole and 

exclusive discretion, by written notice to the Contractor, terminate the Agreement or the Contractor’s 

performance of the Agreement, in whole or in part, when it is in the interest of, or for the 

convenience of, the District.  In such case, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment for:  (i) Work 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 117



actually performed and in place as of the effective date of such termination for convenience of the 

District, with a reasonable allowance for profit and overhead on such Work, and (ii) reasonable 

termination expenses for reasonable protection of Work in place and suitable storage and protection 

of materials and equipment delivered to the site of the Work but not yet incorporated into the Work, 

provided that such payments exclusive of termination expenses shall not exceed the total Contract 

Price as reduced by payments previously made to the Contractor and as further reduced by the value 

of the Work as not yet completed.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to profit and overhead on 

Work which was not performed as of the effective date of the termination for convenience of the 

District or for any other damages, direct or indirect, which Contractor or anyone claiming through 

Contractor alleges resulted from the District’s election to terminate under Article 15.2 or where a 

termination under Article 15.1 has been converted to a termination for convenience under Article 

15.1.7.  The District may, in its sole discretion, elect to have subcontracts assigned pursuant to 

Article 15.1.4 above after exercising the right hereunder to terminate for the District’s convenience. 

15.3 Termination by the Contractor.  The Contractor may terminate this Agreement upon thirty 

(30) days written notice to the District, whenever:  (1) the entire Project has been suspended for one 

hundred twenty (120) consecutive days through no fault or negligence of the Contractor, and neither 

a notice to resume nor a notice to terminate this Agreement has been received from the District 

within this time period; or (2) the District shall elect not to appropriate funds and/or elect not to 

make two (2) successive Tenant Improvement Payments and/or Sublease Payments, as defined in 

Section 6 of the Sublease, following the receipt by the District of a request from the Contractor in its 

capacity as lessor in the Sublease for each such Tenant Improvement Payments and/or Sublease 

Payment submitted pursuant to Section 6 of the Sublease.  In the event of such termination, 

Contractor shall have no claims against the District except for work performed and reasonable 

demobilization costs of the Project as of the date of termination. 

ARTICLE 16:  DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

16.1 RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS.  Claims shall be resolved by the Parties in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section 16.  All Claims shall be subject to the “Claims Resolution Process” set forth in this 

Section 16, which shall be the exclusive recourse of Pre-Construction Contractor and the District for 

determination and resolution of Claims.    

For purpose of this Section 16, a “Claim” shall mean, a written demand or assertion by the District or 

Pre-Construction Contractor seeking, as a matter of right, an interpretation of contract, disputed 

payment of money, recovery of damages or other relief.  A Claim does not include the following: (i) 

penalties or forfeitures prescribed by statute or regulation imposed by a governmental agency; (ii) tort 

claims for personal injury or death; (iii) false claims liability under California Government Code 

Section 12650, et seq.; (iv) physical defects in the construction first discovered by the District after 

final payment by the District to a contractor; (v) stop notices; or (vi) the right of the District to specific 

performance or injunctive relief to compel performance. 

16.2 RESOLUTION OF OTHER DISPUTES.  Disputes between the District and Pre-Construction 

Contractor that do not constitute Claims shall be resolved by way of an action filed in the Superior Court of the 

State of California, County of Santa Clara, and shall not be subject to the Claims Resolution Process.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 118



16.3 SUBMISSION OF A CLAIM   

16.3.1 By Pre-Construction Contractor.  Pre-Construction Contractor’s right to commence the Claims 

Resolution Process shall arise upon the District’s written response denying all or part of a Claim or the 

passage of thirty (30) calendar days after submission of the claim should no denial be issued by the District.  

Pre-Construction Contractor shall submit a written statement of dispute to the District within fourteen (14) 

calendar days after the District rejects all or a portion of Pre-Construction Contractor’s Claim.  Failure by Pre-

Construction Contractor to timely submit its statement of dispute shall result in the decision by the District on 

the Claim becoming final and binding.  Pre-Construction Contractor’s statement of dispute shall be signed by 

a principal of Pre-Construction Contractor and shall state with specificity the events or circumstances giving 

rise to the Claim, the dates of their occurrence and the asserted effect, if any, on the compensation due or time 

of performance obligations of Pre-Construction Contractor under this Agreement (the “Statement of 

Dispute”).  Such Statement of Dispute shall include adequate supporting data to substantiate the disputed 

Claim.  Adequate supporting data for a Claim relating to an adjustment of Pre-Construction Contractor’s 

obligations relative to time of performance shall include a detailed, event-by-event description of the impact 

of each delay on Pre-Construction Contractor’s time for performance. Adequate supporting data for a 

Statement of Dispute involving Pre-Construction Contractor’s compensation shall include a detailed cost 

breakdown and supporting cost data in such form and including such detailed information and other 

supporting data as required to demonstrate the grounds for, and precise amount of, the Claim.  

16.3.2 By the District.  The District’s right to commence the Claims Resolution Process shall arise at any 

time following the District’s actual discovery of the circumstances giving rise to the Claim.  Nothing 

contained herein shall preclude the District from asserting Claims in response to a Claim asserted by Pre-

Construction Contractor.  A Statement of Claim submitted by the District shall state the events or 

circumstances giving rise to the Claim, the dates of their occurrence and the damages or other relief claimed 

by the District as a result of such events.  

16.4 CLAIMS RESOLUTION PROCESS.  The Parties shall utilize each of the following steps in the Claims 

Resolution Process in the sequence they appear below.  Each Party shall participate fully and in good faith in 

each step in the Claims Resolution Process, which good faith effort shall be a condition precedent to the right 

of each Party to proceed to the next step in the Claims Resolution Process.   

16.4.1 Direct Negotiations.  Designated representatives of the District and Pre-Construction Contractor shall 

meet as soon as possible (but not later than forty-five (45) calendar days after the Statement of Dispute is 

given) in a good faith effort to negotiate a resolution to the Claim.  Each Party shall be represented in such 

negotiations by an authorized representative with full knowledge of the details of the Claim or defenses being 

asserted by such Party, and with full authority to resolve such Claim then and there, subject only to the 

District’s right and obligation to obtain Board of Trustees’ approval of any agreed settlement or resolution.  If 

the Claim involves the assertion of a right or claim by a Contractor, the Architect or Architect Consultant 

against the Pre-Construction Contractor that is in turn being asserted by the Pre-Construction Contractor 

against the District, then such Contractor, the Architect or Architect Consultant shall also have a representative 

attend such negotiations, with the same authority and knowledge as just described.  Upon completion of the 

meeting, if the Claim is not resolved, the Parties may either continue the negotiations or either Party may 

declare negotiations ended.  All discussions that occur during such negotiations and all documents prepared 

solely for the purpose of such negotiations shall be confidential and privileged pursuant to California Evidence 

Code Sections 1119 and 1152.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 119



16.4.2 Deferral of Agreement Disputes.  Following the completion of the negotiations required by the 

preceding paragraph, all unresolved Claims shall proceed to Mediation as set forth in the succeeding paragraph 

entitled “Mediation.”  The Parties hereto may mutually agree to postpone continuing the Claims Dispute 

Resolution until the earlier of: (i) the completion of the Services hereunder or; (ii) the termination of the 

Services.  In the event Claims are deferred, the Claims shall be consolidated within a reasonable period of time 

after completion of the Services herein and pursued to resolution through the Claims Dispute Resolution 

Process.  Pending final resolution of any Claim, Pre-Construction Contractor shall proceed diligently with the 

performance of its Services and the District shall continue to make payments for those Services that are not part 

of the Claim set forth herein in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

16.4.3 Mediation.  If the Claim remains unresolved after direct negotiations pursuant to Paragraph 12.4, the 

Parties agree to submit the Claim to non-binding mediation before a mutually acceptable third party mediator 

prior to commencement of any lawsuit or court action.   

16.4.3.1  Qualifications of Mediator.  The Parties shall endeavor to select a mediator 

who is a retired judge or an attorney with at least five (5) years of experience in public works 

construction contract law and in mediating public works construction disputes. 

16.4.3.2  Submission to Mediation and Selection of Mediator.  The Party initiating 

mediation of a Claim shall provide written notice to the other Party of its decision to mediate.  In the 

event the Parties are unable to agree upon a mediator within ninety (90) calendar days after such 

written notice is given, then the Parties shall submit the matter to the Superior Court of the County of 

Los Angeles to select a mediator in accordance with the qualifications herein and the applicable law. 

16.4.3.3  Mediation Process.  The location of the mediation shall be at the offices of 

the District, or otherwise mutually agreed.  The costs of mediation shall be shared equally among all 

parties participating.  All discussions that occur during the mediation and all document presentations 

prepared solely for the purpose of the mediation shall be confidential and privileged pursuant to 

California Evidence Code Sections 1119 and 1152. 

16.4.3.4  Litigation.  If the Claim remains unresolved after direct negotiations and 

mediation, either Party may commence an action in the Superior Court of the County of Santa Clara.  

Pre-Construction Contractor hereby submits to the jurisdiction of said court. 

 

16.5 NON-WAIVER OR RELEASE.  Participation in the Claims Resolution Process shall not constitute a 

waiver, release or compromise of any defense of either Party. 

ARTICLE 17: MISCELLANEOUS 

17.1 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with 

the laws of the State of California. 

17.2 Successors and Assigns.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Contract 

Documents, all terms, conditions and covenants of the Contract Documents shall be binding upon, 

and shall inure to the benefit of the District and the Contractor and their respective heirs, 

representatives, successors-in-interest and assigns. 

17.3 Cumulative Rights and Remedies; No Waiver.  Duties and obligations imposed by the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 120



Contract Documents and rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not in 

lieu of or otherwise a limitation or restriction of duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise 

imposed or available by law.  No action or failure to act by the District shall constitute a waiver of a 

right or remedy afforded it under the Contract Documents or at law nor shall such an action or failure 

to act constitute approval of or acquiescence in a breach hereunder, except as may be specifically 

agreed in writing. 

17.4 Severability.  In the event any provision of the Contract Documents shall be deemed illegal, 

invalid, unenforceable and/or void, by a court or any other governmental agency of competent 

jurisdiction, such provision shall be deemed to be severed and deleted from the Contract Documents, 

but all remaining provisions hereof, shall in all other respects, continue in full force and effect. 

17.5 No Assignment by Contractor.  The Contractor shall not sublet or assign the Agreement, or 

any portion thereof, or any monies due thereunder, without the express prior written consent and 

approval of the District, which approval may be withheld in the sole and exclusive discretion of the 

District.  The District's approval to such assignment shall be upon such terms and conditions as 

determined by the District in its sole and exclusive discretion. 

17.6 Independent Contractor Status.  In performing its obligations under the Contract 

Documents, the Contractor is an independent contractor to the District and not an agent or employee 

of the District. 

17.7 Notices.  Except as otherwise expressly provided for in the Contract Documents, all notices 

which the District or the Contractor may be required, or may desire, to serve on the other, shall be 

effective only if delivered by personal delivery or by postage prepaid, First Class Certified Return 

Receipt Requested United States Mail, addressed to the District or the Contractor at their respective 

address set forth in the Contract Documents, or such other address(es) as either the District or the 

Contractor may designate from time to time by written notice to the other in conformity with the 

provisions hereof.  In the event of personal delivery, such notices shall be deemed effective upon 

delivery, provided that such personal delivery requires a signed receipt by the recipient 

acknowledging delivery of the same.  In the event of mailed notices, such notice shall be deemed 

effective on the third working day after deposit in the mail. 

17.8 Disputes; Continuation of Work.  Notwithstanding any claim, dispute or other 

disagreement between the District and the Contractor regarding performance under the Contract 

Documents, the scope of Work thereunder, or any other matter arising out of or related to, in any 

manner, the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of the 

Work in accordance with the District's written direction, pending any final determination or decision 

regarding any such claim, dispute or disagreement. 

17.9 Attorneys Fees.  Except as expressly provided for in the Contract Documents, or authorized 

by law, neither the District nor the Contractor shall recover from the other any attorneys fees or other 

costs associated with or arising out of any legal, administrative or other proceedings filed or 

instituted in connection with or arising out of the Contract Documents or the performance of either 

the District or the Contractor thereunder. 

17.19 Marginal Headings; Interpretation.  The titles of the various Articles of these General 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 121



Conditions and elsewhere in the Contract Documents are used for convenience of reference only and 

are not intended to, and shall in no way, enlarge or diminish the rights or obligations of the District 

or the Contractor and shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of the Contract 

Documents.  The Contract Documents shall be construed as a whole in accordance with their fair 

meaning and not strictly for or against the District or the Contractor. 

17.11 Provisions Required by Law Deemed Inserted.  Each and every provision of law and 

clause required by law to be inserted in the Contract Documents is deemed to be inserted herein and 

the Contract Documents shall be read and enforced as though such provision or clause are included 

herein, and if through mistake, or otherwise, any such provision or clause is not inserted or if not 

correctly inserted, then upon application of either party, the Contract Documents shall forthwith be 

physically amended to make such insertion or correction. 

17.12 Entire Agreement.  The Contract Documents contain the entire agreement and 

understanding between the District and the Contractor concerning the subject matter hereof, and 

supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations, proposed agreements or amendments, whether written 

or oral.  No amendment or modification to any provision of the Contract Documents shall be 

effective or enforceable except by an agreement in writing executed by the District and the 

Contractor. 

END OF SECTION 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 122



SITE LEASE 

 This Site Lease (hereinafter referred to as the “Site Lease”) will be entered 
into on the day of GMP Approval by the Board of Trustees of Gilroy Unified School District, 
this site lease will then be amended by and between the Gilroy Unified School District, a 
California school district organized and existing under the laws of the State of California 
(hereinafter referred to as the “District”) as lessor, and Flint Builders, Inc. which is a 
contractor licensed by the State of California, with its principal place of business at 401 
Derek Place, Roseville, California. 95678 (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”) as 
lessee. 

 
RECITALS 

 WHEREAS pursuant to Education Code section 17406, the District desires to 
provide for the financing and construction of certain public improvements more fully 
described in a Construction Services Agreement between the District and Contractor, 
dated as of the date hereof (the “Project”) situated at South Valley Middle School,  385 
I.O.O.F Avenue, Gilroy, California  95020, within the District, as more fully set forth in 
Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Site”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, assuming that the District and Contractor can agree on the terms, 
including the price, for an additional scope of work, the District and Contractor anticipate 
that the scope of the Project may be amended to include additional work; and 

 WHEREAS, the District’s governing body has determined that it will provide the 
best value to the District and it is in the best interests of the District and for the common 
benefit of the citizens it serves to finance the Project by leasing to Contractor the land 
and the existing building(s) on the Site on which the public improvements are to be 
constructed and subleasing from Contractor the Site, including the Project, under a 
Sublease Agreement effective as of the date hereof (the “Sublease”); and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and covenants and 
conditions contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.  Site Lease 

 The District leases to Contractor, and Contractor leases from the District, on the 
terms and conditions set forth herein, the Site situated in the County of Santa Clara, 
State of California, more specifically described in Exhibit A attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference herein, including any real property improvements now or 
hereafter affixed thereto. 

SECTION 2.  Term 

 The term of this Site Lease shall commence as of the effective date and shall 
terminate on the last day of the term of the Sublease.  

SECTION 3.  Representations and Warranties of the District 

 The District represents and warrants to Contractor that: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 123



 (a) The District has good title to the Site. 
 
 (b) There are no liens on the Site other than permitted encumbrances (the 
term “permitted encumbrances” as used herein shall mean, as of any particular time:  (i) 
liens for general ad valorem taxes and assessments, if any, not then delinquent; (ii) this 
Site Lease, the Sublease, any right or claim of any mechanic, laborer, materialman, 
supplier, or vendor, if applicable, not filed or perfected in the manner prescribed by law, 
easements, rights of way, mineral rights, drilling rights, and other rights, reservations, 
covenants, conditions, or restrictions which exist of record as of the date of this Site 
Lease and which will not materially impair the use of the Site; (iii) easements, rights of 
way, mineral rights, drilling rights, and other rights, reservations, covenants, conditions, 
or restrictions established following the date of recordation of this Site Lease and to 
which Contractor and the District consent in writing which will not impair or impede the 
operation of the Site.). 
 
 (c) All taxes, assessments or impositions of any kind with respect to the Site, 
if applicable, except current taxes not yet due and payable, have been paid in full. 
 
 (d) The Site is properly zoned for the intended purpose or the District intends 
to render zoning inapplicable pursuant to Government Code Section 53094. 
 
 (e) To the best of the District’s knowledge, the District is in compliance in all 
material respects with all laws, regulations, ordinances and orders of public authorities 
applicable to the Site. 
 
 (f) To the best of the District’s knowledge, there is no litigation of any kind 
currently pending or threatened regarding the District’s use of the Site for the purposes 
contemplated by this Site Lease, the Sublease and the Construction Services 
Agreement. 
 
 (g) To the best of the District’s knowledge, upon reasonable investigation and 
in reliance on the District’s phase one Preliminary Environmental Assessment, and 
except as otherwise delineated in the Contract Documents: (i) no dangerous, toxic or 
hazardous pollutants, contaminants, chemicals, waste, materials or substances, as 
defined in or governed by the provisions of any State or Federal Law relating thereto 
(hereinafter collectively called “Environmental Regulations”), and also including, but not 
limited to, urea-formaldehyde, polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos, asbestos containing 
materials, nuclear fuel or waste, radioactive materials, explosives, carcinogens and 
petroleum products, or any other waste, material, substance, pollutant or contaminant 
which would subject the District or Contractor or Contractor’s subcontractors to any 
damages, penalties or liabilities under any applicable Environmental Regulation 
(hereinafter collectively “Hazardous Substances”), are now or have been stored, 
located, generated, produced, processed, treated, transported, incorporated, 
discharged, emitted, released, deposited or disposed of in, upon, under, over or from 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 124



the Site; (ii) no threat exists of a discharge, release or emission of a Hazardous 
Substance upon or from the Site into the environment; (iii) the Site has not been used 
as or for a mine, a landfill, a dump or other disposal facility, industrial  or manufacturing 
facility, or a gasoline service station; (iv) no violation of any Environmental Regulation 
now exists relating to the Site, no notice of any such violation or any alleged violation 
thereof has been issued or given by any governmental entity or agency, and there is not 
now any investigation or report involving the Site by any governmental entity or agency 
which in any way relates to Hazardous Substances; (v) no person, party, or private or 
governmental agency or entity has given any notice of or asserted any claim, cause of 
action, penalty, cost or demand for payment or compensation, whether or not involving 
any injury or threatened injury to human health, the environment or natural resources, 
resulting or allegedly resulting from any activity or event described in (i) above; (vi) there 
are not now any actions, suits, proceedings or damage settlements relating in any way 
to Hazardous Substances, in, upon, under, over or from the Site; (vii)  the Site is not 
listed in the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s National Priorities List of 
Hazardous Waste Sites or any other list of Hazardous Substance sites maintained by 
any federal, state or local governmental agency; and (viii) the Site is not subject to any 
lien or claim for lien or threat of a lien in favor of any governmental entity or agency as a 
result of any release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance. 
 
 (h) To the extent permitted by law, the District shall not abandon the Site for 
the use of which it is currently required by the District and further shall not seek to 
substitute or acquire property to be used as a substitute for the uses for which the Site 
and the Project are to be maintained under the Sublease. 

SECTION 4.  Representations and Warranties of Contractor 

Contractor represents and warrants to the District that: 

 (a) Contractor is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under 
the laws of the State of California, with full corporate power and authority to lease and 
own real and personal property. 
 
 (b) Contractor has full power, authority and legal right to enter into and 
perform its obligations under this Site Lease, and the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Site Lease have been authorized by all necessary corporate or 
partnership actions on the part of Contractor and do not require any further approvals or 
consents. 
 
 (c) Execution, delivery and performance of this Site Lease do not and will not 
result in any breach of or constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, contract, 
agreement or instrument to which Contractor is a party or by which it or its property is 
bound. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 125



 (d) There is no pending or, to the best knowledge of the Contractor, 
threatened action or proceeding before any court or administrative agency which will 
materially adversely affect the ability of Contractor to perform its obligations under this 
Site Lease. 
 
 (e) Contractor has conducted a visual inspection of the Site and represents 
that it is familiar with the site conditions relating to construction and labor thereon and 
hereby indemnifies the District for any damage or omissions related to the site 
conditions that could have been visually identified during the site-visit in accordance 
with the indemnification contained in the General Conditions incorporated into the 
Construction Services Agreement. 
 
 (f) Contractor has reviewed the Contract Documents (as that term is defined 
in the Construction Services Agreement) and is familiar with the contents thereof. 

SECTION 5.  Payment 

 In consideration for the lease of the Project Site by the District to the Contractor 
and for other good and valuable consideration, the Contractor shall pay to the District 
One Dollar ($1.00) per year upon execution of this Site Lease. 

SECTION 6.  Purpose 

 Contractor shall use the Site solely for the purpose of constructing the Project 
thereon and for subleasing the Site and leasing the Project to the District; provided, 
however, that in the event of an occurrence of an Event of Default by the District, under 
the Sublease, Contractor may exercise the remedies provided for in the Sublease. 

SECTION 7.  Termination 

 Contractor agrees, upon termination of this Site Lease:  (i) to quit and surrender 
the Site in the same good order and condition as it was in at the time of commencement 
of the term hereunder, reasonable wear and tear excepted; (ii) to release and reconvey 
to the District any liens and encumbrances created or caused by Contractor; and (iii) 
that any permanent improvements and structures existing upon the Site at the time of 
the termination of this Site Lease, including the Project, shall remain thereon and title 
shall vest in the District.  Notwithstanding the District’s foregoing rights in the event of 
termination, Contractor shall retain the right to compensation pursuant to the 
Construction Services Agreement and the Sublease. 

SECTION 8.  Quiet Enjoyment 

 The District covenants and agrees that it will not take any action to prevent 
Contractor’s quiet enjoyment of the Site during the term of this Site Lease; and that in 
the event that the District’s fee title to the Site is ever challenged so as to interfere with 
Contractor’s right to occupy, use and enjoy the Site, the District will use all 
governmental powers at its disposal, including the power of eminent domain, to obtain 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 126



unencumbered fee title to the Site and to defend Contractor’s right to occupy, use, and 
enjoy that portion of the Site. 

SECTION 9.  No Liens 

 The District shall not mortgage, sell, assign, transfer or convey the Site or any 
part thereof to any person during the term of this Site Lease, without the written consent 
of Contractor.  Nothing herein shall preclude the District from granting utility easements 
across the Site to facilitate the use and operation of the Project for which it is intended. 

 During the term of this Site Lease, Contractor shall not permit any lien or 
encumbrance to attach to the Site or any part thereof. 

SECTION 10.  Right of Entry 

 The District reserves the right for any of its duly authorized representatives to 
enter upon the Site at any reasonable time to inspect the same or to make any repairs, 
improvements or changes necessary for the preservation thereof, but in so doing shall 
not interfere with Contractor’s operations on the Project. 

SECTION 11.  Assignment and Subleasing 

 Other than the Sublease, as defined herein, Contractor will not assign or 
otherwise dispose of or encumber the Site or this Site Lease without the written consent 
of the District. 

SECTION 12.  No Waste 

 Contractor agrees that at all times that it is in possession of the Site it will not 
commit, suffer or permit any waste on the Site, and it will not willfully or knowingly use 
or permit the use of the Site for any illegal act or purpose. 

SECTION 13.  Default  

 In the event that Contractor shall be in default in the performance of any 
obligation on its part to be performed under the terms of this Site Lease, which default 
continues for thirty (30) days following notice and demand for correction thereof to 
Contractor, the District may exercise any and all remedies granted by law, except that 
no merger of this Site Lease and of the Sublease shall be deemed to occur as a result 
thereof.  Termination of this Site Lease shall be in accordance with the provisions of the 
General Conditions incorporated into the Construction Services Agreement or such 
other provisions as may be applicable. 

SECTION 14.  Eminent Domain 

 In the event that the whole or any part of the Site or the improvements thereon is 
taken by eminent domain, the financial interest of Contractor shall be recognized and is 
hereby determined to be the amount of all Tenant Improvement Payments and 
Sublease Payments then due or past due, and the purchase option price stated in 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 127



Section 20 of the Sublease less any unearned interest as of the date Contractor 
receives payment in full.  The balance of the award, if any, shall be paid to the District.   

SECTION 15.  Taxes 

 The District covenants and agrees to pay any and all assessments of any kind or 
character and also all taxes, including possessory interest taxes, levied or assessed 
upon the Site of the improvements thereon. 

SECTION 16.  Severability 

 If any one or more of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Site Lease shall 
to any extent be declared invalid, unenforceable, void or voidable for any reason 
whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction, the finding or order or decree of which 
becomes final, none of the remaining terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of 
this Site Lease shall be affected thereby, and each remaining provision of this Site 
Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 17.  Notices 

 Any notices or filings required to be given or made under this Site Lease shall be 
served, given or made in writing upon the District or Contractor, as the case may be, by 
personal delivery or registered mail (with a copy sent via fax or regular mail) to the 
respective addresses given below or at such other address as such party may provide 
in accordance with the provisions herein.  Any change in the addresses noted herein 
shall not be binding upon the other party unless preceded by no less than thirty (30) 
days prior written notice. 

 If to Contractor: 

 Flint Builders, Inc. 
 401 Derek Place 
 Roseville, California  95678 
 Attn:  John Stump 

 
If to the District: 
 Gilroy Unified School District  
 7810 Arroyo Circle 
 Gilroy, California 95020 
 Attn:  Dr. Deborah A. Flores, Superintendent 
 
With a copy to Mary Hernandez,  

 Garcia, Hernandez, Sawhney LLP 
 2490 Mariner Square Loop, Suite 140 
 Alameda, CA  94501 
                                                                          
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 128



 Notices under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given, and shall be 
effective, upon actual receipt by the other party, or, if mailed, upon the earlier of the fifth 
(5th) day after mailing or actual receipt by the other party. 

SECTION 18.  Construction Services Agreement and Sublease 

 The Construction Services Agreement and the Contract Documents as defined 
therein, including the Sublease, are incorporated by reference herein in their entirety as 
if fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 19.  Binding Effect 

 This Site Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and 
their respective successors and assigns. 

SECTION 20.  Entire Agreement 

 This Site Lease, the Sublease, the Construction Services Agreement and the 
additional Contract Documents as defined in the Construction Services Agreement 
constitute the entire agreement between Contractor and the District, and the Contract 
Documents shall not be amended, altered, changed, modified or terminated without the 
written consent of both parties hereto, except as otherwise provided herein or in Section 
10 of the Construction Services Agreement. 

SECTION 21.  Execution in Counterparts 

 This Site Lease may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 

SECTION 22.  Indemnification 

 Contractor shall indemnify the District in accordance with the provisions set forth 
in the General Conditions incorporated into the Construction Services Agreement. 

SECTION 23.  Applicable Law 

 This Site Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of California. The parties irrevocably agree that any action, suit or 
proceeding by or among the District and Contractor shall be brought in whichever of the 
Superior Courts of the State of California, Santa Clara County, or the Federal Court for 
the Northern District of California in San Jose, California, has subject matter jurisdiction 
over the dispute and waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have regarding 
the choice of forum whether on personal jurisdiction, venue, forum non conveniens or 
on any other ground. 

SECTION 24.  Headings 

 The captions or headings in this Site Lease are for convenience only and in no 
way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or sections of this Site 
Lease. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 129



SECTION 25.  Time 

 Time is of the essence with respect to each of the terms, covenants, and 
conditions of this Site Lease.   

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound thereby, have 
executed by their respective officers who are duly authorized, this Site Lease effective 
as of the date first above written. 

 

CONTRACTOR     THE DISTRICT 

Flint Builders, Inc.     Gilroy Unified School District, 
401 Derek Place     a California school district  
Roseville, CA. 95678    7810 Arroyo Circle 
       Gilroy, CA  95020  

       

 

By: ______________________________ By: _____________________________ 
  
Title: ____________________   Title:  ____________________ 
  
Date: ________________________  Date: ________________________ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

5/29/2021

President

Page 130



EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Site 
 

 
 
 

Will be Supplied and this Exhibit amended upon the Approval by 
the Division of State Architect of the State of California of the final 
Plans and Specifications 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 131



SUBLEASE 

 This Sublease (hereinafter referred to as the “Sublease) will be entered into on the 
day of GMP Approval by the Board of Trustees of Gilroy Unified School District, this site 
sublease will then be amended by and between the Gilroy Unified School District, a 
California school district organized and existing under the laws of the State of California 
(hereinafter referred to as the “District”) as sub-lessee, Flint Builders, Inc. which is a 
contractor licensed by the State of California, with its principal place of business at 401 
Derek Place, Roseville, California. 95678 (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”) as sub-
lessor. 
 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS the District deems it essential for its own governmental purpose to 
finance the installation and construction of certain public improvements more fully 
described in Exhibit A to that certain Construction Services Agreement between the 
District and Contractor dated the date hereof (the “Project”) situated at South Valley 
Middle School, 385 I.O.O.F Avenue, Gilroy, California 95020 within the District as more 
fully set forth in Exhibit A of the site lease between the District and Contractor dated the 
date hereof (the “Site Lease”) (The land and the real property improvements described 
in the Site Lease and the Construction Services Agreement are herein collectively 
referred to as the “Site”); and 
 

 WHEREAS, assuming that the District and Contractor have executed a Site 
Lease and can agree on the terms, including the price, for an additional scope of work, 
the District and Contractor anticipate that the scope of the Project may be amended to 
include additional work; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17406 of the California Education Code, the 
District is leasing the Site to Contractor pursuant to the Site Lease in consideration of 
Contractor subleasing the Site, including the Project, to the District pursuant to the 
terms of this Sublease; and 

WHEREAS, the District and Contractor agree to mutually cooperate now and 
hereafter, to the extent possible, in order to sustain the intent of this Sublease and the 
bargain of both parties hereto, and to provide payments pursuant to this Sublease on 
the dates and in the amounts set forth in Exhibit A of this Sublease which is 
incorporated by this reference. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and covenants and 
conditions contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 132



SECTION 1.  Sublease 

 Contractor hereby leases from and subleases to the District, and the District 
hereby leases to and subleases from Contractor, the Site including any real property 
improvements now or hereafter affixed thereto in accordance with the provisions herein 
for the term of this Sublease.  

SECTION 2.  Term 

 (a) The term of the Sublease (the ‘Term”) shall become effective upon the 
authorized execution of this Sublease and shall terminate six months after the earlier of 
the following two events: 

  (1) The date the District takes beneficial occupancy of the final phase 
of the Project; or 

  (2) The date of substantial completion, as defined in Article 7.2.2 of the 
General Conditions. 

 (b) The Term may be extended or shortened upon the occurrence of the 
earliest of any of the following events, which shall constitute the end of the Term: 

  (1) An Event of Default by the District as defined herein and 
Contractor’s election to terminate this Sublease as permitted herein; or 

  (2) An Event of Default by Contractor as defined herein and the 
District’s election to terminate this Sublease as permitted herein; or 

  (3) Consummation of the District’s purchase option pursuant to Section 
20 of this Sublease. 

SECTION 3.  Representations and Warranties of the District 

 The District represents and warrants to Contractor that: 

(a) The execution, delivery and performance of this Sublease do not and will 
not result in any breach of or constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, 
contract, agreement or instrument to which the District is a party by which it or its 
property is bound. 

 
(b) The Project and the Site are essential to the District in the performance of 

its governmental functions and their estimated useful life to the District exceeds the term 
of this Sublease. 

 
(c) The District will take such action as may be necessary to include all 

Tenant Improvement Payments and Sublease Payments in its annual budget and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 133



annually to appropriate an amount necessary to make such Tenant Improvement 
Payments and Sublease Payments. 

 
(d) To the best of the District’s knowledge, there is no litigation of any kind 

currently pending or threatened regarding the District’s use of the Site for the purposes 
contemplated by this Site Lease, the Sublease and the Construction Services 
Agreement. 

 
(e) To the extent permitted by law, the District shall not abandon the Site for 

the use of which it is currently required by the District and, further, shall not seek to 
substitute or acquire property to be used as a substitute for the uses for which the Site 
is maintained under the Sublease. 

SECTION 4.  Representations and Warranties of Contractor 

 Contractor represents and warrants to the District that: 

(a) Contractor is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing as a 
corporation and licensed contractor under the laws of the State of California, with full 
corporate power and authority to lease and own real and personal property. 

 
(b) Contractor has full power, authority and legal right to enter into and 

perform its obligations under this Sublease, and the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Sublease have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate 
actions on the part of Contractor and do not require any further approvals or consents. 

 
(c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Sublease do not and will 

not result in any breach of or constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, 
contract, agreement or instrument to which Contractor is a party by which it or its 
property is bound. 

 
(d) There is no pending or, to the best knowledge of Contractor, threatened 

action or proceeding before any court or administrative agency which will materially 
adversely affect the ability of Contractor to perform its obligations under this Sublease. 

 

(e) Contractor will not mortgage or encumber the Site or the Sublease or 
assign this Sublease or its rights to receive Tenant Improvement Payments or Sublease 
Payments hereunder, except as permitted herein. 

 

(f) Contractor has conducted a visual inspection of the Site and represents 
that it is familiar with the site conditions relating to construction and labor thereon and 
hereby indemnifies the District for any damage or omissions related to the site 
conditions that could have been identified during the site-visit in accordance with the 
indemnification contained in the General Conditions. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 134



 

(g) Contractor has reviewed the Contract Documents (as that term is defined 
in the Construction Services Agreement) and is familiar with the contents thereof. 

SECTION 5.  Construction/Acquisition 

 (a) The District has entered into a Construction Services Agreement and the 
Site Lease with Contractor in order to acquire and construct the Project.  The cost of the 
acquisition, construction and installation of the Project as well as the obligations under 
this Sublease are determined by the Guaranteed Maximum Price as determined in 
Section 5 of the Construction Services Agreement. 

 
 (b) In order to ensure that moneys sufficient to pay all costs will be available 
for this purpose when required, the District shall maintain on deposit, and shall annually 
appropriate funds sufficient to make all Tenant Improvement Payments and Sublease 
Payments which become due to Contractor under this Sublease, provided however that 
the District shall not be required to appropriate said funds in the event that the District 
determines in good faith that exigent circumstances have arisen that require District to 
reduce its budget and not appropriate funds for the payments required hereunder.  Any 
such failure to appropriate funds in any year subsequent to the initial year of this 
Sublease shall be deemed a termination for convenience and shall be subject to the 
provisions of the General Conditions. 

SECTION 6.   Payments 

 (a) The District shall pay Contractor the Tenant Improvement Payments and 
the Sublease Payments as set forth in Exhibit A hereof, at the office of Contractor or to 
such other person or at such other place as Contractor may from time to time designate 
in writing.   

 (b) If the District determines that the work is delayed so that Contractor shall 
not be able to deliver the work pursuant to the construction schedule required by the 
Construction Services Agreement (the “Construction Schedule”), the District shall be 
entitled to withhold a reasonable amount from the Tenant Improvement Payments 
and/or the Sublease Payments then due to cover the damages for delay. Once the 
District has determined that the work has been performed pursuant to the approved 
construction schedule, the District shall be obligated to release any funds withheld 
pursuant to this Paragraph. 

(c) The obligation of the District to pay Tenant Improvement Payments and 
the Sublease Payments hereunder shall constitute a current expense of the District and 
shall not in any way be construed to be a debt of the District in contravention of any 
applicable constitutional or statutory limitations or requirements concerning the creation 
of indebtedness by the District, nor shall anything contained herein constitute a pledge 
of the general tax revenues, funds, or moneys of the District.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 135



SECTION 7.  Fair Rental Value 

 The Tenant Improvement Payments and the Sublease Payments shall be paid by 
the District in consideration of the right of possession of, and the continued quiet use 
and enjoyment of, the Project and the Site during the Term of this Sublease. The parties 
hereto have agreed and determined that such total Tenant Improvement Payments and 
Sublease Payments are not in excess of the fair rental value of the Project and the Site. 
In making such determination, consideration has been given to the fair market value of 
the Project and the Site, other obligations of the parties under this Sublease (including, 
but not limited to, costs of maintenance, taxes and insurance), the obligations under the 
Construction Services Agreement, the uses and purposes which may be served by the 
Project and the Site and the benefits therefrom which will accrue to the District and the 
general public, the ability of the District to make additions, modifications and 
improvements to the Project and the Site which are not inconsistent with the 
Construction Services Agreement and which do not interfere with Contractor’s work on 
the Project and the Site. 

SECTION 8.  Sublease Abatement 

In addition to delay of payments provided in Section 6, above, Tenant 
Improvement Payments and Sublease Payments due hereunder with respect to the 
Project shall be subject to abatement prior to the commencement of the use of the 
Project or during any period in which, by reason of material damage to or destruction of 
the Project or the Site, there is substantial interference with the use and right of 
possession by the District of the Project and the Site or any substantial portion thereof. 
For each potential incident of substantial interference, decisions to be made on:  i) 
whether or not abatement shall apply; ii) the date upon which abatement shall 
commence; iii) the applicable portion of the Tenant Improvement Payments and the 
Sublease Payments to be abated and; iv) the concluding date of the particular 
abatement shall all be subject to determinations by the District in concert with its 
insurance provider. Contractor’s right to dispute these decisions is not impaired. The 
amount of abatement shall be such that the Tenant Improvement Payments and the 
Sublease Payments paid by the District during the period of Project restoration do not 
exceed the fair rental value of the usable portions of the Site. In the event of any 
damage or destruction to the Project or the Site, this Sublease shall continue in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 9.  Use of Site and Project 

During the Term of this Sublease, Contractor shall provide the District with quiet 
use and enjoyment of the Site without suit, or hindrance from Contractor or its assigns. 
The District will not use, operate, or maintain the Site or Project improperly, carelessly, 
in violation of any applicable law or in a manner contrary to that contemplated by this 
Sublease. The Contractor shall provide all permits and licenses, if any, necessary for 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 136



the operation of the Project. In addition, the District agrees to comply in all respects 
(including, without limitation, with respect to the time, maintenance and operation of the 
Project) with laws of all jurisdictions in which its operations involving the Project may 
extend and any legislative, executive, administrative, or judicial body exercising any 
power or jurisdiction over the Site or the Project; provided, however, that the District 
may contest in good faith the validity or application of any such law or rule in any 
reasonable manner which does not adversely affect the estate of Contractor in and to 
the Site or the Project or its interest or rights under this Sublease.  Upon completion of 
the Project or severable portions thereof, as defined in the General Conditions, 
Contractor shall provide the District with quiet use and enjoyment of the Site without suit 
or hindrance from Contractor or its assigns, subject to reasonable interference from 
ongoing construction operations on any remaining portion of the Site under construction 
by Contractor. 

SECTION 10.  Contractor’s Inspection/Access to Site 

The District agrees that Contractor and any Contractor representative shall have 
the right at all reasonable times to enter upon the Site or any portion thereof to construct 
and improve the Project, to examine and inspect the Site and the Project and to 
exercise its remedies pursuant to Section 16 of this Sublease. The District further 
agrees that Contractor and any Contractor representative shall have such rights of 
access to the Site as may be reasonably necessary to cause the proper maintenance of 
the Site and the Project in the event of failure by the District to perform its obligations 
hereunder. 

SECTION 11.  Project Acceptance 

The District shall acknowledge final inspection and completion of the Project by 
executing a Certificate of Acceptance and recording a Notice of Completion in 
accordance with the General Conditions. The validity of this Sublease will not be 
affected by any delay in or failure of completion of the Project. 

SECTION 12.  Alterations and Attachments 

 All permanent additions and improvements that are made to the Project shall 
belong to and become the property of Contractor, subject to the provisions of Section 20 
hereof. Separately identifiable additions and improvements added to the Project by the 
District shall remain the property of the District. At Contractor's request, the District 
agrees to remove the additions and improvements and restore the Project to 
substantially as good condition as when acquired and constructed, normal wear and 
tear excepted, in the event of failure by the District to perform its obligations hereunder. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 137



SECTION 13.  Physical Damage; Public Liability Insurance 

Contractor and the District shall maintain such damage and public liability 
insurance policies with respect to the Project and the Site as are required of them 
herein and by the Construction Services Agreement 

SECTION 14.  Taxes 

The District shall keep the Project and the Site free and clear of all levies, liens, 
and encumbrances and shall pay all license fees, registration fees, assessments, 
charges, and taxes (municipal, state, and federal) if applicable, which may now or 
hereafter be imposed upon the ownership, leasing, renting, sale, possession, or use of 
the Project and the Site, excluding, however, all taxes on or measured by Contractor's 
income. 

SECTION 15.  Events of Default 

The term “Event of Default,” as used in this Sublease means the occurrence of 
any one or more of the following events: (a) the District fails to make any unexcused 
Tenant Improvement Payment or Sublease Payment (or any other payment) within 30 
days after the due date thereof; (b) the District or Contractor fails to perform or observe 
any other covenant, condition or agreement to be performed or observed by it 
hereunder or under any of the Contract Documents (as that term is defined in the 
Construction Services Agreement), and such failure to either make the payment or 
perform the covenant, condition or agreement is not cured within 10 days after written 
notice thereof by the other party; (c) the discovery by a party that any statement, 
representation or warranty made by the other party in this Sublease, or in the Contract 
Documents (as that term is defined in the Construction Services Agreement), or in any 
document ever delivered by that other party pursuant hereto or in connection herewith is 
misleading or erroneous in any material respect; or (d) a party becomes insolvent, is 
unable to pay its debts as they become due, makes an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, applies or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, conservator or 
liquidator of the party or of all or a substantial part of its assets, or a petition for relief is 
filed by the party under federal bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws. 

SECTION 16.  Remedies on Default 

Upon the happening of any Event of Default, the non-defaulting party may 
exercise any and all remedies available pursuant to law or in equity or granted pursuant 
to this Sublease. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary herein, Contractor shall 
not under any circumstances have the right to accelerate the Tenant Improvement 
Payments or the Sublease Payments that fall due in future Sublease periods or 
otherwise declare any Tenant Improvement Payment or Sublease Payments not then in 
default to be immediately due and payable.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default, the non-breaching party may elect to terminate this Sublease in accordance 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 138



with the provisions contained in the General Conditions.  Termination of the 
Construction Services Agreement shall trigger the termination of the Site Lease and this 
Sublease. 

SECTION 17.  Non-Waiver 

 No covenant or condition to be performed by the District or Contractor under this 
Sublease can be waived except by the written consent of the other party. Forbearance 
or indulgence by the District or Contractor in any regard whatsoever shall not constitute 
a waiver of the covenant or condition in question. Until complete performance by the 
District or Contractor of said covenant or condition, the other party shall be entitled to 
invoke any remedy available to it under this Sublease or by law or in equity despite said 
forbearance or indulgence. 

SECTION 18.  Assignment 

 Without the prior written consent of Contractor, the District shall not (a) assign, 
transfer, pledge, or hypothecate this Sublease, the Project and the Site, or any part 
thereof, or any interest therein, or (b) sublet or lend the use of the Project or any part 
thereof, except as authorized by the provisions of the California Civic Center Act, 
Education Code Section 38130 et seq. Consent to any of the foregoing prohibited acts 
applies only in the given instance and is not a consent to any subsequent like act by the 
District or any other person.  Contractor shall not assign its obligations under this 
Sublease with the exception of its obligation to issue default notices and to convey or 
reconvey its interest in the Project and Site to the District upon full satisfaction of the 
District's obligations hereunder; however, the District shall pay all Tenant Improvement 
Payments and Sublease Payments due hereunder pursuant to the direction of 
Contractor or the assignee named in the most recent assignment or notice of 
assignment. Subject always to the foregoing, this Sublease inures to the benefit of, and 
is binding upon, the heirs, legatees, personal representatives, successors, and assigns 
of the parties hereto. 

SECTION 19.  Ownership 

 The Project is and shall at all times be and remain the sole and exclusive 
property of Contractor, and the District shall have no right, title, or interest therein or 
thereto except as expressly set forth herein. 

SECTION 20.  Sublease Prepayments/Purchase Option 

 (a)   Sublease Prepayments. At any time during the Term of this Sublease, the 
District may make Sublease Prepayments to the Contractor of the Tenant Improvement 
Payments and/or Sublease Payments ("Sublease Prepayments"). No Sublease 
Prepayments requested by Contractor may be made by the District in an amount which 
exceeds the aggregate true cost to Contractor of the work on the Project completed up 
to the date Contractor submits the request for a Sublease Prepayment less the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 139



aggregate amount of: (1) all Tenant Improvement Prepayments and Sublease 
Payments previously made by the District to Contractor; (2) all Sublease Prepayments 
previously made by the District to the Contractor; (3) all amounts previously retained 
pursuant to Section 20(a)(3), below, from Sublease Prepayments previously made by 
the District to Contractor (unless Contractor shall have previously substituted securities 
for such retained amounts pursuant to Section 20(a)(3)); and (4) the retention for such 
Sublease Prepayment pursuant to Section 20(a)(3) hereof.   Contractor must submit 
evidence that the conditions precedent set forth in Section 20(a)(1), below, have been 
met. In the event District elects to make Sublease Prepayments, the Prepayment Price, 
contemplated in Section 20(b), below, shall be adjusted accordingly. 

  (1) In the event that the District elects to make a Sublease 
Prepayment, the following are conditions precedent to the District’s delivery of such 
Sublease Prepayments to Contractor pursuant to a request of Contractor: 

  (A) Satisfactory progress of the construction of the Project 
pursuant to the Time Schedule shall have been made as determined in accordance 
therewith. 

  (B) Contractor shall also submit to the District (i) duly executed 
conditional lien releases and waivers (in the form provided in California Civil Code 
Sections 8132 through 8138) from Contractor and all sub-contractors, consultants and 
other persons retained by Contractor in connection with the Project, whereby such 
persons conditionally waive all lien and stop notice rights against the District, the Project 
and the Project Site with respect to the pending Sublease Prepayment to be made by 
the District, (ii) duly executed unconditional lien releases and waivers (in the form 
provided in California Civil Code Sections 8132 through 8138) from Contractor and all 
subcontractors, consultants and other persons retained by Contractor in connection with 
the Project, whereby such persons unconditionally and irrevocably waive all lien and 
stop notice rights against the District, the Project and the Project Site with respect to all 
previous Sublease Prepayments made by the District, and (iii) any other items that 
Contractor may be required to collect and distribute to the District pursuant to the terms 
and provisions of the Construction Services Agreement.   Contractor shall promptly pay 
all amounts due to each subcontractor, consultant and other person retained by 
Contractor in connection with the Project no later than 10 days after Contractor’s receipt 
of a Sublease Prepayment from the District.  

   (2) The determination of whether satisfactory progress of the 
construction pursuant to the Time Schedule has occurred shall be made by the District 
in accordance with the General Conditions. If the District determines that pursuant to 
the Time Schedule the work required to be performed, as stated in Contractor’s 
Sublease Prepayment request, has not been substantially completed, then Contractor 
shall not be eligible to receive the requested Sublease Prepayment.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 140



 (b) If the District is not in default hereunder, the District shall have the option 
to purchase not less than all of the Project in as-is condition upon delivery of the 
Prepayment Price as defined herein. The Prepayment Price at any given time shall be 
an amount equal to the final GMP, as it may be revised from time to time, less the sum 
of any Tenant Improvement Payments, Sublease Payments and/or Sublease 
Prepayments made by the District prior to the date on which the District elects to 
exercise its option under this Section. The District may thereupon terminate this 
Sublease and Contractor shall deliver such deeds, bills of sale, assignments, releases 
or other instruments as District may reasonably require to reflect the transfer of all of 
Contractor’s interest in the Project.  Following the closing of the District’s purchase 
option, the District shall retain all rights to any claim or warranty arising under the 
Construction Services Agreement. 

SECTION 21.  Indemnification 

 Contractor shall indemnify the District in accordance with the provisions set forth 
in the General Conditions during the course of construction.   

SECTION 22.  Construction Services Agreement and Site Lease 

 The Construction Services Agreement and the Contract Documents as defined 
therein, including the Site Lease, are incorporated by reference herein in their entirety 
as if fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 23.  Severability 

 If any one or more of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Sublease shall to 
any extent be declared invalid, unenforceable, void or voidable for any reason 
whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction, the finding or order or decree of which 
becomes final, none of the remaining terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of 
this Sublease shall be affected thereby, and each provision of this Sublease shall be 
valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 24.  Entire Agreement 

 The Contract Documents enumerated in paragraph C of Section 1 of the 
Construction Services Agreement, which include this Sublease, constitute the entire 
agreement between Contractor and the District, and the Contract Documents shall not 
be amended, altered, or changed except by a written agreement signed by the parties 
hereto. 

SECTION 25.  Notices 

 Any notices or filings required to be given or made under this Sublease shall be 
served, given or made in writing upon the District or Contractor, as the case may be, by 
personal delivery or registered mail (with a copy sent via fax or regular mail) to the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 141



respective addresses given below or at such other address as such party may provide 
in accordance with the provisions herein.  Any change in the addresses noted herein 
shall not be binding upon the other party unless preceded by no less than thirty (30) 
days prior written notice. 

 If to Contractor: 

 Flint Builders, Inc. 
 401 Derek Place 
 Roseville, California  95678 
 Attn:  ___________________ 
 

 If to the District: 

 Gilroy Unified School District                                                                        
  7810 Arroyo Circle 

 Gilroy, California 95020 
 Attn:  Dr. Deborah A. Flores, Superintendent 
 
With a copy to Mary Hernandez,  

 Garcia, Hernandez, Sawhney LLP 
 2490 Mariner Square Loop, Suite 140 
 Alameda, CA  94501 
 

 Notices under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given, and shall be 
effective, upon actual receipt by the other party, or, if mailed, upon the earlier of the fifth 
(5th) day after mailing or actual receipt by the other party. 

SECTION 26.  Titles 

 The captions or headings in this Sublease are for convenience only and in no 
way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or sections of this 
Sublease. 

SECTION 27.  Time 

 Time is of the essence with respect to each of the terms, covenants, and 
conditions of this Sublease and each and all of its provisions. 

SECTION 28.  Applicable Law 

 This Sublease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of California. The parties irrevocably agree that any action, suit or proceeding 
by or among the District and Contractor shall be brought in whichever of the Superior 
Courts of the State of California, Santa Clara County, or the Federal Court for the Northern 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

John Stump

Page 142



District of California in San Jose, California, has subject matter jurisdiction over the 
dispute and waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have regarding the choice 
of forum whether on personal jurisdiction, venue, forum non conveniens or on any other 
ground. 

SECTION 29.  Execution in Counterparts 

 This Sublease may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall 
be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 

SECTION 30.  District Insurance 

 During the period after tenant improvement completion and beneficial occupancy 
of the Project and before the end of the Term, the District shall purchase and maintain 
Commercial General Liability and Property Insurance covering the types of claims set 
forth below which may arise out of or result from the District’s operations of the Site and 
for which the District may be legally responsible: (i) claims for damages because of 
bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease or death of the District's employees; (ii) 
claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease or death of any person 
other than the District's employees; (iii) claims for damages insured by usual personal 
injury liability coverage which are sustained (a) by a person as a result of an offense 
directly or indirectly related to employment of such person by the District, or (b) by 
another person; and (iv) claims for damages, other than to the Project itself, because of 
injury to or destruction of tangible property, including loss of use resulting therefrom.  
Such insurance shall be in the coverage amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and 
$2,000,000 aggregate.  The insurance policy required of the District hereunder shall 
also name Contractor as an additional insured as its interests may appear. Such 
insurance shall be deemed to be primary and non-contributory with any policy 
maintained by Contractor and any policy or coverage maintained by Contractor shall be 
deemed to be excess over such insurance maintained by District. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound thereby, have 
executed this Sublease effective as of the date first above written. 

CONTRACTOR     THE DISTRICT 

Flint Builders, Inc.     Gilroy Unified School District, 
401 Derek Place     a California school district  
Roseville, CA. 95678    7810 Arroyo Circle 
       Gilroy, CA  95020  

       

 

By: ______________________________ By: _____________________________ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 143



  
Title: _____________________________ Title: ___________________________ 
  
Date: _____________________________ Date: ___________________________ 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

5/29/2021

President

Page 144



EXHIBIT A 

TO SUBLEASE 

PAYMENT PROVISIONS 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E9D3B8F7-8C76-4B69-AD96-3568F65CB450

Page 145



Measure E Funding Allocated Encumbered

Future 

Expenditures Description

Aedis Architects 4,744,000.00$            Architect

Articulate Solutions 1,155.00$                   Logos, Signage

Krueger International 12,582.03$                 Teacher Lounge furniture

New SV Media 1,754.00$                   RFQ Notification

Great White Installation 1,100.00$                   Install Teacher Lounge furniture

School Site Solutions 41,250.00$                 CEQA and CDE Approvals

The Printing Spot 5,000.00$                   Printing

Carroll Engineering 49,800.00$                 

Aerial, Ground Topo; Underground Utility and 

Boundary Surveys

Flint Builders, Inc./Hummingbird 1,140,000.00$            Preconstruction Agreement

Earth Systems Pacific 50,600.00$                 Geological Studies

W-Trans 11,130.00$                 Traffic Study

First American Title Insurance 1,500.00$                   Title Search

California Geological Application 3,600.00$                   Geological Hazards Assessment

DTSC 77,563.00$                 School Clean-up Agreement

Padre Associates 45,960.00$                 Soils Management

Division of State Architect 322,250.00$               Application #1 

Division of State Architect 234,650.00$               Application #2

Jerome Zalinski 700,000.00$               Inspector of Record

EnviroScience 18,690.00$                 Industrial Hygiene Survey/Air Quality Mgmt.

City of Gilroy 600.00$                       Fire Hydrant testing - 2

PG&E 5,000.00$                   Engineering Advance

W-Trans 16,000.00$                 Contract Amendment - traffic striping

S&M Moving 4,515.00$                   Move Adult Ed to MMHS

Anaya Construction 94,900.00$                 Relocation of portables to Transportation Yard

Monterey Bay Systems 300.00$                       Moving Adult Ed copiers to MMHS

Uline 445.23$                       Moving Boxes

Flint Builders, Inc. 76,452,626.00$          Lease Leaseback Agreement 

EnviroScience 38,982.00$                 Air Quality Mgmt. oversight Phase 1 Bldgs. I and J

S&M Moving 10,780.00$                 Contract Amendment - Phase 1 Demolition

S&M Moving 1,216.44$                   Moving equipment 

Earth Systems Pacific 5,500.00$                   Soils Testing/Observations Phase 1 demolition

Total Encumbered 84,093,448.70$          

Estimated Future Expenditures 5,406,551.30$       

Total Project Cost

Total Project Budget

South Valley Middle School Modernization Project

June 10, 2021 Board Meeting

89,500,000.00$                                            

89,500,000.00$                                            

Total Project Budget Matrix

Page 146



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   

 

 

SOUTH VALLEY MIDDLE SCHOOL 
Replacement Project Phase 1 

Presented to: 

Marissa Vanpatten 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Professional Relocation Services  

Prepared by Luis Salazar  

www.smmoving.com 

S&M Moving Systems North 
48551 Warm Springs Blvd 

Fremont, CA 94539 

Page 147

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2e

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



 

PROJECT DETAILS 

      Scope of work consists of providing labor in June / July to relocate furniture on the South Valley 
Middle school campus in preparation for Phase 1 demolition and furniture surplus . Items will be 
relocated to various locations. Project is prevailing wage & all work is to be performed during regular 
business hours. Any changes & or delays by other trades will be accepted as a change order & may incur 
additional charges. 

 

June / July - PREVAILING WAGE PROJECT RELOCATING ITEMS TO VARIOUS LOCATIONS 

DESTINATION SERVICE               AMT  HRS            PREVAILING RATE                  TOTAL              

DRIVER                                              1                            16                      $65.00                             $1,040.00 

TRUCK                                               1                             16                     $35.00                             $560.00 

FUEL SURCHARGE                           2                                                       $50.00                             $100.00 

SUPERVISOR                   1            40                      $65.00               $2,600.00 

INSTALLER                                         1                            40                      $85.00                             $3,400.00 

MOVER                                              1                            40                      $55.00                             $2,200.00 

MOVER                                              1                             16                     $55.00                             $880.00 
                  SUB-TOTAL              $10,780.00 

 

NOTE: Valuation coverage is $0.60 per pound of article. Additional valuation is available upon request. Drive time from portal to p ortal is 
included in the above estimate. Payment Net 30 – Final invoice will be based on actual time and materials required/requested. 

Quote LS02-428 SUMMARY: 

LABOR                                                                                                                  $10,120.00 

 TRUCK / FUEL SURCHARGE                                                                             $660.00  

                                                                                            TOTAL COST           $10,780.00 

 

 

THANK YOU FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE OF SERVICE TO YOU. 

Page 148



 

PROJECT DETAILS 

      Scope of work consists of purchasing moving equipment. 

 

DESTINATION SERVICE               AMT  HRS                       RATE                                  TOTAL              

SPEED PACKS                  12                                                     $28.00               $336.00 

4 WHEEL DOLLIES                           12                                                     $65.00                             $780.00 

SALES TAX                                      1116                                                       9%                               $100.44 
                  SUB-TOTAL              $1,216.44 

 

NOTE: Valuation coverage is $0.60 per pound of article. Additional valuation is available upon request. Drive time from portal to portal is 
included in the above estimate. Payment Net 30 – Final invoice will be based on actual time and materials required/requested. 

 

 

Quote LS02-429 SUMMARY: 

EQUIPMENT                                                                                                          $1,116.00 

 SALES TAX                                                                                                             $100.44  

                                                                                            TOTAL COST              $1,216.44 

 

 

 

 

 

THANK YOU FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE OF SERVICE TO YOU. 

Page 149

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2f

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



������������	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������� !""#�$#%&' ()�*�+),�-*�./.-�01�2324�56(#3�50)7�809�0)��:0)7$,09�0) &;7%#<),;=;�9$#%&'*�(�9�5;�%"���(5;�%"� !""#�$#%&'>"3�?,1#,;#�@)�,1�!��?,1@)�,1�! !""#�$#%&'ABBC�DEFGHBBH�IDJKL�MNO�PQRROST�UVWS�XO�NWYO�ZS�UVWPO�Z[�T\�]OT�TNO�̂�PVW[[R\\_[�WS̀�WQaZVZWRb�[UWPO[�cd�_\̀QVWR�QSZT[e�WS̀�TNO�[QRR\QS̀ZS]WROW�\ff�\f�gQRRWb�hYO�Z[�T\�i[OVVi�TNO�_\̀QVWR�QSZT[�T\�jklm�WT�no�W[[Q_ZS]�TNWT�WVV�OaUOS[O[�f\R�TNO�TRWS[U\RT�WS̀Ẁ Z̀TZ\SWV�X\Rp�ROVWTÒ�T\�TNO�_\̀QVWR�QSZT[�XZVV�qO�ZSPQRRÒ�qb�jklmr�hT�TNZ[�TZ_Os�XO�WRO�ZS�TNO�_Z̀̀ VO�\f�fZS̀ZS]�WSWUURWZ[OR�f\R�TNO�_\̀QVWR�QSZT[�f\R�UR\PO[[ZS]�UQRU\[O[r�h[�TNO�qQZV̀ZS]�Z[�W�tuvw�qQZV̀ZS]s�WS�WUURWZ[WV�SOÒ[�T\�qOP\S̀QPTÒ�qb�W�xR̀�UWRTb�WS̀�W�vgy�WV\S]�XZTN�̀Z[U\[ZTZ\S�f\R_[�SOÒ�T\�qO�[Qq_ZTTÒ�T\�\QR�RO]Z\SWV�\ffZPOr�zO�WRO�ZSTNO�UR\PO[[�\f�\qTWZSZS]�TNO�WUURWZ[WV�WS̀�PWS�fZSWVZ{O�TNO�̀Z[U\[ZTZ\S�\SPO�UR\PO[[Ò�TNR\Q]N�TNO�|O]Z\SWV�uffZPOr}RZ[TOS�~���������������������������������������~����������������������������������~����������������������������������������~����������������������������������������~���������������������������������������~���������������������������������������
�DHD�FGL�IKDHH�H��DHC��J��BG ¡DGK¢�£FDGH�H���FG¤�¥F¦�§�̈FDC�� DG �IGB�GD©� JCFH ��FG¤�¥F¦�ª�¤�¦�BH�DH D�«KDGD�«BJH ¢�¬¥F�B®�¡CJ¥D̄BH-.°/�±;99�%�50%²�³%;́�µ0,�+#!�*�>?�°¶-4-·.4/2¹̧º»¼�¹½¾§¿À½¹²%;!1�,Á7��Â¦¥¥BFÃBG�Ä��ÅÆ�Ç�È��É��É������ÊËÌ~�Ê���Ä���ÌÍ����Í�����ÎÏÐÑÒ�Ó�ÅÊ�Ô����Å�Õ:0)7$,09�0) &;7%#<),;=;�9$#%&Ö�×ØÙÚÒ�ÛÅ�Ü��ËÝ�ÞÅ����Ý�������������ß�àÐÒ�áÉ�ÜÆ���È���Õ���� !""#�$#%&Öâ�Û���Ó��É~��Õ(5;�%"� !""#�$#%&Ö�×ãäåØæÚÒ�ç���èÆ�ÆÅÜ�Íé�ê����èÆ�ÉÆ�ëÅ�Ê����Ü�ìí)#1�9�1�î1�ï;99�,ðñòóàôõöÒ�Û÷�Ü�����Ê�ÍÉ�����Æ���éÉÍ��ÍÅÆÜ����Íé�Æ÷��ÍÉ����ø�ÌÍ����Í��ÍÆ�~Ê�~ù�Ê��ùÜÝ�Í�����ú�~÷���ÆÜ�ÍÉ�É��ÊË�Å�Ê�ÜÜ�ËÍÅ�É�~Í���ø��Æ÷��Ü����É����ù�Íû�Æ÷��~Í�Æ��Æ��Ü�Ü�é����Í�Æ�~Æ�Æ÷��ê�Ê����Üù��Æ�������é�ËÍÅ�������ÜÜ�ÜÆ��~��

Page 150

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2g

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



   2220 S. Bascom Avenue • Campbell, California  95008 • Tel (408) 371-4181 • Fax (408) 371-4186

South Valley MS • Buildings I & J
IH Monitoring + Oversight + Clearance + Final Report

PROPOSAL
Proposal Date: Requested By: Req. #: Proposal #:

05/27/21 Mr. Paul Nadeau TBD P120
Project #: 257-21.55 Pjct Loc'n: South Valley MS • Buildings I & J
Client: Gilroy USD IH Monitoring + Oversight + Clearance + Final Report
Attn: Mr. Paul Nadeau Scope:
cc: Ms. Marissa Van Patten 1) Submittal review & approval
Address: 7810 Arroyo Circle 2) Daily IH monitoring & oversight during abatement

Gilroy, CA 95020 3) Air sample analysis by PCM
Tel: 408-726-1686 4) Final clearance air sampling/analysis
Email: paul.nadeau@gilroyunified.org 5) Final report of abatement for these Buildings

ITEM DESCRIPTION COST
1 Background Inspection & Sampling Services ………………………………………………….……….…… Completed

2 HazMat Abatement Specifications & Bid Docs ………………………………………………….……….…… Completed

3 Management Services prior to Abatement Start …………………………………………...….……….…… 1,475.00$      
•  Job walk with bidders and scope clarification
•  Response to technical questions
•  Abatement contractor submittal review
•  Response to submittal deficiencies
•  Issuance of authorization to proceed

4 Abatement Services by a DOSH-Certified Contractor …………………………………………………… By Others

5 21 days of IH Monitoring & supervision for Buildings I & J 26,775.00$   
•  Based on 21 days of IH monitoring & supervision during haz-mat abatement, including
   air sampling at all perimeter locations, sample analysis @ a certified lab, containment 
   inspection, post abetment visual inspection, document review,  progress meetings
   Regulatory agency liaison, manifest recordkeeping, specification enforcement

6 Post Abatement Clearance Testing @ a State-Certified Lab
•  3 sets of clearance tests for Buildings I & J …………………………...………………...……… 2,985.00$      

7 Post Abatement Documentation & Final Report for Buildings I & J ……………………………… 1,250.00$      
•  Summary of field activities & daily field logs for Buildings I & J
•  Summary of air sampling analytical data
•  Abatement personnel records
•  Hazardous waste manifests
•  Non hazardous waste tracking forms

SUB-TOTAL 32,485.00$   
(Based on 21 days of AQM)

20% Contingency 6,497.00$      
for added monitoring

TOTAL PROPOSAL 38,982.00$   

Page 151

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2h

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



W O R K    O R D E R 
 
EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC (“CONSULTANT”) AND CLIENT AGREE TO A WORK ASSIGNMENT FOR EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Date: May 27, 2021 File Number: 304286-002 
  Doc. Number: 2105-034.WO 
 
Name of Project: South Valley Middle School – Phase I Demolition 
 
Order Received by: Brett Faust 
 
Client Name: Gilroy Unified School District, Attn. Mr. Paul Nadeau 
 
Client Address: 7810 Arroyo Circle, Gilroy, CA 95020 
 
Location of Project: 385 IOOF Avenue, Gilroy, California 
 
Scope of Services: Geotechnical Observation, Laboratory and Field Soil Compaction Testing, and Project 

Management 
 
Fees to be Charged: *Time and Materials per January 1, 2021 Fee Schedule, Estimate $5,500.00 
 
 
 AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED: 
Earth Systems Pacific 
DIR Public Works Registration No. 1000003643 Gilroy Unified School District  
 Client (Party responsible for payment) 
  
Brett Faust, CEG 2386   
Vice President by Authorized Representative (please print) 

May 27, 2021    
Date  Signature and Title 

   
 Date 

PLEASE RETURN A SIGNED COPY   
TO EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC Telephone Number 

   
 Email Address 

 
IF THE CLIENT DOES NOT OWN THE PROPERTY, PLEASE FILL IN THE PROPERTY OWNER'S NAME AND ADDRESS: 
 

Name:__________________________________________________ 
 

Address:________________________________________________ 

*Rates are subject to change due to changes in prevailing wage law or its application.  In the event that it is determined or alleged 
that Prevailing Wage Law applies to any additional aspect of the project, the client agrees to pay Earth Systems Pacific (Consultant) 
any and all additional compensation necessary to adjust Consultant's wage, to pay any penalties that may be levied against 
Consultant due to alleged noncompliance with the Prevailing Wage Law, and to pay for apprentices, supervision, certified payrolls, 
and other administrative costs as necessary to comply with Prevailing Wage Law.  In the event that work thought to be subject 
to prevailing wage is determined not to be subject to prevailing wage, no refund of fees will be given.   January 2021 Fee Schedule 

Page 152

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2i

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



_ 

TERMS FOR SERVICES 

1. INVESTIGATION, MONITORING & INSPECTION  If the services include monitoring or inspection of soil, construction and/or materials,
Client shall authorize and pay for Consultant to provide sufficient observation and professional inspection to permit Consultant to form
opinions  according  to  accepted  statistical  sampling  methods  as  to  whether  the  work  has  been  performed  in  accordance  with
recommendations.    Such opinions, while  statistically  valid,  do not  guaranty uniformity of  conditions or materials.    Similarly,  soils  and
geology investigations do not guaranty uniformity of subsurface conditions.  Client hereby represents and warrants that it has provided
and shall provide to Consultant all information and sufficient advance notice necessary in order for Consultant to perform the appropriate
level of services. No statement or action of Consultant can relieve Client’s contractors of their obligation to perform their work properly.
Consultant has no authority to stop the work of others.

2. SITE ACCESS & UTILITIES  Client has sole responsibility for securing site access and locating utilities.

3. BILLING AND PAYMENT  Client will pay Consultant the proposal amount or, if none is stated, according to the fee schedule attached to
the proposal.  Payment is due on presentation of invoices, and is delinquent if Consultant has not received payment within thirty (30) days
from date of an invoice.  Client will pay an additional charge of 1 1/2 (1.5) percent per month (or the maximum percentage allowed by law,
whichever is lower) on any delinquent amount, excepting any portion of the invoiced amount that is disputed in good faith.  Each payment
will first be applied to accrued interest, costs and fees and then to the principal unpaid amount.  All time spent and expenses incurred
(including any in‐house or outside attorney's fees) in connection with collection of any delinquent amount will be paid by the Client to
Consultant per Consultant's  current  fee  schedule.    Services  to  be performed by Consultant hereunder which are not  set  forth  in  this
proposal and/or Work order are additional services.  Any additional services provided by Consultant shall be subject to the terms of this
contract and charged per Consultant’s current fee schedule.

4. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS  Consultant owns all documents it creates and grants Client limited license to use the documents for the
purposes stated in the documents. Consultant reserves the right to withhold delivery of documents to Client until payment in full of current
invoices has been received.

5. TERMINATION   This agreement may be terminated by either party effective 7 days from the date of written notice, or  if the client
suspends the work for three (3) months.  In the event of termination, Consultant will be paid for services performed prior to the date of
termination plus reasonable termination expenses.  If Consultant has not received payment for any invoice within 30 days from the date
of the invoice, or in the event of anticipatory breach by Client, Consultant may suspend performance of its services immediately and may
terminate this contract.

6. RISK ALLOCATION  In order for Client to obtain the benefit of a fee which includes a lesser allowance for compensating Consultant for
its litigation risk, Client agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend Consultant, its agents, employees, or officers, from and against any
and all loss, claim, expenses, including attorney’s fees, injury, damages, liability or costs arising out of non‐design services (i.e., services
other than as defined by Civil Code Section 2784) performed by Consultant on this project, except where such loss injury, damage, liability,
cost, expenses or claims are the result of the sole negligence or willful misconduct of Consultant.  Regarding any loss due to the negligence
or willful misconduct of Consultant, or any loss due to design defects, Client agrees to limit the total aggregate liability of Consultant, its
agents, employees, and officers to Client, and to all construction contractors and subcontractors on the entire project, to the greater of
$25,000.00 or total  fees charged by Consultant.   Client  further agrees to require of  the contractor and his subcontractors an  identical
limitation of Consultant's liability for damage suffered by the contractor or the subcontractor arising from any alleged breach or negligence
of Consultant.  You should consult with an attorney experienced in construction contracts and litigation regarding this provision.

7. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  Consultant is responsible only for hazardous materials brought by Consultant onto the site.  Client retains
ownership and responsibility in all respects for other hazardous materials and associated damage.

8. THIRD PARTIES AND ASSIGNMENT  This Contract is intended only to benefit the parties hereto. No person who is not a signatory to this
Contract shall have any rights hereunder to rely on this Contract or on any of Consultant’s services or reports without the express written
authorization of Consultant. This Contract shall not be assigned by Client without the Consultant’s written consent. This Contract is binding
on any successor companies to Client or Consultant, and on the surviving corporation in the event of a merger or acquisition.

9. GOVERNING LAW, SURVIVAL AND FORUM SELECTION  The contract shall be governed by laws of the Federal Government.  If any of the 
provisions contained in this agreement are held invalid, the enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired.  Limitations of
liability, indemnities, representations and warranties by Client will survive termination of this agreement. The signatories represent and
warrant that they are authorized by the entities on whose behalf they sign to enter into this contract and that their principals have filed
fictitious business name statements, if required.  All disputes between Consultant and client related to this agreement will be submitted to
the court of the county where Consultant's principal place of business is located and client waives the right to remove the action to any
other county or judicial jurisdiction.

7/2017  HANDWRITTEN CHANGES NOT VALID Page 2

(PW Terms) Page 153

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



 

JANUARY 1, 2021 FEE SCHEDULE    NC‐2101‐009.FEE 

 

 

FEE SCHEDULE – DSA/OSHPD 

(Effective January 1, 2021) 

This schedule presents rates for professional and technical services in the fields of geotechnical engineering, engineering 
geology, environmental consulting, construction observation and testing, and special inspection. Listed are charges for 
services most frequently performed by Earth Systems. Additional services not listed are available and can be discussed 
upon request; fixed‐fee quotes for some services can also be provided upon request. To discuss a scope of work and fees 
for a specific project, please contact our office. 

PERSONNEL  Hourly Rate 
Principal Professional ............................................................................................................................................. $225.00 
Associate Professional ........................................................................................................................................... $205.00 
Senior Professional ................................................................................................................................................ $190.00 
Project Professional ............................................................................................................................................... $160.00 
Staff Professional ................................................................................................................................................... $145.00 
Special Inspector, Prevailing Wage* ...................................................................................................................... $135.00 
Technician, Prevailing Wage* ................................................................................................................................ $130.00 
Special Services/Caltrans Technician, Prevailing Wage* ....................................................................................... $130.00 
Special Services Technician .................................................................................................................................... $120.00 
Special Inspector .................................................................................................................................................... $105.00 
Technical Assistant................................................................................................................................................. $100.00 
Technician .............................................................................................................................................................. $100.00 
Clerical/Administrative ............................................................................................................................................ $85.00 

*  Technician/Inspector Classifications as defined by the State of California Department of Industrial Relations. 

BASIS OF CHARGES 
1. The prevailing wage  (PW)  rates presented herein are based on  current  rates established by  the Department of 

Industrial Relations (DIR). If, during the course of the project, prevailing wage rates are increased by DIR, rates are 
subject to adjustment.  

2. Field services for regular work days are subject to a 4‐hour minimum charge, and billed in 4‐hour increments.   

3. Work performed on Saturdays, night work, and for premium hours (before 7 a.m., after 5 p.m. or more than 8 hours 
in one day)  for personnel are at  time and one‐half; Sundays and holidays are at double  time. Also, please note 
requirements  concerning  overtime,  shift  work,  travel  time,  holidays,  and  other  factors  can  vary  for  different 
classifications of work under prevailing wage regulations. 

4. A 2‐hour cancellation charge applies if scheduled inspection or testing is cancelled after 4 p.m. the day prior to the 
scheduled work.  

5. Mileage is invoiced at a rate of $0.80/mile (portal‐to‐portal). 

6. Nuclear density gauge charge: $15.00/hour. 

7. Weekly special inspection report charge: $120.00. 

8. Subcontracted services, materials, rental equipment, out of town travel, and expenses are charged at cost plus 20 
percent. Fixed per diem rates for specific projects can be provided upon request. 

9. Report copies: $30.00 each  (minimum).   Posting of electronic documents  to project websites will be charged at 
clerical/administrative services rate. 

10. Projects where State regulations require electronic submittal of Certified Payroll to DIR for prevailing wage will be 
assessed  a  fee  of  $85.00/week.  Additional  time  required  to  address  specific  requests  related  to  DIR/Labor 
Compliance will be charged at the clerical/administrative services rates. 

11. Invoices are payable upon presentation. Invoices thirty days past due are subject to a service charge of one and one‐
half percent per month.  Payments using a credit card will be assigned a 3% surcharge. 

12. Rates are effective through June 30, 2021. 

   

Page 154



 

JANUARY 1, 2021 FEE SCHEDULE    NC‐2101‐009.FEE 

 
 

FEE SCHEDULE – DSA/OSHPD – MATERIALS TESTING 

(Effective January 1, 2021) 

BASIS OF CHARGES 
Rates for field work such as materials sampling, construction inspection, and field evaluation will be in accordance with the 
Personnel Rates  listed  in  the basic  Fee  Schedule.    The below  listed  rates  apply  to  standard ASTM  test methods.   An 
additional hourly charge ($80.00/hr.) will be applied for cutting, capping, or other preparation of non‐standard samples 
and, where noted, for steel samples.  

 
SOILS 
All  prices  are  based  on  California  and Modified  California  sample  sizes  (2”  –  2.5”  diameter)  unless  noted  otherwise.  
Preparation of 3” diameter samples add $20.00.  Testing of contaminated soil will be per quote.  Samples will be returned 
to sender for proper disposal. 

 

Atterberg Limits: Liquid Limit or Plastic Limit................................................................................................................ $120.00 
Atterberg Limits: Plasticity Index .................................................................................................................................. $220.00 
California Bearing Ratio, 3 points; incl. ref maximum density ...................................................................................... $580.00 
California Bearing Ratio, 9 points; incl. ref maximum density ...................................................................................... $950.00 
Consolidation, one dimensional .................................................................................................................................... $210.00 
Consolidation, timed, per point .................................................................................................................................... $105.00 
Basic Corrosivity w/out Rpt (pH, Sulfate, Chl., Resistivity) ........................................................................................ Per Quote 
Direct Shear, 3 points minimum  ................................................................................................................................... $300.00 
Expansion Index Test ..................................................................................................................................................... $200.00 
Maximum Density and Optimum Moisture: 4” Mold ................................................................................................... $260.00 
Maximum Density and Optimum Moisture: 6” Mold ................................................................................................... $305.00 
Maximum Density and Optimum Moisture: California Impact ..................................................................................... $300.00 
Moisture and Unit Weight Determination, from Ring Samples ...................................................................................... $50.00 
Moisture Only .................................................................................................................................................................. $45.00 
Permeability Tests, constant head or falling head .................................................................................................... Per Quote 
R‐Value .......................................................................................................................................................................... $305.00 
R‐Value, CA State Hwy/set of 3, Cement, Lime, Other addts ........................................................................................ $380.00 
Hydro Collapse Potential ............................................................................................................................................... $175.00 
Hydrometer Analysis, assumed specific gravity, with 200 wash ................................................................................... $245.00 
Sieve/Hydrometer Anlys, assumed specific grvty, w/200 wash .................................................................................... $250.00 
Sieve Analysis, Aggregate Base/Subbase ...................................................................................................................... $160.00 
Sieve Analysis 200 wash only ........................................................................................................................................ $100.00 
Sieve Analysis with wash ............................................................................................................................................... $130.00 
Sieve Analysis, Oversize Material .................................................................................................................................. $220.00 
Specific Gravity .............................................................................................................................................................. $150.00 
Swell Test, undisturbed ................................................................................................................................................. $210.00 
Swell Test, remolded ..................................................................................................................................................... $235.00 
Unconfined Compressive Strength, untreated .............................................................................................................. $110.00 
Unconfined Compressive Strength, lime or cement treated mtrl ................................................................................. $495.00 

THERMAL RESISTIVITY TESTS 
Concrete, 1 pt w/moisture content (req spcl collection proc) .................................................................................. Per Quote 
Field Testing using Thermal Resistivity Meter ........................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Soil, per moisture point, per sample ......................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Soil, 3 moisture points with dry‐out curve, per sample ............................................................................................ Per Quote 

CONCRETE AGGREGATE 
Abrasion, L.A. Rattler, 100 and 500 revolutions ............................................................................................................ $305.00 
Absorption, Coarse Aggregate ........................................................................................................................................ $90.00 
Absorption, Fine Aggregate ........................................................................................................................................... $130.00 
Clay Lumps and Friable Particles in Aggregate .............................................................................................................. $130.00 
Cleanness Value of Coarse Aggregate ........................................................................................................................... $180.00 
Crushed Particles, each size .......................................................................................................................................... $130.00 

    Page 155



 

JANUARY 1, 2021 FEE SCHEDULE    NC‐2101‐009.FEE 

 
FEE SCHEDULE – DSA/OSHPD – MATERIALS TESTING 

(Effective January 1, 2021) 

CONCRETE AGGREGATE (Cont.) 
Durability Index, Coarse or Fine Aggregate ................................................................................................................... $180.00 
Flat and Elongated Particles in Aggregate ..................................................................................................................... $130.00 
Organic Impurities in Fine Aggregate ............................................................................................................................ $100.00 
Potential Reactivity of Aggr by Chemical Method, ea size ........................................................................................ Per Quote 
Sand Equivalent ............................................................................................................................................................. $175.00 
Sieve Analysis, washed .................................................................................................................................................. $195.00 
Soundness, Sodium Sulfate, 5 cycles ............................................................................................................................. $355.00 
Specific Gravity, Coarse Aggregate ................................................................................................................................ $120.00 
Specific Gravity, Fine Aggregate .................................................................................................................................... $150.00 
Uncompacted Void Cntnt of Fine Agg Angularity, w/fine Agg SG ................................................................................. $240.00 
Unit Weight of Aggregate .............................................................................................................................................. $100.00 
 
CONCRETE CYLINDERS, BEAMS AND CORES 
Compression Test of Cast Cylinders ................................................................................................................................ $45.00* 
Compression Test of Cored Samples, cored at laboratory ............................................................................................ $120.00 
Compression Test of cores delivered by others .............................................................................................................. $80.00 
Compression Test of Lightweight Concrete .................................................................................................................... $50.00* 
Density of Concrete Cylinders ......................................................................................................................................... $85.00 
Density of Hardened Concrete ...................................................................................................................................... $100.00 
Flexural Strength, Simple Beam with Third Point Loading ............................................................................................ $120.00 
Grading of Shotcrete Cores ........................................................................................................................................... $195.00 
Sample Storage, monthly per sample ............................................................................................................................. $50.00 
Shrinkage, set of 3 ......................................................................................................................................................... $420.00 
Unit Weight of Lightweight Concrete .............................................................................................................................. $75.00 
Enviro. Recycling Fee, per cylinder, core or beam ............................................................................................................ $2.00 
Enviro. Recycling Fee, per flex beam ................................................................................................................................. $3.00 
Enviro. Recycle Fee/Form Stripping, per shotcrete panel/beam .................................................................................... $70.00 

MASONRY 
Absorption of Block, set of 3 ......................................................................................................................................... $130.00 
Absorption/Specific Gravity/Moisture Content of Block, set of 3 ................................................................................. $315.00 
Compression Test, 2” x 4” Mortar Cylinders ................................................................................................................... $45.00* 
Compression Test, 3” x 3” x 6” Grout Samples ............................................................................................................... $65.00* 
Compression Test on Block, set of 3.............................................................................................................................. $170.00 
Compression Test on Grouted Prisms, includes cutting ................................................................................................ $160.00* 
Compression Test on Masonry Cores .............................................................................................................................. $70.00 
Coring of Grouted Masonry by Subcontractor ..........................................................................................................cost + 20% 
Masonry Shrinkage, set of 3 .......................................................................................................................................... $255.00 
Moisture Content of Block as received, set of 3 ............................................................................................................. $90.00 
Shear Test on Masonry Cores, 2 faces .......................................................................................................................... $115.00 
Specific Gravity and Unit Weight of Block, set of 3 ....................................................................................................... $105.00 
Enviro. Recycling Fee, per masonry prism ......................................................................................................................... $3.00 
Enviro. Recycling Fee, per mortar or grout sample ........................................................................................................... $2.00 
 
* Includes formal report of test results following 28‐Day tests. 

FIREPROOFING 
Fireproof Bond Test ................................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Fireproofing Density Test (1) ........................................................................................................................................... $85.00 

ASPHALT CONCRETE 
Bulk Specific Gravity of Compacted Specimens and Core Samples ................................................................................. $85.00 

Compaction of Lab Samples, CA Kneading Compactor, set of 3 ................................................................................... $245.00 

Compaction of Lab Samples, CA Kneading Compactor, set of 5 ................................................................................... $400.00 

Page 156



 

JANUARY 1, 2021 FEE SCHEDULE    NC‐2101‐009.FEE 

 
FEE SCHEDULE – DSA/OSHPD – MATERIALS TESTING 

(Effective January 1, 2021) 

ASPHALT CONCRETE (Cont.) 
Compaction of Lab Spls, Mrshl Mthd set of 3 –(50 blows/side) .................................................................................... $250.00 
Compaction of Lab Spls, Mrshl Mthd set of 3 –(75 blows/side) .................................................................................... $265.00 
Extraction of Oil from A.C. Mixtures .............................................................................................................................. $280.00 
Extraction of Oil from Rubberized Mixtures .................................................................................................................. $370.00 
Gyratory Compactor, per set of field mixed asphalt ..................................................................................................... $500.00 
Hamburg Wheel Tracker Test, per set of field mixed asphalt ....................................................................................... $895.00 
Ignition Oven Binder Cntnt, after initial corr value is det .............................................................................................. $280.00 
Ignition Oven Binder Cntnt Corr Value /mix design, ave of 3 ........................................................................................ $805.00 
Ignition Oven Gradation Correction Value, per mix design ....................................................................................... Per Quote 
Moisture Content ............................................................................................................................................................ $55.00 
Sieve Analysis of Extracted Aggregate ........................................................................................................................... $290.00 
Sieve Analysis of Ignition Oven Residue ........................................................................................................................ $175.00 
Specific Gravity, Theoretical Maximum, Rice Method .................................................................................................. $175.00 
Stability and Flow, Marshall Apparatus, set of 3 ........................................................................................................... $245.00 
Stabilometer, Hveem S‐Value, set of 3 .......................................................................................................................... $350.00 
Enviro. Recycling Fee, per sample ..................................................................................................................................... $2.00 
Enviro. Recycling Fee for Extracted Oils .......................................................................................................................... $50.00 

REINFORCING AND STRUCTURAL STEEL 
Bend Test of Welded Specimen, sample preparation not incl ........................................................................................ $85.00 
Pipe Flattening Test, sample preparation not included .................................................................................................. $80.00 
Reinforcing Steel Coupler Tensile and Slip Tests ........................................................................................................... $255.00 
Structural Steel Bend Test, sample preparation not included ........................................................................................ $85.00 
Structural Steel Machining/Sample Preparation .......................................................................................................cost + 20% 
Structural Steel Tensile Test, sample prep not included ................................................................................................. $85.00 
Tensile and Bend Tests of Reinforcing Bar, #2 through #9 ............................................................................................ $155.00 
Tensile and Bend Tests of Reinforcing Bar, #10 through #18 .................................................................................... Per Quote 
Enviro. Recycling Fee, per sample ..................................................................................................................................... $2.00 

BOLT TESTS 
Bolt Tests, chemical or mechanical ...........................................................................................................................cost + 20% 

WELDER QUALIFICATION 
AWS D1.1: 3/8” Plate, per position ........................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
AWS D1.1: 1” Plate, per position ............................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
AWS D1.3: Sheet Steel ............................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
AWS D1.4: Reinforcing Bar ........................................................................................................................................ Per Quote 
ASME/API Pipe Sections ............................................................................................................................................ Per Quote 

EQUIPMENT/CHARGES (Does Not Include Personnel) 
110‐volt Portable Electric Generator .................................................................................................................... $120.00/day 
Anchor Pull Test Equipment ...................................................................................................................................... $50.00/hr. 
Bailer (disposable) w/dedicated rope ...................................................................................................................... $40.00/ea. 
Concrete and Asphalt Concrete Coring Equipment ...................................................................................................cost + 20% 
Concrete Slab Moisture Transition Kit...................................................................................................................... $50.00/ea. 
Conductivity Meter....................................................................................................................................................cost + 20% 
Cut‐Off Saw ............................................................................................................................................................. $95.00/day 
Double Ring Infiltrometer (per set) ....................................................................................................................... $170.00/day 
Drum Dolly ............................................................................................................................................................... $45.00/day 
Drums  ....................................................................................................................................................................... $95.00/ea. 
Dynamometer, In‐line Scale ...................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Hammer Drill ........................................................................................................................................................... $70.00/day 
Hand Auger/Sampler Equipment ............................................................................................................................ $70.00/day 
Lock n, Load VOC Sample Pres. Sys. ......................................................................................................................... $40.00/ea. 

Page 157



 

JANUARY 1, 2021 FEE SCHEDULE    NC‐2101‐009.FEE 

 
 

FEE SCHEDULE – DSA/OSHPD – MATERIALS TESTING 

(Effective January 1, 2021) 

EQUIPMENT/CHARGES (Cont.) (Does Not Include Personnel) 
Magnetic Particle Equipment .................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Non‐Destructive Testing Equipment ......................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Manometer ........................................................................................................................................................... $120.00/day 
Mini‐Troll Groundwater Level Transducer ............................................................................................................ $120.00/day 
Mobile Laboratory ..................................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Nuclear Density Equipment ....................................................................................................................................... $15.00/hr. 
Paint Thickness Meter ............................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Vehicle with Percolation Tank System .................................................................................................................. $265.00/day 
Personal Protective Equipment Level C..................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Pile Driving Equipment (for pile load testing) ........................................................................................................... Per Quote  
Pile Load Testing Equipment ..................................................................................................................................... Per Quote  
Pulse Velocity Meter ................................................................................................................................................. Per Quote 
Rebound Hammer (Schmidt Hammer) .................................................................................................................... $65.00/day 
Reinforcing Steel Locating Equipment (DR‐Meter) ............................................................................................... $110.00/day 
Relative Humidity Meter ....................................................................................................................................... $100.00/day 
Off Road Vehicle ........................................................................................................................................................ Per Quote  
Safety and Specialty Equipment ................................................................................................................................ Per Quote 
Sampling Consumables ............................................................................................................................................. Per Quote 
Skidmore Bolting Calibration Equipment .............................................................................................................. $215.00/day 
Slope Inclinometer Equipment, per hole .................................................................................................................. Per Quote 
Soil Sampling Containers (metal) ............................................................................................................................. $30.00/ea. 
Soil Sampling Containers (glass) ............................................................................................................................... $12.00/ea. 
Tape Extensometer ................................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
Tension Equipment ............................................................................................................................................... $215.00/day 
Torque/Tension Equipment .................................................................................................................................. $215.00/day 
Water Level Indicator .............................................................................................................................................. $60.00/day 
Windsor Probe, set of 3 ............................................................................................................................................. Per Quote  
Per Diem .................................................................................................................................................................... Per Quote 
DIR Compliance/eCPR, per week ..................................................................................................................................... $85.00 
DSA Box Posting, ea. ........................................................................................................................................................ $85.00 
DSA Lab Compliance, per week ....................................................................................................................................... $85.00 
Vehicle Mileage Charge ..................................................................................................................................................... $0.80 

   

Page 158



 

JANUARY 1, 2021 FEE SCHEDULE    NC‐2101‐009.FEE 

 
 

EXPERT WITNESS SERVICES 

(Effective January 1, 2021) 

 

The following rates apply to deposition testimony, arbitration testimony, hearings and court appearances.  
 
 

HOURLY CHARGES FOR PERSONNEL 
 

Principal Professional ........................................ $400.00 

Associate Professional ....................................... $300.00 

Senior Professional ............................................ $250.00 

Clerical/Admin Services ....................................... $90.00 
 
 

SPECIAL SERVICES 

 

Deposition ................................................. $400.00/hr.2 

Arbitration ................................................... $400.00/hr. 

Court Appearance/Hearings ........... $1,500.00/half day3 

Standby to Appear .................................... $750.00/day4 

 
 
 
BASIS OF CHARGES 
 
1.  Hourly rates are charged during investigation, analysis, consultation, and preparation services. 

 
2.  Estimated deposition fee payable in advance by party requesting deposition.  The difference between advance 

payment and final fee to be billed or refunded in accordance with the fee and billing information in this schedule.  
Fee for reviewing deposition transcript will be billed at hourly rates to the party requesting the review. 

 
3.  Minimum half day charge will apply to court appearances and hearings.  Time extending through the noon hour 

will be subject to the full day charge of $3,000.00. 

 
4.  Days, or portions thereof, reserved for appearances at hearings, court, or arbitrations, during which we are not 

required to be away from our offices will be subject to a standby charge of $750.00.  Standby at other locations 
will be charged at the general hourly rates. 

 

Page 159



Effective 03/05/2021

WEATHERPROOFING TECHNOLOGIES, INC. LINE ITEM PRICING Contract # 4-21-03-1000

GILROY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT GLENVIEW ELEMENTARY SCHOOL KINDER BUILDING MATERIAL ONLY
QUOTE # 5046298
DATE: 5/20/2021

Bid Item 
Number Description of Cost Factors                Unit of Measure Price Quantity Project Amount

505360 503 TPA 60 MIL FIELD SHEET 78" X 90' ROL 1,854.97$                   11 20,404.67$                                          

505262 503 TPA 60 MIL PERIMETER SHEET 39" X 90' ROL 930.08$                      5 4,650.40$                                            

505410 805 TPA LV SINGLE PLY BONDING ADHESIVE 5 GL EA 406.15$                      2 812.30$                                               

505210 501 TPA ACCESSORY SMALL BOOTS 10/CS CS 549.91$                      3 1,649.73$                                            

505255 503 TPA 55 MIL UNREINFORCED 24"X 30' ROL 427.80$                      1 427.80$                                               

505220 503 TPA UNIVERSAL CORNERS WHITE/GRAY 20/CS CS 263.26$                      3 789.78$                                               

505240A 503 TPA 45 MIL COVER STRIP 6"x108' ROL 189.65$                      4 758.60$                                               

505415 503 TPA 72 MIL WALKWAY ROLL GRAY 3' x 60' ROL 762.95$                      1 762.95$                                               

876450 309 TREMSEAL PRO WHITE - 30 CTG/CS CS 286.65$                      1 286.65$                                               

0690304 309 TREMCO WATER BLOCK SEALANT 10.3 OZ-30/CS CS 154.15$                      1 154.15$                                               

400 Additional and occasional services Roofing supplies Discount off Retail Price List % of Discount 13.4% 30,697.03$                                          

FREIGHT PREPAID & ADD: N/A

SUBTOTAL: 30,697.03$                               

STATE TAX 6.250% 1,918.56$                                 

COUNTY TAX 1.000% 306.97$                                    

LOCAL TAX 1.750% 537.20$                                    

**TOTAL PROJECT COST 33,459.76$                               

* The pricing contained in this proposal is based in part on site-specific conditions and 

unique circumstances presented on each individual project.

 Valid for 60 days.  After that time, project conditions are subject to reassessment.

Page 160

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2j

namartinez
Typewritten Text



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD Page 1 
10-25-2013 

GILROY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
AGREEMENT FOR PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS 

AWARDED THROUGH “INFORMAL BIDDING” PROCEDURES UNDER THE 
CALIFORNIA PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE, COMMENCING WITH SECTION 22000 

This Contract (“Contract”) is made and entered into this 10th day of June,2021 , by and between the Gilroy Unified School 
District (“District”) and DuBois Roofing Inc. (“Contractor”) in connection with the Work, defined below.  The District and 
the Contractor are referred to herein as the “Parties” and each as a “Party.”  Contractor is being awarded the Work (described 
below) pursuant to the procedures specified by the Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act, commencing with 
Section 22000 of the Public Contract Code (“Act”). 

1. Work.  The Contractor shall furnish the work, materials, products and/or services (“Work”) on the Project described on
Exhibit A, attached hereto, as further described on Exhibit A and on the District’s request for bids/quotations (“Bid
Request”) issued by the District for the Project.  The Work shall be performed/installed at the following site(s) or
location(s) (“Site” or “Premises”): Glen View Elementary School.

2. Compensation.  The Contractor shall furnish the Work for a total price of ninety nine thousand, five hundred twenty
Dollars ($99,520).  In no event shall aggregate payments under this Contract exceed the amount authorized under the
Act.

3. Payment.  Payment for the Work under this Contract shall be made in accordance with the Terms and Conditions.

4. Commencement.  The Contractor shall commence Work under this Contract only after (i) the Contractor submits and
the District approves any bonds (performance, payment (labor and material)), affidavit(s), certificate(s) and
endorsement(s) of insurance required under the Terms and Conditions, and (ii) the District issues a Notice to Proceed or
otherwise authorizes the Contractor to commence the Work (the “Commencement Date”).

5. Completion.  Work shall be completed within 90 consecutive calendar days from the Commencement Date (unless
otherwise set forth in an agreed-upon completion schedule, construction schedule, or project milestones developed
pursuant to provisions of the Contract and approved and initialed by District) (each, the “Contract Time”).

6. [Liquidated Damages. Contractor agrees that if the Work is not completed within the Contract Time, the District will
suffer damage not capable of being calculated or specified. Therefore, pursuant to Government Code section 53069.85,
Contractor shall, upon demand from District, pay the District, as fixed and liquidated damages for these incalculable
damages, 100 ($100) per day for each and every calendar day of delay beyond the Contract Time.][Reserved.]

7. Contract Documents.  The Contract Documents consists of the Terms and Conditions and the documents specified
below (check or mark):

  X    Non-Collusion Affidavit   

  X    Insurance Certificates and  Endorsements 

____ Prevailing Wage Certification 

  X    Workers’ Compensation Certification 

  X  Fingerprinting / Criminal Background Investigation 
Certification 

  X    Drug-Free Workplace Certification  

____ Hazardous Materials Certification  

____ Lead Paint Certification  

____ Performance Bond  

____ Payment Bond  

____ Work Specifications  

____ Plans _________________________ 

____ [Other] _________________________ 

8. Inspection and Acceptance of Work.  Inspection of the Work shall be performed by Marissa Van Patten, (“District
Project Manager”) and the acceptance of the Work shall be documented by the District, to its sole satisfaction, in any
form deemed appropriate by the District.

9. Incorporation of Documents.  This Contract incorporates and includes as if fully set forth herein the Bid Packet, if any,
the Proposal, and the Contract Documents identified above. By executing and delivering this Contract, Contractor agrees
to perform the Work and Services described in the Bid Packet, if any, the Proposal and the Contract Documents to the
best of its ability in accordance and in compliance with the Terms and Conditions.  If any conflict arises, priority shall be
given first to the provisions of this Contract, then to the Bid Packet, if any, then to the Terms and Conditions, then to any
other Plans or Work Specifications and then to the Proposal.

10. Certification of Contracting Party. The person(s) executing and delivering this Contract (and each Contract
Document), declares and certifies, under penalty of perjury, that (i) he/she/they is/are duly authorized representative(s) of

  X 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 161

namartinez
Typewritten Text
2k

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text
ADDED 11:40 a.m. 6/3/21

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD  Page 2 
10-25-2013 

Contractor, (ii) by delivering a signed document Contractor is bound by the terms of such document, (iii) the 
information, certifications and representations provided in this Contract, including Contractor’s information specified 
below, and each of the Contract Documents is true, complete, and correct. 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED by each Party on the date(s) indicated below: 
 

GILROY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

Signature: _______________________________________ 

Title: Assistant Superintendent, Business Services  

Date: ____________________________________ 

 

DuBois Roofing Inc. 

Signature:_________________________________ 

Title: _____________________________________ 

Date: _____________________________________ 

 

FOR DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Funding Code: ______________________________ 

Funding Program: ______________________________ 

Form approved by District Legal Counsel 05/21/2012 

FOR CONTRACTOR TO COMPLETE: 

License #  ___________________________ 

State of incorporation or formation: __________________  
Type of Business Entity: 
 [___] Corporation 
 [___] Individual [___] Sole Proprietorship 
 [___] Partnership [___] Limited Partnership 
 [___] Limited Liability Company  
 [___] Other: _____________________________ 

TIN/SSN: ________________________________ 
Employer Identification Number and/or Social Security Number 
NOTE: The Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 6041 and 6209, 
require non-corporate recipients of $600.00 or more to furnish 
their taxpayer identification number (“EID” or “TIN”).  The 
regulations also provide that a penalty may be imposed for failure 
to furnish the EID or TIN.  To comply with these regulations, the 
District requires your EID, TIN or SSN, whichever is applicable.   

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

President

812304

 

 
X

 
 

 

6/2/2021

043633663

 

Page 162



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD   Page 3 
Terms and Conditions 10-25-2013  Contractor Initials:  _________ 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS TO CONTRACT 

1. Notice to Proceed.  Shall mean either a written Notice to Proceed or other authorization given by District to Contractor 
directing Contractor to proceed with the Work. 

2. Site Examination.  By submitting its quote, Contractor warrants and represents that it has made all Site examination(s) 
that it deems necessary as to the condition of the Site, its accessibility for materials, workers and utilities, and 
Contractor’s ability to protect existing surface and subsurface improvements.  By signing the Contract, Contractor also 
certifies that it accepts all measurements, specifications and conditions affecting the Work to be performed at the Site.  
No claim for allowance of time or money will be allowed as to any other undiscovered condition on the Site. 

3. Equipment and Labor.  The Contractor shall furnish all tools, equipment, apparatus, facilities, transportation, labor, 
and material necessary to furnish the services herein described, the services to be performed at such times and places as 
directed by and subject to the approval of the authorized District representative indicated in the Work specifications 
attached hereto. 

4. Safety and Security.  Contractor is responsible for maintaining safety in the performance of this Contract. Contractor 
shall be responsible to ascertain from the District the rules and regulations pertaining to safety, security, and driving on 
school grounds, particularly when children are present. 

5. Termination.  If Contractor fails to satisfactorily commence and/or complete or otherwise perform any Work or other 
Contractor duties or obligations to the satisfaction of the District, or fails to fulfill in a timely and professional manner 
Contractor’s obligations under this Contract, or violates any of the terms or provisions of this Contract, the District shall 
have the right to terminate this Contract effective immediately or as otherwise specified in the written notice, at the 
District’s discretion. District shall also have the right to terminate the Contract for its own convenience. Termination 
shall have no effect upon any of the rights and obligations of the parties arising out of any Work or Service furnished to 
or accepted by District prior to the effective date of termination.  

6. Change in Scope of Work.  Any change in the scope of the Work, method of performance, nature of materials or price 
thereof, or any other matter materially affecting the performance or nature of the Work shall not be paid for or accepted 
unless such change, addition, or deletion is approved in advance and in writing by a valid change order executed by the 
District. Contractor specifically understands, acknowledges, and agrees that the District shall have the right to request 
any alterations, deviations, reductions, or additions to the Project or Work, and the cost thereof shall be added to or 
deducted from the amount of the Contract Price by fair and reasonable valuations. Contractor also agrees to provide the 
District with all information requested to substantiate the cost of the change order and to inform the District whether the 
Work will be done by the Contractor or a subcontractor. In addition to any other information requested, Contractor shall 
submit, prior to approval of the change order, its request for a time extension (if any), as well as all information 
necessary to substantiate its belief that such change will delay the completion of the Work. If Contractor fails to submit 
its request for a time extension or the necessary supporting information, it shall be deemed to have waived its right to 
request such extension. 

7. Payment.  On a monthly basis and no later than the 15th of each month, Contractor shall submit an application for 
payment (“Application for Payment”) for materials delivered and services performed during the prior calendar month, 
together with all supporting documentation required by District. For Work anticipated to be completed within less than 
sixty (60) days, District and Contractor will agree on the materials and services that will be included in each Application 
for Payment. 

Within thirty (30) days after District’s approval of an Application for Payment, Contractor shall be paid a sum equal to 
the value of the Work satisfactorily performed up to the last day of the previous month (as verified by Architect and 
Inspector and certified by Contractor), less the aggregate of (i) previous payments, (ii) retention and (iii) any amount to 
be withheld. The District may deduct or withhold from any payment amounts necessary to protect the District from loss 
because of: (i) liquidated damages accrued as of the date of the Application for Payment; (ii) expenses incurred by the 
District in performing any of Contractor’s obligations which Contractor has failed to perform or has performed 
inadequately or unsatisfactorily, including any defective Work not remedied by Contractor; (iii) stop notices as allowed 
or required by state law; (iv) unauthorized deviations from the Contract; (v) failure of the Contractor to maintain or 
submit on a timely basis proper and sufficient documentation, as required by District, during the prosecution of the 
Work; (vi) erroneous or false charges for Work performed; (vii) any other sums which the District is entitled to recover 
from Contractor under the terms of the Contract or pursuant to state law, including section 1727 of the California Labor 
Code. The failure by the District to deduct any of these sums from a progress payment shall not constitute a waiver of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 163



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD   Page 4 
Terms and Conditions 10-25-2013  Contractor Initials:  _________ 

District’s right to such sums. The District shall retain amounts owing as retention pursuant to Public Contract Code 
sections 7107, 7200 and 7201. 

8. Trench Shoring.  If this Contract is in excess of $25,000 and is for the excavation of any trench deeper than five (5) 
feet, Contractor must submit and obtain District acceptance, in advance of excavation, of a detailed plan showing the 
design of shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the hazard of caving 
ground during the excavation of such trench or trenches. If the plan varies from the shoring system standards, the plan 
shall be prepared by a registered civil or structural engineer. 

9. Excavations Over Four Feet.  If this Contract includes excavations over four (4) feet, Contractor shall promptly, and 
before the following conditions are disturbed, notify the District, in writing, of any: (i) Material that the Contractor 
believes may be material that is hazardous waste, as defined in Section 25117 of the Health and Safety Code, that is 
required to be removed to a Class I, Class II, or Class III disposal site in accordance with provisions of existing law; (ii) 
Subsurface or latent physical conditions at the site differing from those indicated; or (iii) Unknown physical conditions at 
the site of any unusual nature, different materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as 
inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract. The District shall promptly investigate the conditions, and 
if it finds that the conditions do materially so differ, or do involve hazardous waste, and cause a decrease or increase in 
the Contractor's cost of, or the time required for, performance of any part of the Work shall issue a change order under 
the procedures described in the Contract.  

In the event that a dispute arises between the District and the Contractor whether the conditions materially differ, or 
involve hazardous waste, or cause a decrease or increase in the Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of 
any part of the work, the Contractor shall not be excused from any scheduled completion date provided for by the 
contract, but shall proceed with all Work to be performed under the contract. The Contractor shall retain any and all 
rights provided either by Contract or by law which pertain to the resolution of disputes and protests between the 
contracting parties. 

10. Lead-Based Paint. Pursuant to the Lead-Safe Schools Protection Act (Education Code Section 32240 et seq.) and other 
applicable law, no lead-based paint, lead plumbing and solders, or other potential sources of lead contamination shall be 
utilized on this Project, and only trained and state-certified contractors, inspectors and workers shall undertake any action 
to abate existing risk factors for lead. Contractor must execute the Lead-Based Paint Certification, if applicable.  

11. Work and Employee Supervision.  Contractor shall provide competent supervision of personnel employed on the job 
Site, use of equipment, and quality of workmanship. Contractor shall at all times enforce strict discipline and good order 
among its employees and the employees of its subcontractors and shall not employ or work any unfit person or anyone 
not skilled in work assigned to him or her. Any person in the employ of the Contractor or a subcontractor whom the 
District may deem incompetent or unfit shall be dismissed from the Site and shall not again be employed at Site without 
written consent from the District.  

12. Correction of Errors.  Contractor shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the 
District, any work necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Contractor’s failure to comply with 
the standard of care required herein. 

13. Substitution.  No substitutions of material from those specified in the Work Specifications shall be made without the 
prior written approval of the District. 

14. Clean Up.  Debris shall be removed from the Premises. The Site shall be in order at all times when work is not actually 
being performed and shall be maintained in a reasonably clean condition. 

15. Protection of Work and Property.  The Contractor shall erect and properly maintain at all times, as required by 
conditions and progress of the Work, all necessary safeguards, signs, barriers, lights, and security persons for protection 
of workers and the public, and shall post danger signs warning against hazards created by the Work. In an emergency 
affecting life and safety of life or of Work or of adjoining property, Contractor, without special instruction or 
authorization from District, is permitted to act at his discretion to prevent such threatened loss or injury. 

16. Occupancy; Access to Work.  District reserves the right to occupy buildings at any time before formal Contract 
completion and such occupancy shall not constitute final acceptance or approval of any part of the Work covered by this 
Contract, nor shall such occupancy extend the date specified for completion of the Work. 

District representatives shall at all time have access to the Work wherever it is in preparation or in progress. Contractor 
shall provide safe and proper facilities for such access. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 164



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD   Page 5 
Terms and Conditions 10-25-2013  Contractor Initials:  _________ 

17. District Ownership.  All data and information provided for and/or used by consultant shall be the property of and 
returned to the District at the completion of this contract. All reports or other documents generated will constitute “works 
made for hire” by or for the District and the District will be the “author” of all such reports under applicable copyright 
laws. 

18. Confidentiality.  The Contractor shall maintain the confidentiality of all information, documents, programs, procedures, 
and all other items that Contractor encounters while performing the Contractor’s Services to the extent allowed by law. 
This requirement shall be ongoing and shall survive the expiration or termination of this Contract and specifically 
includes all student, parent, and disciplinary information. 

19. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in the performance of and compliance with each of the provisions and 
conditions of this Contract. 

20. Force Majeure Clause.  The Contractor shall be excused from performance hereunder during the time and to the extent 
that it is prevented from obtaining delivery, or performing by act of God, fire, strike, loss, or shortage of transportation 
facilities, lock-out, commandeering of materials, product, plant, or facilities by the government, when satisfactory 
evidence thereof is presented to the District, provided that it is satisfactorily established that the non-performance is not 
due to the fault or neglect of the Contractor. 

21. Indemnification and Hold Harmless Clause.  To the fullest extent allowed by law, Contractor shall, at its expense, 
hold harmless, indemnify and defend District and its Board members, officers, agents, representatives and employees 
(“indemnified parties”) from any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, claims, suits and actions (“claims”) of any 
kind, nature and description, including but not limited to personal injury, death, property damage and consultants (and/or 
attorneys) fees and costs, directly or indirectly, arising or resulting from the performance of this Contract or any action or 
inaction done, permitted or suffered by Contractor in connection with this Contract, unless the claims are caused by the 
sole negligence or willful misconduct of District. The District has the right to accept or reject any legal representation 
that Contractor proposes to defend the indemnified parties. This provision shall survive the termination of this Contract. 

22. Insurance. Contractor represents that it has in force, and during the term of this Contract shall maintain in force, with no 
less than the minimum indicated limits, the following insurance: Commercial General Liability insurance: combined 
single limit for Bodily Injury, Property Damage, and Personal Injury liability of $1,000,000 per occurrence and 
$2,000,000 aggregate, with Products and Completed Operations Coverage (“All Risk Builder’s Risk” form shall be used 
if any structures are involved); Automobile Liability – Any Auto: combined single limit of $1,000,000; Workers 
Compensation: Statutory limits; and Employers’ Liability: $1,000,000. Contractor shall provide certificate(s) of 
insurance and endorsements satisfactory to the District. The policy(ies) shall not be amended, modified, cancelled or 
terminated and the coverage amounts shall not be reduced unless thirty (30) days prior written notice to the District is 
given to the District (10 days notice of termination for non-payment of premium). Except for worker’s compensation and 
employer’s liability, all other policies shall name (or be endorsed to name) the District and its Board members, officers, 
employees and agents as additional insureds. The coverage shall be primary and any coverage maintained by District 
shall be non-contributory. Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence any work under this Contract until 
the Contractor confirms and verifies that the subcontractor has met the minimum insurance requirements specified 
herein. 

23. Independent Contractor Status.  Contractor is and shall remain an independent contractor. Contractor states and 
affirms that it is acting as a free agent and independent consultant, maintains a separate business address and that this 
Contract is not exclusive. District is not liable or responsible to Contractor for any payments (other than the 
compensation), withholding income or other taxes, salaries, benefits, loss, costs, expenses, injury or damages. Contractor 
shall be responsible for filing all returns and paying any income, social security or other tax levied upon or determined 
with respect to the payments made to Contractor pursuant to this Contract. A 1099 tax form will be provided to 
Contractor for services rendered at the end of each calendar year. 

24. Warranty.  Unless a longer warranty is called for elsewhere in the Contract Documents, the Contractor, manufacturer, 
or their assigned agents shall guarantee the workmanship, product or service performed against defective workmanship, 
defects or failures of materials for a minimum period of one (1) year from filing the Notice of Completion with the 
county in which the Site is located. All workmanship and merchandise must be warranted to be in compliance with 
applicable California energy, conservation, environmental, and educational standards. 

25. Permits and licenses.  Contractor and all of its employees, agents, and subcontractors shall secure and maintain in force, 
at Contractor’s sole cost and expense, all licenses and permits as are required by law, in connection with the furnishing 
of materials, supplies, or services herein listed. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 165



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD   Page 6 
Terms and Conditions 10-25-2013  Contractor Initials:  _________ 

26. Payment Bond and Performance Bond.  The Contractor shall not commence the Work until it has provided to the 
District, in a form acceptable to the District, a Payment (Labor and Material) Bond and a Performance Bond, each in an 
amount equivalent to 100 percent of the Contract Price issued by a corporate surety admitted to issue bonds in the State 
of California and otherwise acceptable to the District.  Pursuant to Civil Code Section 3247, bonds are mandatory if the 
Contract price exceeds $25,000. If the Contract price is less, Contractor may request a waiver of this requirement, which 
may be granted or denied at District’s discretion. 

27. Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall give all notices and comply with all laws, ordinance, rules and regulations 
bearing on conduct of the Work as indicated or specified. If Contractor observes that any of the Work required by this 
Contract is at variance with any such laws, ordinance, rules or regulations, Contractor shall notify the District, in writing, 
and, at the sole option of the District, any necessary changes to the scope of the Work shall be made and this Contract 
shall be appropriately amended in writing, or this Contract shall be terminated effective upon Contractor’s receipt of a 
written termination notice from the District. If Contractor performs any work that is in violation of any laws, ordinances, 
rules or regulations, without first notifying the District of the violation, Contractor shall bear all costs arising therefrom. 

28. Subcontractors.  If Contractor shall subcontract any part of this Contract, Contractor shall be fully responsible to the 
District for acts and omissions of its subcontractor and shall comply with the Subletting and Subcontracting Fair 
Practices Act established under the Public Contract Code, commencing with Section 4100.  Contractor shall specifically 
provide the name and business address and other relevant information of each subcontractor that will perform Work, 
labor or services in connection with the Project in an amount in excess of one-half of one percent (1%) of the Contract 
price or ten thousand dollars ($10,000). Subcontractors, if any, engaged by the Contractor under this Contract shall be 
subject to the approval of the District. Contractor agrees to bind every subcontractor by the terms of the Contract as far 
as such terms are applicable including, without limitation, all indemnification, insurance, bond, and warranty 
requirements. Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relations between any 
subcontractor and the District. 

29. Labor Code Requirements.  The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of the California Labor Code, 
Division 3, Part 7, Chapter 1, Articles 1-5, including, without limitation, the payment of the general prevailing per diem 
wage rates for public work projects of more than one thousand dollars ($1,000). Copies of the prevailing rate of per diem 
wages are on file with the District. Contractor specifically acknowledges that if the District and/or its designee operates a 
labor compliance program on this Project, that the Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with all applicable 
provisions of the District’s labor compliance program. In addition, the Contractor and each subcontractor shall comply 
with Chapter 1 of Division 2, Part 7 of the California Labor Code, beginning with Section 1720, and including Section 
1735, 1777.5 and 1777.6, forbidding discrimination, and Sections 1776, 1777.5 and 1777.6 concerning the employment 
of apprentices by Contractor or subcontractors. Willful failure to comply may result in penalties, including loss of the 
right to bid on or receive public works contracts. Certified Payroll Records: Contractor and its subcontractor(s) shall 
keep accurate certified payroll records of employees and shall make them available to the District immediately upon 
request.  

30. Anti-Discrimination.  It is the policy of the District that in connection with all work performed under Contracts there be 
no discrimination against any employee engaged in the Work because of race, color, ancestry, national origin, or 
religious creed, and therefore the Contractor agrees to comply with applicable Federal and California laws including, but 
not limited to the California Fair Employment Practice Act beginning with Government Code Section 12900 and Labor 
Code Section 1735. Willful failure to comply may result in penalties, including loss of the right to bid on or receive 
public works contracts.  

31. Disabled Veterans.  Section 17076.11 of the Education Code requires school districts using funds allocated pursuant to 
the State of California School Facility Program for the construction or modernization of a school building (SFP Funds) 
to have a participation of at least 3 percent, per year, of the overall dollar amount expended each year by the school 
district, for disabled veteran business enterprises (DVBE). If this Contract uses SFP Funds, Contractor must submit, with 
its executed Contract, appropriate documentation to the District identifying the steps Contractor has taken to solicit 
DVBE participation in this Contract. 

32. Anti-Trust Claim.  Contractor and its subcontractor(s) agree to assign to the District all rights, title, and interest in and 
to all causes of action they may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Sec. 15) or under the Cartwright Act 
(Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code), arising 
from purchases of goods, services, or materials pursuant to the Contract or a subcontract. This assignment shall be made 
and become effective at the time the District tenders final payment to the Contractor, without further acknowledgment by 
the parties.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 166



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract - GUSD   Page 7 
Terms and Conditions 10-25-2013  Contractor Initials:  _________ 

33. Disputes.  In the event of a dispute between the parties as to performance of the Work, the interpretation of this Contract, 
or payment or nonpayment for work performed or not performed, the parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute by those 
procedures set forth in Public Contract Code section 20104, et seq., if applicable. Pending resolution of the dispute, 
Contractor agrees it will neither rescind the Contract nor stop the progress of the Work, but will allow determination by 
the court of the State of California, in the County of Santa Clara, having competent jurisdiction of the dispute. 

All claims of over $375,000, which are outside the scope of Public Contract Code section 20104, et seq., may be 
determined by independent arbitration if mutually agreeable, otherwise by litigation. Notice of the demand for arbitration 
of a dispute shall be filed in writing with the other party to the Contract within a reasonable time, but in no case longer 
than ninety (90) days, after initial written notice of the dispute has been provided.  

In the event of any claim, dispute, or legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Contract, the prevailing party shall 
be entitled to recover, and the other party shall pay, all reasonable fees (including attorneys fees) and expenses incurred 
in connection therewith. 

34. Governing Law.  This Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
California with venue of any action in the County of Santa Clara.  

35. Provisions Required by Law Deemed Inserted.  Each and every provision of law and clause required by law to be 
inserted in this Contract shall be deemed to be inserted herein and this Contract shall be read and enforced as though it 
were included therein. 

36. Binding Contract.  This Contract shall be binding upon the parties hereto and upon their successors and assigns, and 
shall inure to the benefit of said parties and their successors and assigns. 

37. Assignment.  Contractor shall not assign or transfer in any way any or all of its rights, burdens, duties, or obligations 
under this Contract without the prior written consent of the District. 

38. District Waiver.  District's waiver of any term, condition, covenant or waiver of a breach of any term, condition or 
covenant shall not constitute the waiver of any other term, condition or covenant or the waiver of a breach of any other 
term, condition or covenant. 

39. Invalid Term.  If any provision of this Contract is declared or determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be 
illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining parts, terms and provisions shall 
not be affected thereby, and said illegal, unenforceable or invalid part, term or provision will be deemed not to be a part 
of this Contract. 

40. Entire Contract.  This Contract, and the exhibits, certificates and documents incorporated herein by reference, set forth 
the entire Contract between the parties hereto and fully supersedes any and all prior agreements, understanding, written 
or oral, between the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter thereof. This Contract may be amended or modified 
only by a writing signed by the Parties. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 167



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA   ) 

  )   SS: 

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA )  

 

NONCOLLUSION AFFIDAVIT 

Public Contracts Code Section 7106 

TO BE EXECUTED BY CONTRACTOR AND SUBMITTED WITH CONTRACT 

      of the party making the foregoing bid or contract , that the bid or 
contract is not made in the interest of, or on behalf of, any undisclosed person, partnership, company, association, 
organization, or corporation; that the bid or contract is genuine and not collusive or sham; that the bidder or contractor has 
not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder or contractor to put in a false or sham bid, and has not directly 
or indirectly colluded, conspired, connived, or agreed with any bidder or contractor or anyone else to put in a sham bid or 
contract, or that anyone shall refrain from bidding or issuing a proposal; that the bidder or contractor has not in any manner, 
directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, communication, or conference with anyone to fix the bid price or contract price 
or to secure any advantage against the public body awarding the contract of anyone interested in the proposed contract; that 
all statements contained in the bid or contract are true; and further, that the bidder or contractor has not, directly or indirectly, 
submitted his or her bid price or contract price or any breakdown thereof, or the contents thereof, or divulged information or 
data relative thereto, or paid, and will not pay, any fee to any corporation, partnership, company, association, organization, 
bid depository, or to any member or agent thereof to effectuate a collusive or sham bid or contract. 

 I certify and declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that all the foregoing 
information in this Non-collusion Affidavit is true and correct. 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

 

(ATTACH NOTARY ACKNOWLEDGMENT FOR THE ABOVE SIGNATURE) 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

DuBois Contracting,Inc

President

6/2/2021

Mark DuBois

Mark DuBois

Page 168



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION CERTIFICATION 

Labor Code section 3700 in relevant part provides: 

Every employer except the State shall secure the payment of compensation in one or more of the following ways: 

a. By being insured against liability to pay compensation by one or more insurers duly authorized to write 
compensation insurance in this state. 

b. By securing from the Director of Industrial Relations a certificate of consent to self-insure, which may be given 
upon furnishing proof satisfactory to the Director of Industrial Relations of ability to self-insure and to pay any 
compensation that may become due to his employees. 

I am aware of the provisions of section 3700 of the Labor Code which require every employer to be insured against liability 
for workers' compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that code, and I will comply 
with such provisions before commencing the performance of the Work of this Contract. 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

(In accordance with Article 5 - commencing at section 1860, chapter 1, part 7, division 2 of the Labor Code, the above 
certificate must be signed and filed with the awarding body prior to performing any Work under this Contract.) 

 

PREVAILING WAGE AND 
RELATED LABOR REQUIREMENTS CERTIFICATION 

 
 
I hereby certify that I will conform to the State of California Public Works Contract requirements regarding prevailing wages, 
benefits, on-site audits with 48-hours notice, payroll records, and apprentice and trainee employment requirements, for all 
Work on the above Project. 
 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

6/2/2021

DuBois Contracting,Inc

DuBois Contracting,Inc

Mark DuBois

President

President

Mark DuBois

6/2/2021

Page 169



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

 
FINGERPRINTING/CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CERTIFICATION 

(NOTE:  This Certification is required in connection with all agreement for services and public work 
contracts that might allow persons other than District staff to come into contact with District students) 

The undersigned does hereby certify to the governing board of the District that I am a duly authorized representative of the 
Contractor under contract identified above (“Contract”). I further certify as follows: 

I am familiar with the facts herein certified, and am authorized and qualified to execute this certificate on behalf of 
Contractor. Contractor has taken at least one of the following actions with respect to the construction Project that is the 
subject of the Contract (check all that apply): 

____ The Contractor has complied with the fingerprinting requirements of Education Code section 45125.1 with 
respect to all Contractor's employees and all of its subcontractors’ employees who may have contact with District 
pupils in the course of providing services pursuant to the Contract, and the California Department of Justice has 
determined that none of those employees has been convicted of a felony, as that term is defined in Education Code 
section 45122.1. A complete and accurate list of Contractor's employees and of all of its subcontractors' employees 
who may come in contact with District pupils during the course and scope of the Contract is attached hereto; and/or 

____ Pursuant to Education Code section 45125.2, Contractor has installed or will install, prior to 
commencement of Work, a physical barrier at the Work Site, that will limit contact between Contractor's employees 
and District pupils at all times; and/or  

____ Pursuant to Education Code section 45125.2, Contractor certifies that all employees will be under the 
continual supervision of, and monitored by, an employee of the Contractor who the California Department of Justice 
has ascertained has not been convicted of a violent or serious felony. The name and title of the employee who will 
be supervising Contractor's employees and its subcontractors' employees is 

Name: _________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________ 

_X__ The Work on the Contract is at an unoccupied school site and no employee and/or subcontractor or supplier 

of any tier of Contract shall come in contact with the District pupils. 

Contractor’s responsibility for background clearance extends to all of its employees, Subcontractors, and employees of 
Subcontractors coming into contact with District pupils regardless of whether they are designated as employees or acting as 
independent contractors of the Contractor. 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

6/2/2021

DuBois Contracting,Inc

Mark DuBois

President

Page 170



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

 

 
DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE CERTIFICATION 

 
This Drug-Free Workplace Certification form is required from all successful bidders pursuant to the requirements 

mandated by Government Code section 8350 et seq., the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990.  The Drug-Free Workplace Act 
of 1990 requires that every person or organization awarded a contract or grant for the procurement of any property or service 
from any state agency must certify that it will provide a drug-free workplace by doing certain specified acts.  In addition, the 
Act provides that each contract or grant awarded by a state agency may be subject to suspension of payments or termination 
of the contract or grant, and the contractor or grantee may be subject to debarment from future contracting, if the contracting 
agency determines that specified acts have occurred.  

 
Pursuant to Government Code section 8355, every person or organization awarded a contract or grant from a state 

agency shall certify that it will provide a drug-free workplace by doing all of the following:  

a. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, or 
use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the person’s or organization’s workplace and specifying actions which 
will be taken against employees for violations of the prohibition; 

b. Establishing a drug-free awareness program to inform employees about all of the following: 

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace. 

(2) The person’s or organization’s policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace. 

(3) The availability of drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee-assistance programs. 

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations. 

c. Requiring that each employee engaged in the performance of the contract or grant be given a copy of the statement 
required above, and that, as a condition of employment on the contract or grant, the employee agrees to abide by the 
terms of the statement. 

 
I, the undersigned, in connection with the Contract identified by Number above, agree to fulfill the terms and 

requirements of Government Code section 8355 listed above and will publish a statement notifying employees concerning (a) 
the prohibition of controlled substance at the workplace, (b) establishing a drug-free awareness program, and (c) requiring 
that each employee engaged in the performance of the contract be given a copy of the statement required by section 8355(a), 
and requiring that the employee agree to abide by the terms of that statement.  

 
I also understand that if the District determines that I have either (a) made a false certification herein, or (b) violated this 

certification by failing to carry out the requirements of section 8355, that the Contract awarded herein is subject to 
termination, suspension of payments, or both.  I further understand that, should I violate the terms of the Drug-Free 
Workplace Act of 1990, I may be subject to debarment in accordance with the requirements of section 8350 et seq.  

 
I acknowledge that I am aware of the provisions of Government Code section 8350 et seq. and hereby certify that I will 

adhere to the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990. 
 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

6/2/2021

DuBois Contracting,Inc

President

Mark DuBois

Page 171



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

 
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS CERTIFICATION 

 
The Contract identified by number above was entered into by and between the Gilroy Unified School District (“District” or 
“Owner”) and DuBois Roofing Inc. 

1. Contractor hereby certifies that no Asbestos, or Asbestos-Containing Materials, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), or any 
material listed by the federal or state Environmental Protection Agency or federal or state health agencies as a hazardous 
material, or any other material defined as being hazardous under federal or state laws, rules, or regulations “New 
Material Hazardous”, shall be furnished, installed, or incorporated in any way into the Project or in any tools, devices, 
clothing, or equipment used to affect any portion of Contractor's work on the Project for District. 

2. Contractor further certifies that it has instructed its employees with respect to the above-mentioned standards, hazards, 
risks, and liabilities. 

3. Asbestos and/or asbestos-containing material shall be defined as all items containing but not limited to chrysotile, 
crocidolite, amosite, anthophyllite, tremolite, and actinolite.  Any or all material containing greater than one-tenth of one 
percent (.1%) asbestos shall be defined as asbestos-containing material. 

4. Any disputes involving the question of whether or not material is New Hazardous Material shall be settled by electron 
microscopy or other appropriate and recognized testing procedure, at the District’s determination.  The costs of any such 
tests shall be paid by Contractor if the material is found to be New Hazardous Material. 

5. All Work or materials found to be New Hazardous Material or Work or material installed with “New Hazardous 
Material” containing equipment will be immediately rejected and this Work will be removed at Contractor's expense at 
no additional cost to the District. 

6. Contractor has read and understood the document Hazardous Materials Procedures & Requirements, and shall comply 
with all the provisions outlined therein. 

 
 

 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

DuBois Contracting,Inc

Mark DuBois

6/2/2021

President

Page 172



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

 
LEAD-PRODUCT(S) CERTIFICATION 

 
The Contract identified by number above was entered into by and between the Gilroy Unified School District (“District” 

or “Owner”) and DuBois Roofing Inc. 

This certification provides notice to the Contractor that:  

(1) The Contractor's work may disturb lead-containing building materials. 

(2) The Contractor must notify the District if any work may result in the disturbance of lead-containing building 
materials. 

1. Lead as a Health Hazard 

Lead poisoning is recognized as a serious environmental health hazard facing children today.  Even at low levels of 
exposure, much lower than previously believed, lead can impair the development of a child's central nervous system, causing 
learning disabilities, and leading to serious behavioral problems.  Lead enters the environment as tiny lead particles and lead 
dust disburses when paint chips, chalks, peels, wears away over time, or is otherwise disturbed.  Ingestion of lead dust is the 
most common pathway of childhood poisoning; lead dust gets on a child’s hands and toys and then into a child’s mouth 
through common hand-to-mouth activity.  Exposures may result from construction or remodeling activities that disturb lead 
paint, from ordinary wear and tear of windows and doors, or from friction on other surfaces. 

Ordinary construction and renovation or repainting activities carried out without lead-safe work practices can disturb 
lead-based paint and create significant hazards.  Improper removal practices, such as dry scraping, sanding, or water blasting 
painted surfaces, are likely to generate high volumes of lead dust. 

Because the Contractor and its employees will be providing services for the District, and because the Contractor's work 
may disturb lead-containing building materials, CONTRACTOR IS HEREBY NOTIFIED of the potential presence of lead-
containing materials located within certain buildings utilized by the District.  All school buildings built prior to 1993 are 
presumed to contain some lead-based paint until sampling proves otherwise.  

2. Overview of California Law 

Education Code section 32240 et seq. is known as the Lead Safe Schools Protection Act. Under this act, the Department 
of Health Services (“DHS”) is to conduct a sample survey of schools in the State of California for the purpose of developing 
risk factors to predict lead contamination in public schools. (Ed. Code, § 3224 1.) 

Any school that undertakes any action to abate existing risk factors for lead is required to utilize trained and state-
certified contractors, inspectors, and workers. (Ed. Code, § 32243, subd. (b).)  Moreover, lead-based paint, lead plumbing, 
and solders, or other potential sources of lead contamination, shall not be utilized in the construction of any new school 
facility or the modernization or renovation of any existing school facility. (Ed. Code, § 32244.) 

Both the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“Fed/OSHA”) and the California Division of 
Occupational Safety and Health (“Cal/OSHA”) have implemented safety orders applicable to all construction work where a 
contractor's employee may be occupationally exposed to lead.  

The OSHA Regulations apply to all construction work where a contractor's employee may be occupationally exposed to 
lead.  The OSHA Regulations contain specific and detailed requirements imposed on contractors subject to that regulation.  
The OSHA Regulations define construction work as work for construction, alteration, and/or repair, including painting and 
decorating.  It includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

a. Demolition or salvage of structures where lead or materials containing lead are present; 

b. Removal or encapsulation of materials containing lead; 

c. New construction, alteration, repair, or renovation of structures, substrates, or portions thereof, that contain lead, or 
materials containing lead; 

d. Installation of products containing lead; 

e. Lead contamination/emergency cleanup; 

f. Transportation, disposal, storage, or containment of lead or materials containing lead on the site or location at which 
construction activities are performed; and 

g. Maintenance operations associated with the construction activities described in the subsection. 

Because it is assumed by the District that all painted surfaces (interior as well as exterior) within the District contain 
some level of lead, it is imperative that the contractor, its workers and subcontractors fully and adequately comply with all 
applicable laws, rules and regulations governing lead-based materials (including title 8, California Code of Regulations, 
section 1532. 1). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

Page 173



Agreement No. A2021-126 

UPCCAA Contract – GUSD  Required Certifications 
10-25-2013 

The Contractor must notify the District if any Work may result in the disturbance of lead-containing building 
materials.  Any and all Work which may result in the disturbance of lead-containing building materials must be 
coordinated through the District.  A signed copy of this Certification must be on file prior to beginning Work on the 
Project, along with all current insurance certificates. 

3. Contractor’s Liability 

If the Contractor fails to comply with any applicable laws, rules, or regulations, and that failure results in a site or worker 
contamination, the Contractor will be held solely responsible for all costs involved in any required corrective actions, and 
shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District, pursuant to the indemnification provisions of the Contract, for all 
damages and other claims arising therefrom. 

If lead disturbance is anticipated in the Work, only persons with appropriate accreditation, registrations, licenses, and 
training shall conduct this Work. 

It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to properly dispose of any and all waste products, including, but not 
limited to, paint chips, any collected residue, or any other visual material that may occur from the prepping of any painted 
surface.  It will be the responsibility of the Contractor to provide the proper disposal of any hazardous waste by a certified 
hazardous waste hauler.  This company shall be registered with the Department of Transportation (DOT) and shall be able to 
issue a current manifest number upon transporting any hazardous material from any school site within the District. 

The Contractor shall provide the District with any sample results prior to beginning Work, during the Work, and after the 
completion of the Work.  The District may request to examine, prior to the commencement of the Work, the lead training 
records of each employee of the Contractor. 

THE CONTRACTOR HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES, UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY, THAT IT HAS RECEIVED 
NOTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL LEAD-BASED MATERIALS ON THE OWNER'S PROPERTY, AS WELL AS THE 
EXISTENCE OF APPLICABLE LAWS, RULES, AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING WORK WITH, AND DISPOSAL 
OF, SUCH MATERIALS WITH WHICH IT MUST COMPLY.  THE UNDERSIGNED WARRANTS THAT HE/SHE HAS 
THE AUTHORITY TO SIGN ON BEHALF OF AND BIND THE CONTRACTOR.  THE DISTRICT MAY REQUIRE 
PROOF OF SUCH AUTHORITY. 

 

Date:           

Legal Name of Contractor:           

Signature:           

By (Print Name):           

Its (Title):           

 
 

 

 

4832-1302-8367, v.  2

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: AFC66186-BAFC-42CA-A704-1AA737906F5A

President

Mark DuBois

6/2/2021

DuBois Contracting,Inc

Page 174



 

BASE BID

Clean Roofing $130,000 BID FORM BID BOND SUB LIST SITE VISIT
NON 

COLLUSION 

Best Contracting $186,296

Legacy Roofing $121,339

DuBois Roofing $99,520

RECORDER________________________________________

GLEN VIEW KINDERGARTEN ROOFING REPAIR
BID NO. 19-20-002

BID TALLY
June 2, 2021 2:30pm

Page 175



B I D F O R M A N D P R O P O S A L 

To: Govern ing Board of Gi l roy Unif ied Scl ioo l Distr ict ("Distr ict" or "Owner") 

From: DuBois Roofing Inc ^ 
(Proper Name of Bidder) 

The unders igned dec lares that the Contract Documents , including, wi thout l imitat ion, the 
Notice to B idders and the Instruct ions to Bidders, have been read, and agrees and proposes 
to furn ish al l necessa ry labor, mater ia l s , and equ ipment to per form and furn ish al l work in 
accordance wi th the t e rms and condit ions of the Contract Documents , including, wi thout 
l imitat ion, the Drawings and Spec i f icat ions of Bid No. 2021-02 
("Work") for the fol lowing project known as: 

Glen View Elementary School Kindergarten Roof Replacement Project 

("Project") and will accept in full payment for that Work the fol lowing total lump s u m 
amount , all t a x e s included: 

Nipety-Nine Thousand Five Hundred Twentydonars $ 99,520 
BASE BID 

Bidder acknowledges and agrees that the Base Bid accounts for any and all 
Allowance(s), Total Cost for Unit Prices. 

[REi\^AINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY L E F T BLANK] 

G l L R O Y UNI PI E D S C H O O L D l S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B l D P A C K E T - C U P C C A A 
B I D FORM AND PROPOSAL - 1 

Page 176



Addit ional Detai l Regard ing Ca lcu lat ion of B a s e Bid 

1 . Unit P r i ces . The Bidder's Base Bid includes the following unit prices, which the 
Bidder must provide and the District may, at its discretion, utilize in valuing addit ive 
and/or deductive change orders (Unit Prices shall include all labor, mater ia ls , 
serv ices, profit, overhead, insurance, bonds, taxes , and all other incidental costs of 
Contractor, subcontractors, and suppl iers): 

SCHEDULE OF UNIT PR ICES 

I tem 
No. 

Description Unit of 
Measure 

Est imated 
Ouantity 

Unit Price Total Cost 
= Unit Price 
X Est imated 
Quantity 
(Inc luded in 
Base Bid) 

$ $ 

$ $ 

Where scope of Worl< is decreased, all Worl< pertaining to the item, whether 
specifically stated or not, shall be omitted, and where scope of Worl< is increased, all 
work pertaining to that item required to render same ready for use on the Project in 
accordance with intentions of the Drawings and Specif ications shall be included in the 
above agreed-upon price amount. 

2. A l l owance . The Bidder's Base Bid and each alternate shall include a ten percent 
( 1 0 % ) al lowance for unforeseen items and complying with applicable federa l . State, 
and local requirements relating to COVID-19 or other public health 
emergency/epidemic/pandemic. 

The above al lowance shall only be allocated for unforeseen i tems or COVID-19 or 
other public health emergency/epidemic/pandemic compliance relating to the Work. 
Contractor shall not bill for or be due any portion o f t h i s al lowance unless the District 
has identified specific work. Contractor has submitted a price for that work or the 
District has proposed a price for that work, the District has accepted the cost for that 
work, and the District has prepared a change order incorporating that work. 
Contractor hereby authorizes the District to execute a unilateral deductive change 
order at or near the end of the Project for all or any portion of the al lowance not 
al located. Any unused portion of the al lowance will revert back to the District 
documented by a deductive change order. 

3. The undersigned has reviewed the Work outlined in the Contract Documents and 
fully understands the scope of Work required in this Proposal, understands the 
construction and project management funct ion(s) as described in the Contract 
Documents, and that each Bidder who is awarded a contract shall be in fact a prime 
contractor, not a subcontractor, to the District, and agrees that its Proposal, if 
accepted by the District, will be the basis for the Bidder to enter into a contract with 
the District in accordance with the intent of the Contract Documents. 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
BID FORI^ AND PROPOSAL - 2 

Page 177



4. The undersigned has notified the District in writing of any discrepancies or omissions 
or of any doubt, questions, or ambiguit ies about the meaning of any of the Contract 
Documents, and has contacted the Construction IManager or other official point of 
contact for the District before Bid date to ver i fy the issuance of any clarifying 
Addenda. 

5. The undersigned agrees to commence work under this Contract on the date 
establ ished in the Contract Documents and to complete all Work within the t ime 
specified in the Contract Documents. 

6. T h e l iquidated d a m a g e s c l a u s e of the A g r e e m e n t is h e r e b y a c k n o w l e d g e d . 

7. I t is understood that the District reserves the right to reject this Bid and that the Bid 
shall remain open to acceptance and is irrevocable for a period of ninety ( 9 0 ) days. 

8. The following documents are attached with this Bid Form and Proposal: 

• Photocopy of Bid Bond on the District's form or other security \ 
• Registered Subcontractors List 
• Site Visit Certif ication 
• Non-Collusion Declaration 

9. Receipt and acceptance of the following Addenda is hereby acknowledged: 

No."^ . Dated Z-6 ''̂  No. , Dated 
1 

No. , Dated No. , Dated 

No. , Dated No. , Dated 

10. Bidder acknowledges that the l icense required for performance of the Work is a C-39, 
A or B l icense. 

1 1 . Bidder hereby certif ies that Bidder is able to furnish labor that can work in harmony 
with all other e lements of labor employed or to be employed on the Work. 

12. Bidder specifically acknowledges and understands that if it is awarded the Contract, 
that it shall perform the Work of the Project while complying with all requirements of 
the Department of Industr ia l Relations. 

13. Bidder hereby certif ies that its bid includes sufficient funds to permit Bidder to 
comply with all local, state or federal labor laws or regulations during the Project, 
including payment of prevail ing wage, and that Bidder will comply with the provisions 
of Labor Code section 2810 (d ) if awarded the Contract. 

14. Bidder represents that it is competent, knowledgeable, and has special ski l ls with 
respect to the nature, extent , and inherent conditions of the Work to be performed. 
Bidder further acknowledges that there are certain peculiar and inherent conditions 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
BID FORM AND PROPOSAL - 3 

Page 178



existent in tine construction of the Worl< that may create, during the Worl<, unusual 
or peculiar unsafe conditions hazardous to persons and property. 

15. Bidder express ly acknowledges that it is aware of such peculiar r isks and that it has 
the skill and exper ience to foresee and to adopt protective measures to adequately 
and safely perform the Work with respect to such hazards. i 

16. Bidder express ly acknowledges that it is famil iar with and capable of complying with 
applicable federal . S ta te , and local requirements relating to COVID-19 or other public 
health emergency/epidemic/pandemic including, if required, preparing, posting, and 
implementing a Social Distancing Protocol. 

17. Bidder express ly acknowledges that it is aware that if a false claim is knowingly 
submitted (as the te rms "c l a im" and "knowingly" are defined in the California False 
Cla ims Act, Gov. Code, § 12650 et seq . ) , the District will be entitled to civil remedies 
set forth in the California False Claim Act. I t may also be considered fraud and the 
Contractor may be subject to criminal prosecution. 

18. The undersigned Bidder certif ies that it is, at the t ime of bidding, and shal l be 
throughout the period of the contract, l icensed by the State of California to do the 
type of work required under the terms of the Contract Documents and registered as 
a public works contractor with the Department of Industr ia l Relations. Bidder further 
certif ies that it is regularly engaged in the general c lass and type of work called for in 
the Contract Documents. 

Furthermore, Bidder hereby certif ies to the District that all representat ions, certif ications, 
and s tatements made by Bidder, as set forth in this bid form, are true and correct and are 
made under penalty of perjury. 

Dated this day of 3'A>^. 20 ^ 

Name of Bidder D v i ^ a ' ^ 

Type of Organization Ctf'̂ f5̂ 0>'̂ 'TPn 

S ignature . 
- ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ — \

Print Name HXjaxV ^S^q^ 

Tit le C..̂ ^(^^ 

Address of Bidder "^-.MJij A/t/. fr&»^^M ^ Ck ^ ^ 5 ^ 6 

Taxpayer ' s Identif ication No. of Bidder Q'H l < . 6 l . ^ l ^ 6 \ 

Telephone Number S^^'~ "^^V ^1160 

Fax Number _ ^ i O l T A V i ^ c a 

E-E-mail <LH^r<X^*-^ Cc< £̂*isV<>orA Web page 

Contractor's License No(s): No.: ^ m > ^ H c l a s s : 3>^ Expiration Date: ̂ (lol'UnX 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
BID FORI^ AND PROPOSAL - 4 

Page 179



No.: C lass: Expirat ion Date: 

No.: C lass: Expiration Date: 

Public Works Contractor Registration No.: i OOOO ^ ( ^ 2.t 

END OF DOCUMENT 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
BID FORM AND PROPOSAL - 5 

Page 180



PPOMS 
• & A S S O C I A T E S i 

BID RESULTS 
Contractor: Dubois Roofing, Inc. Obligee: Gilroy Unified School District 
Project Name: Glen View Elementary Kindergarten Roofing Project No.: _NA 

B i d Date: 06/02/2021 *Es t . Contract Pr ice: $ 200,000 

R a n k Contractor Name B i d Amount 

• ^ ^ 1 

. ! 

• i 

• • • !• 

\

* 1 • IMPORTANT: If you anticipate your bid will be greater than 
10% of your approved bid amount, you must contact our office 
PRIOR to submitting your bid to receive re-approval from the surety. 

Page 181



B I D B O N D 

(Note : I f B idder i s provid ing a bid bond a s I ts bid s e c u r i t y . B idder m u s t u s e t h i s f o rm, 
NOT a s u r e t y c o m p a n y f o r m . ) 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY T H E S E PRESENTS : 

That the undersigned. Dubois Roofing, Inc. . a s Principal ("Pf lnc ipal"), 

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company , as 
Surety T S u r e t y " ) , a corporation organized and exist ing under and by v i r tue of the laws of the 
Sta te of California and authorized to do business a s a surety in the State of Cal i fornia, a re held 
and f i rmly bound unto the Gilroy Unified School District r o i s t r i c t " ) of San ta C lara County, 
State of Cal i fornia, as Obligee, in an amount equal to ten percent ( 1 0 % ) of the Base Bid plus 
a l ternates, in the sum of 

Ten Percent of The Total Amount Bid * 
**************̂ :̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ,̂ ^̂ ,̂ , DOllSrS ($ 10%**************** ) 

lawful money of the United S ta tes of Amer ica, for the payment of which sum well and truly to 
be made, we, and each of us, bind ourse lves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, 
and ass igns, joint ly and severa l ly , f i rmly by these presents. 

THE CONDITION OF T H I S OBLIGATION I S SUCH that whereas the Principal has submitted a bid 
to the Distr ict for al l Work specifically described in the accompanying bid for the following 
project: Q'̂ " View Elementary Kindergarten Rnnfing rP roTec t " or "Contract ' ') , | 

NOW, THEREFORE , if the Principal is awarded the Contract and, within the time and manner 
required under the Contract Documents, after the prescribed forms are presented to Principal 
for s ignature, enters into a written contract, in the prescribed form in accordance with the bid, 
and fi les two bonds, one guaranteeing faithful performance and the other guaranteeing 
payment for labor and mater ia ls a s required by law, and meets all other conditions to the 
Contract between the Principal and the Obligee becoming effect ive, or if the Principal shal l fully 
re imburse and save harmless the Obligee from any damage sustained by the Obligee through 
fai lure of the Principal to enter Into the written contract and to file the required performance 
and labor and mater ia l bonds, and to meet ail other conditions to the Contract between the 
Principal and the Obligee becoming effect ive, then this obligation shall be null and void; 
otherwise, it shal l be and remain in full force and effect. The full payment of the sum stated 
above shal l be due immediately if Principal fai ls to execute the Contract within seven ( 7 ) days 
of the date of the Distr ict 's Notice of Award to Principal. 

Surety , for va lue received, hereby st ipulates and agrees that no change, extension of t ime, 
alteration or addition to the te rms of the Contract or the call for bids, or to the work to be 
performed thereunder, or the specif ications accompanying the same, shal l in any way affect its 
obligation under this bond, and it does hereby wa ive notice of any such change, extens ion of 
t ime, alteration or addition to the te rms of the Contract or the call for bids, or to the work, or 
to the specif ications. i 

In the event suit is brought upon this bond by the Obligee and judgment is recovered, the 
Surety shall pay all costs incurred by the Obligee in such suit, including a reasonable at torneys ' 
fee to be f ixed by the Court. 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
BID BOND - 1 

Page 182



I f the Distr ict awards the bid, the secur ity of unsuccessfu l b idder(s) shal l be returned within 
s ixty ( 6 0 ) days from the t ime the award is made. Unless otherwise required by law, no bidder 
may withdraw its bid for ninety ( 9 0 ) days after the date of the bid opening. 

IN W I T N E S S WHEREOF, this instrument has been duty executed by the Principal and Sure ty 
above named, on the 21st day of May „ 20_21_. 

Dubois Roofing, Inc. 

Poms & Associates Insurance Brokers, LLC. 
Name of California Agent of Sure ty ^ . ^ 

1255 Treat Blvd., Ste 240 Walnut Creek, CA 94597 

Address of California Agent of Surety 

- (925^ 338-8400 
Telephone Number of California Agent of Surety 

Bidder m u s t a t tach P o w e r of At torney a n d Cert i f i cate of Author i ty for S u r e t y a n d a 
Notar ia l A c k n o w l e d g m e n t for al l S u r e t y ' s s i g n a t u r e s . T h e Cal i forn ia D e p a r t m e n t of 
I n s u r a n c e m u s t a u t h o r i z e the S u r e t y to be an admi t ted S u r e t y I n s u r e r . 

END OF DOCUMENT 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
B ID BOND - 2 

Page 183



CALIFORNIA ALL-PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

A Notary Public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the 
identity of the individual who signed the document to which this certificate 
is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 

State of CaKfornia } 
County of Contra Costa 

On IVIay21,2021 before me, Estelle Pilskalns, Notary Public 
Here Insert Name end Title of the Officer 

personally appeared John J . Daley 
Name(s) or Signer(s) 

ESTELLE PILSKALNS 
Notary Public - California 

Contra Costa County 
Commission ft 2294413 

My Corrm. Expires Jun 22, 2023 

Place Notary Seal Above 

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to 
be the person(4- whose name(6)- is/-«e- subscribed to the 
within instrument and acknowledged to me that 
he/che/they executed the same in his/hcr/^thek authorized 
capacity^e^, and that by his/her/their signature(^ on the 
instrument the person(s)-, Of the entity upon behalf of 
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under P E N A L T Y O F P E R J U R Y under the laws 
of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is 
true and correct. 

W I T N E S S my hand and official seal. 

Signature /^^^^'"^'^ 

OPTIONAL 
Thoughthe information below is not required by law, it may prove valuable to persons relying on the document 

and could prevent fraudulent removal and reattachment c^this form to another document 

Description of Attached Document 

Title or Type of Document Bid Bond 

Document Date: May 21 , 2021 -Number of Pages: '''wo (02) 

Slgner(s) Other Than Named Above! 

Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s) 

Signer's Name: John J . Daley 
_lndiviclual 
_GorpQrate Officer -Title(s): 

Partner _Limited _General 
)(Attorney in Fact 

Trustee 
_Guardian or Consen/ator 
Other 

Signer Is Representing: 
Tlie Otiio Casualty Insurance Company 

RIGHT THUMBPRINT 
OF SIGNER 

Top of thumb here 

Signer's Name: 
_lndividual 
_Corporate Officer —Title(s)j 
_Partner _Limited _Gene ra l 
_Attorney in Fact 
_Tnjstee 
_Guardlan or Conservator 
Other: 

Signer Is Representing: 

RIGHT THUMBPRINT 
OF SIGNER 

Top of thumb here 

©2007 National Notary Association • 9350 be Soto Ave.., P.O.ZOx 2402 'Chatswortii, CA. 81313-2402 • www.NatlonalNotary.org Item* 5907 Reorder: Call Toll-Free 1-800-676-6627 

Page 184



No. 5133-4 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE 
SAN FRANCISCO 

Amended 

Certificate of Authority 

TfflS IS TO CERTIFY, That, pursuant to the Insurance Code of the State of California, 

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company 

of New Hampshire, organized wider the laws of New Hampshire, subject to its Articles of Incorporation or 

otherfundamental organizational documents, is hereby authorized to transact within this State, subject to all 

provisions of this Certificate, the following classes of insurance: 

Fire, Marine, Surety, Plate Glass, Liability, Workers' Compensation, 

Common Carrier Liability, Boiler and Machinery, Burglary, Credit, 

Sprinkler, Automobile and Miscellaneous 

as suck classes are now or may hereafter be defined in the Insurance Laws of the State of California. 

THIS CERTIFICATE is expressly conditioned upon the holder hereof now and hereafter being in 

full compliance yvith all, and not in violation ofany, of the applicable laws and lawfid requirements made 

under authority ofthe laws of the State of California as long as such laws or requirements are in effect and 

explicable, and as such laws and requirements now are, or may hereafter be changed or amended. 

NOTICE: - ~ - r 
Qualification with the Secretary of State must be accomplished as required by the California Corporatiotis Code promptiy after 
issuance of feis Certificate of Authority. Failure to do so will be a violation of Insursnce Code section 701 and will bsgtOTEds for 
revoking this Certificate of Authority pursuant to the covenants made in the iqjplication therefor and the conditions contafaed 
herem. 

Page 185



This Power of Attorney limits the acts of those named herein, and they have no authority to 
bind the Company except in the manner and to the extent herein stated. 

L i b e r t y Liberty Mutual Insurance Company 
i V L l l t l l 3 . 1 » "^^siJ^'ty Insurance Company Certificate No: 8205138-984475 

* West American Insurance Company 
S U R E T Y 

P O W E R O F A T T O R N E Y ' 
KNOWN ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company is a corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of New Hampshire, that 
Liberty Mutual Insurance Company is a corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of Massachusetts, and West American Insurance Company is a corporation duly organized 
under the laws of the State of Indiana (herein collectively called the "Companies"), pursuant to and by authority herein set forth, does hereby name, constitute and appoint. Amy Chan, 
John J . Daley, Kennetli J . Goodwin 

all of the city of_ Walnut Creels State of CA each individually if there be more than one named, its true and lawful attorney-in-fact to make, 
execute, seal, acknowledge and deliver, for and on its behalf as surety and as its act and deed, any and all undertakings, bonds, recognizances and other surety obligations, in pursuance 
of these presents and shall be as binding upon the Companies as if they have been duly signed by the president and attested by the secretary of the Companies in their own proper 
persons. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Power of Attorney has been subscribed by an authorized officer or official of the Companies and the corporate seals of the Companies have been affixed 
thereto this 1st day of April , 2021 . 

<n 

c 

<u > 
0) 

" (0 

TO E 

o . E 

o 

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company 
The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company 
West American Insurance Company 

State of PENNSYLVANIA 
County of MONTGOMERY 

On this 1st day of April 

David M. Carey, Assistant Secretary 

2021 before me personally appeared David M. Carey, who acknowledged himself to be the Assistant Secretary of Liberty Mutual Insurance 
Company, The Ohio Casualty Company, and West American Insurance Company, and that he, as such, being authorized so to do, execute the foregoing instrument for the purposes 
therein contained by signing on behalf of the corporations by himself as a duly authorized officer. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my notarial seal at King of Prussia, Pennsylvania, on the day and year first above written. 

0) o g O 

11 

s | 

Q-O 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania - Notary Seal 

Teresa Pastella, Notary Public 
Montgomery County 

My commission expires March 28,2025 
Commission number 1126044 

By: 
Member, Pennsylvania Association of Notaries eresa Pastella, Notary Public 

This Power of Attomey is made and executed pursuant to and by authority of the following By-laws and Authorizations of The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, Liberty Mutual 
Insurance Company, and West American Insurance Company which resolutions are now in full force and effect reading as follows: 

ARTICLE IV-OFFICERS: Section 12. Power of Attorney 
Any officer or other official of ttie Corporation authorized for that purpose in writing by the Chairman or the President, and subject to such limitation as the Chairman or the 
President may prescribe, shall appoint such attorneys-in-fact, as may be necessary to act in behalf of the Corporation to make, execute, seal, acknowledge and deliver as surety 
any and all undertakings, bonds, recognizances and other surety obligations. Such attomeys-in-fact, subject to the limitations set forth in their respective powers of attorney, shall 
have full power to bind the Corporation by their signature and execution of any such instruments and to attach thereto the seal of the Corporation. When so executed, such 
instruments shall be as binding as if signed by the President and attested to by the Secretary. Any power or authority granted to any representative or attorney-in-fact under the 
provisions of this article may be revoked at any time by the Board, the Chairman, the President or by the officer or officers granting such power or authority. 

ARTICLE XIII - Execution of Contracts: Section 5. Surety Bonds and Undertakings. 
Any officer of the Company authorized for that purpose in writing by the chairman or the president, and subject to such limitations as the chairman or the president may prescribe, 
shall appoint such attorneys-in-fact, as may be necessary to act in behalf of the Company to make, execute, seal, acknowledge and deliver as surety any and all undertakings, 
bonds, recognizances and other surety obligations. Such attomeys-in-fact subject to the limitations set forth in their respective powers of attomey, shall have full power to bind the 
Company by their signature and execution of any such instruments and to attach thereto the seal of the Company. When so executed such instruments shall be as binding as if 
signed by the president and attested by the secretary. 

Certificate of Designation - The President of the Company acting pursuant to the Bylaws of the Company, authorizes David M. Carey, Assistant Secretary to appoint such attorneys-in-
fact as may be necessary to act on behalf of the Company to make, execute, seal, acknowledge and deliver as surety any and all undertakings, bonds, recognizances and other surety 
obligations. 
Authorization - By unanimous consent of the Company's Board of Directors, the Company consents that facsimile or mechanically reproduced signature of any assistant secretary of the 
Company, wherever appearing upon a certified copy of any power of attorney issued by the Company in connection with surety bonds, shall be valid and binding upon the Company with 
the same force and effect as though manually affixed. 
1, Renee C, Llewellyn, the undersigned. Assistant Secretary, The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, and West American Insurance Company do 
hereby certify that the original power of attorney of which the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Power of Attorney executed by said Companies, is in full force and effect and 
has not been revoked. 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seals of said Companies this 21st day of May 

I ' 

°^ 
| S 
OCSI Q.CO 
o<i 
" E 5 
01 = 
o <u £2 tn , ro 
J . Q. 

2021 

By: 
Renee C. Llewellyn, Assistant Secretary 

LMS-12873 LMIC O C I C W A I C Multi Co 02/21 Page 186



D E S I G N A T E D S U B C O N T R A C T O R S L I S T 
(Pub l i c Contac t Cqde S e c t i p n s 4 1 0 0 - 4 1 1 4 ) 

Bidder acknowledges and agrees that it must clearly set forth below the name, location and 
California contractor l icense number of each subcontractor who will perform work or labor or 
render serv ice to the Bidder in or about the construction of the Work or who will special ly 
fabricate and install a portion of the Work according to detailed drawings contained in the 
plans and specif ications in an amount in excess of one-half of one percent ( 0 . 5 % ) of Bidder's 
total Base Bid and the kind of Work that each will perform. Vendors or suppl iers of mater ia ls 
only do not need to be l isted. 

Bidder acknowledges and agrees that, if Bidder fails to list as to any portion of Work, or if 
Bidder l ists more than one subcontractor to perform the same portion of Work, Bidder must 
perform that portion itself or be subjected to penalty under applicable law. In case more than 
one subcontractor is named for the same kind of Work, state the portion of the kind of Work 
that each subcontractor will perform. I 

I f a lternate b id(s) is/are called for and Bidder intends to use subcontractors different from or in 
addition to those subcontractors listed for work under the Base Bid, Bidder must list 
subcontractors that will perform Work in an amount in excess of one half of one percent 
( 0 . 5 % ) of Bidder's total Base Bid plus a l te rna te(s ) . 

I f further space is required for the list of proposed subcontractors, attach additional copies of 
page 2 showing the required information, as indicated below. 

Subcont rac to r Name: 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

DIR Reaistration #: 

Portion of Work: 

Subcont rac to r Name: 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

D IR Registration #: 

Portion of Work: 

Subcont rac to r Name: 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

DIR Reaistrat ion #: 

Portion of Work: 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
DESIGNATED SUBCONTRACTORS L I S T - 1 

Page 187



Subcont rac to r Name: \ 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

D IR Registration #: 
j 

Portion of Work: 
1 

Subcont rac to r Name: 

CA Cont. Lie. # : 

i 
i 

Location: 

D IR Registration #: 

Portion of Work: 

Subcont rac to r Name: 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

D IR Registration #: 

Portion of Work: 

Subcont rac to r Name: 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

D IR Reaistrat ion #: 

Portion of Work: 

Subcont rac to r Name: 
1 

CA Cont. Lie. # : Location: 

D IR Registration #: 

Portion of Work: 

Date: 

Proper Name of Bidder: 

S ignature: 

Print Name: 

Tit le: 

END OF DOCUMENT 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
DESIGNATED SUBCONTRACTORS L I S T - 2 

Page 188



S I T E V I S I T C E R T I F I C A T I O N 
TO BE EXECUTED BY B IDDER AND SUBMITTED WITH B ID 

I F S I T E V I S I T WAS MANDATORY 

PROJECT: tt^ Bv^onWi J^y^y^ 

Check option that applies: 
V I certify that I visited the Site of the proposed Work, received the attached _ 

of information, and became fully acquainted with the conditions relating 
construction and labor. I fully understand the facil it ies, difficulties, and restrict ions 
attending the execution of the Work under contract. 

pages 
to 

I certify that (Bidder's representat ive) visited the Site 
of the proposed Work, received the attached pages of information, and became 
fully acquainted with the conditions relating to construction and labor. The Bidder's 
representat ive fully understood the facil it ies, difficulties, and restrictions attending the 
execution of the Work under contract. 

Bidder fully indemnifies the Gilroy Unified School District, its Architect, its Engineers, its 
Construction Manager, and all of their respect ive officers, agents, employees, and consultants 
from any damage, or omissions, related to conditions that could have tjeen identified during 
my visit and/or the Bidder's representat ive's vis it to the Site. 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
is true and correct. 

Date: 

Proper Name of Bidder: 

Signature: 

Print Name: 

Tit le: 

OO/o \/zor\ 

0 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
S I T E V I S I T CERT IF ICAT ION - 1 

Page 189



ATTACHMENTS: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

END OF DOCUMENT 

i 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
S I T E V I S I T CERTIF ICAT ION - 2 

Page 190



N O N - C O L L U S I O N D E C L A R A T I O N 
To B e E x e c u t e d By B i d d e r A n d S u b m i t t e d W i t h Bid 

Pub l i c C o n t r a c t C o d e S e c t i o n 7 1 0 6 

The undersigned declares: , 

I ann the' ' '" '^ of , the party cnaking the foregoing Bid. 

The Bid is not made in the interest of, or on behalf of, any undisclosed person, partnership, 
company, associat ion, organization, or corporation. The Bid is genuine and not collusive or 
sham. The Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to put 
in a false or sham Bid. The Bidder has not directly or indirectly colluded, conspired, 
connived, or agreed with any Bidder or anyone else to put in a sham Bid, or to refrain from 
bidding. The Bidder has not in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, 
communicat ion, or conference with anyone to f ix the Bid price of the Bidder or any other 
Bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, or cost e lement of the Bid price, or of that of any 
other Bidder. All s ta tements contained in the Bid are true. The Bidder has not, directly or 
indirectly, submitted his or her Bid price or any breakdown thereof, or the contents thereof, 
or divulged information or data relat ive thereto, to any corporation, partnership, company, 
associat ion, organization, bid depository, or to any member or agent thereof, to effectuate a 
collusive or sham Bid, and has not paid, and will not pay, any person or entity for such 
purpose. 

Any person executing this declaration on behalf of a Bidder that is a corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or any 
other entity, hereby represents that he or she has full power to execute, and does execute, 
this declaration on behalf of the Bidder. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the Sta te of California that the 
foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration is executed on ^ [da te ] , at 

•^W^o^^Ecity], C^[sta te] . 

Date: 

Proper Name of Bidder: 

S ignature: 

Print Name: 

Tit le: 

END OF DOCUMENT 

G I L R O Y U N I F I E D S C H O O L D I S T R I C T I N F O R M A L B I D P A C K E T - CUPCCAA 
NON-COLLUSION DECLARATION 

Page 191



Page 192

namartinez
Typewritten Text
3b



Page 193



Page 194

namartinez
Typewritten Text
3c



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200

namartinez
Typewritten Text
3d



Page 201

namartinez
Typewritten Text
3e



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206

namartinez
Typewritten Text

namartinez
Typewritten Text
3f



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214


	1a. FSC minutes from 5.7.21 
	2A. TMP Proposal for GHS
	2B. Belson Outdoors - furniture Quote WQ 287064
	2C. Kent Construction Contract
	2D. SVMS Modernization Project Construction Services Agreement
	2E. S_M Movers SVMS_LS02-428
	2F. S_M Supply quote
	2G.  Status of Head Start buildings
	2H. P49-GUSD-SVMS-I_J-AQM
	2I. South Valley Middle School - Phase I Demolition, Work Order (1)
	2J. WTI Quote for Roofing Materials
	2K. Glen View Kinder roof repair 
	3B. Key machine
	3C. Rucker canopy
	3D. DO ANNEX Superior Alarm
	3E. Eliot ES windows
	3F. Eliot exterior stucco cracks



